# Report on the Budget 2010 Consultations

Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services





#### National Library of Canada Cataloguing in Publication Data

British Columbia. Legislative Assembly. Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services.

Report on the ... budget consultation process — 2003-

#### Annual.

At head of title: Legislative Assembly of British Columbia.

Title varies: 2007- , Report on the budget ... consultations.

Previously published as monograph under title: Budget 2002 consultation process.

ISSN 1712-5057 = Report on the ... budget consultation process

1. Finance, Public - British Columbia - Public opinion - Periodicals. 2. Fiscal policy - British Columbia - Public opinion - Periodicals. 3. Budget - British Columbia - Public opinion - Periodicals. 4. Public opinion - British Columbia - Periodicals. I. Title. II. Title: Report on the budget ... consultations.

HJ2056.5.B7B74

336.711′05

C2002-960250-5

Office of the Clerk of Committees
SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE ON FINANCE AND GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Location:

Room 224, Parliament Buildings Victoria, British Columbia V8V 1X4

Telephone: (250) 356-2933 Toll free at: 1-877-428-8337

Fax: (250) 356-8172

Email: FinanceCommittee@leg.bc.ca

Internet Homepage:

This report and others are available at our Internet Homepage which also contains further information about this and other Select Standing and Special Committees: http://www.leg.bc.ca/cmt



November 13, 2009

To the Honourable Legislative Assembly of the Province of British Columbia

Honourable Members:

I have the honour to present herewith the First Report of the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services.

The Report covers the work of the Committee on the Budget 2010 public consultations.

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Committee,

John Les, MLA Chair

# **Table of Contents**

| Composition of the Committee  |          |
|---|----------|
| Terms of Reference  | i        |
| Acknowledgements  | ii       |
| Executive Summary   | iv       |
| Budget 2010 Consultation Process  The Budget 2010 Consultation Paper.  Consultation Methods  Schedule of Meetings.    |          |
| British Columbians' Views on Education and Health Services  Post-Secondary Education  K-12 Education  Health Services | 12       |
| British Columbians' Other Priority Programs  Arts Funding  Sports Programs  Early Intervention Services               | 24       |
| The Public's Ideas on Revenue Generation  | 28       |
| British Columbians' Views on Tax Priorities   | 36<br>39 |
| British Columbians' Feedback on Deficits  | 47       |
| Summary of Recommendations  | 50       |
| Appendix A: Public Hearings Witness List  | 55       |
| Appendix B: Written Submissions   |          |
| Appendix C: On-line Survey Responses  |          |

# Composition of the Committee

## **Members**

John Les, MLA Chair Chilliwack

Doug Donaldson, MLA Deputy Chair Stikine

Norm Letnick, MLA Kelowna – Lake Country

Don McRae, MLA Comox Valley

Michelle Mungall, MLA Nelson – Creston

Bruce Ralston, MLA Surrey – Whalley

Bill Routley, MLA Cowichan Valley

John Rustad, MLA Nechako Lakes

Jane Thornthwaite, MLA North Vancouver – Seymour

John van Dongen, MLA Abbotsford South

## Clerk to the Committee

Kate Ryan-Lloyd, Clerk Assistant and Committee Clerk

# Research Staff

Josie Schofield, Manager, Committee Research Services

Jonathan Fershau, Committee Research Analyst

Kathryn Butler, Committee Researcher

# Terms of Reference

On September 14, 2009, the Legislative Assembly agreed that the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services be empowered:

- 1. To examine, inquire into and make recommendations with respect to the budget consultation paper prepared by the Minister of Finance in accordance with section 2 of the *Budget Transparency and Accountability Act* and, in particular, to:
  - a. Conduct public consultations across British Columbia on proposals and recommendations regarding the provincial budget and fiscal policy for the coming fiscal year by any means the committee considers appropriate, including but not limited to public meetings, telephone and electronic means;
  - b. Prepare a report no later than November 15, 2009 on the results of those consultations.

In addition to the powers previously conferred upon the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services, the committee shall be empowered:

- a. to appoint of their number, one or more subcommittees and to refer to such subcommittees any of the matters referred to the Committee;
- b. to sit during a period in which the House is adjourned, during the recess after prorogation until the next following Session and during any sitting of the House;
- c. to adjourn from place to place as may be convenient; and
- d. to retain personnel as required to assist the Committee,

and shall report to the House as soon as possible, or following any adjournment, or at the next following Session, as the case may be; to deposit the original of its reports with the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly during a period of adjournment and upon resumption of the sittings of the House, the Chair shall present all reports to the Legislative Assembly.

# Acknowledgements

The Finance Committee wishes to thank the thousands of British Columbians who participated in the Budget 2010 Consultation and acknowledge the significant contribution they made to our process. Their ideas and suggestions played a vital role in shaping our response to the Minister of Finance's budget consultation paper.

The Committee would also like to thank Assembly staff in the Office of the Clerk of Committees, Computer Systems, and Hansard Services for all their hard work. In our view, staff has done an amazing job, especially with the short timelines faced this year.

# **Executive Summary**

On September 14, 2009, the Legislative Assembly approved a motion instructing the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services (the Finance Committee / the Committee) to conduct public consultations across British Columbia on the *Budget 2010 Consultation Paper*. The terms of reference specified that the Committee was to receive proposals and recommendations regarding the provincial budget and fiscal policy for the coming fiscal year and make public its report no later than November 15, 2009.

In carrying out its mandate, the Committee announced on September 23, 2009 that it would initially hold public hearings across British Columbia, including Vancouver, Victoria, Smithers, Prince George, Kamloops, Kelowna and Surrey. Given this year's compressed consultation schedule, we also conducted an innovative video conference pilot project on October 9 – allowing participants in Courtenay, Cranbrook and Dawson Creek to make oral presentations to the Committee. Given the success of this project, we announced three additional video conference sessions on October 13 for presenters in Nanaimo, Nelson, and Prince Rupert.

During the public consultation period (September 23 to October 23), the Finance Committee received close to 3,500 submissions: 145 oral presentations, 1,546 written submissions, and 1,787 on-line survey forms.

In response to this year's budget consultation paper, the report includes 28 recommendations that reflect the public's budget priorities: education and health services, as well as funding for the arts, sports, and early intervention services for children with special needs.

The Committee suggests that to pay for core services such as health and education, continued investment in B.C.'s primary industries – agriculture, mining and forestry – is required. The report makes eight recommendations concerning how to promote economic growth.

While support for the HST from the business community and others was strong, many participants disagreed with the implementation of the HST. The report acknowledges that certain sectors of the economy will require implementation mitigation strategies. The majority of the Committee voted for eight recommendations to address issues relating to the implementation of the HST, while the remainder of the Committee felt that the HST should be abandoned. Also included in this report are recommendations with respect to the property transfer tax and the tax assessment of industrial and agricultural lands.

The final recommendation urges the government to return to a budget surplus by 2012/13, or sooner, if possible.

# **Budget 2010 Consultation Process**

On September 14, 2009, the Legislative Assembly approved a motion instructing the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services to examine, inquire into and make recommendations with respect to the budget consultation paper prepared by the Minister of Finance in accordance with section 2 of the *Budget Transparency and Accountability Act*. The Committee was empowered to conduct public consultations across British Columbia on proposals and recommendations regarding the provincial budget and fiscal policy for the coming fiscal year and required to produce its report on those consultations by November 15, 2009.

# The Budget 2010 Consultation Paper

On September 15, 2009, the Minister of Finance, Hon. Colin Hansen, released the *September Budget Update 2009* and the budget consultation paper. Entitled *Building a Stronger British Columbia*, this year's paper outlines the government's fiscal priorities and five-year fiscal plan. It also contained four questions designed to seek public input on the development of B.C.'s next provincial budget.

#### **Fiscal Priorities**

The budget consultation paper highlighted some of the recent actions taken by government actions to stimulate the economy. These initiatives include:

- Introducing a harmonized sales tax (HST);
- Increasing the basic personal income tax credit to \$11,000; and
- Raising the small business income tax threshold to \$500,000 from \$400,000.

Against the backdrop of dramatic reductions in projected revenues from corporate and personal income taxes, as well as declining revenues from natural resources, the budget consultation paper also highlighted areas of continued government investment. These areas include construction of public infrastructure; increased funding for the Ministry of Health Services; maintenance of funding for the K-12 education system; and additional resources to meet the greater demand for income assistance.

#### Five-year Fiscal Plan

The budget consultation paper also provided British Columbians with an overview of B.C's five-year fiscal plan. The plan anticipates a projected decline in revenue of 1.9 percent in 2009/10, with future revenue growth projected out to 2013/14; a projected 4.9 percent increase in expenses for 2009/10; a cumulative deficit of \$2.525 billion before a forecast allowance of \$250 million in 2009/10; and a plan to return to surpluses by 2012/13.

## **Budget Consultation Questions**

This year, the budget consultation paper asked the public to respond to four questions. Question 1 was a broad question requesting that British Columbians identify what was most important to them personally. The second question asked people to indicate whether the government should continue to protect core services such as health and education, and if so, how the government should increase revenues to pay for these services. The two other questions focused on whether the government should continue to reduce taxes, and how government should control deficits during difficult economic times.

#### Consultation Methods

The budget consultation process was shortened by two weeks to accommodate the Legislative Assembly's fall sitting schedule following the provincial general election. During this compressed consultation period (September 23 to October 23), the Committee continued its tradition of adopting innovative technologies to enhance opportunities for public input. In addition to conducting public hearings, receiving written submissions, and receiving on-line survey responses, the Finance Committee also received submissions by conducting six pilot video conference sessions and accepting audio and video digital files.

#### **Oral Presentations**

Between September 28 and October 16, 2009, the Committee held seven traditional public hearings in various communities. To provide greater opportunities for public participation, the Committee also scheduled two public hearings via video conferencing to hear presentations from witnesses in the communities of Courtenay, Cranbrook and Dawson Creek (October 9); followed by presentations from the communities of Nanaimo, Nelson and Prince Rupert (October 21).

The Committee announced the locations of the initial series of public hearings by issuing a media release posted on our website on September 23, 2009 and by placing newspaper advertisements in regional newspapers. A press release was also issued by the Committee on October 13 announcing the locations of the second series of video conference sessions. All public hearing dates and locations are listed in the schedule of meetings on page 3.

The Finance Committee heard 145 oral presentations. The arts community, school boards, post-secondary institutions, community-based social services and industry associations were all well represented in this year's hearings. All the witnesses who participated in the public hearings are listed in Appendix A.

# Written Submissions

This year, 1,546 written submissions were received by mail, fax, e-mail, and for the first time, video. As is the practice of the Committee, advertisements announcing the call for written submissions were placed in community papers across the province. A complete list of written submissions received from individuals and organizations is provided in Appendix B.

# **On-line Survey Forms**

The public also had the opportunity to respond electronically to the four specific questions contained in the *Budget 2010 Consultation Paper*. In total, the Committee received and reviewed 1,787 on-line survey forms, including responses from some 85 organizations. Survey responses are listed in Appendix C.

# Schedule of Meetings

| September 16, 2009 | Organizational meeting  | Victoria      |
|--------------------|---|---------------|
| September 23, 2009 | Planning meeting  | Victoria      |
| September 28, 2009 | Public hearing  | Vancouver     |
| October 7, 2009    | Public hearing  | Victoria      |
| October 9, 2009    | Video conferencing hearing<br>Courtenay, Cranbrook and Dawson Creek | Victoria      |
| October 14, 2009   | Public hearing  | Smithers      |
| October 14, 2009   | Public hearing  | Prince George |
| October 15, 2009   | Public hearing  | Kamloops      |
| October 15, 2009   | Public hearing  | Kelowna       |
| October 16, 2009   | Public hearing  | Surrey        |
| October 21, 2009   | Video conferencing hearing<br>Nanaimo, Nelson and Prince Rupert     | Victoria      |
| October 28, 2009   | Deliberations   | Victoria      |
| November 4, 2009   | Deliberations   | Victoria      |
| November 6, 2009   | Deliberations and<br>Adoption of the Report                         | Victoria      |

# British Columbians' Views on Education and Health Services

#### Question 1: What's most important to you?

In reviewing the submissions received by the Finance Committee, it is clear that the core services of education and health are the top budget priorities of British Columbians.

First, the Committee will review what we heard concerning the public's requests with respect to both post-secondary and K-12 education. We will examine the submissions made by universities, colleges, faculty associations and students concerning their ideas for post-secondary education. Next, the Committee examines what we heard from teachers, school trustees and parents concerning the K-12 education system. We then turn our attention to arguably the most important of the public's priorities: the delivery and funding of health services and health promotion.

The Finance Committee also reviews and makes recommendations on three additional priority areas identified during this year's budget consultation. We heard and read vigorous defences of continued funding for the arts, and for sport programs. In addition, while acknowledging investments made in early childhood interventions, the Committee believes that both an efficiency review of services provided and increased funding in this area is warranted.

# Post-Secondary Education

Student unions, faculty associations and senior administrators of the province's colleges and universities were again well represented at the public hearings. Oral presentations and written submissions from these groups placed an emphasis on maintaining and augmenting operating budgets to service significant increases in demand for programs, as well as for the restoration of the Annual Capital Allowance funding. We also heard a concern about how the requirement to adopt the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles was preventing some universities from undertaking innovative financing in support of facilities expansion.

Student requests focused on improved access to education – including reduced interest rates on student loans, grant programs and lower tuition. We also heard calls for increased investment in labour market development, particularly a call to examine options for developing an engineering program to service the needs of B.C.'s northern communities, and for the government to assist in expanding apprenticeship training opportunities for students.

Students unions in areas well served by TransLink or BC Transit also requested the government to expand public transit and introduce universal bus passes.

## University budgets

While acknowledging the government's commitment to maintain post-secondary funding for the upcoming fiscal year, the province's four research universities all cited the need to continue to invest in innovation. We also received a submission from the Confederation of Faculty Associations calling on the government to examine the feasibility of basing future funding decisions on the Higher Education Price Index. The index, referred to in the Campus 2020 report, measures the average relative level in the prices of a fixed market basket of goods and services purchased by post-secondary institutions each year, such as professional salaries, transportation and library acquisitions. It is related to, but distinct from, the Consumer Price Index, which is based on the costs of products that the average consumer would purchase. Below are some of the remarks made this year concerning university budgets:

"The government's maintenance of operating funding levels for post-secondary institutions reflects the growing consensus that an economic reset requires governments to make investments that support research and science – investments in innovation." (Blair Littler, The Research Universities' Council of British Columbia, Written submission 552)

"Historically, the costs of goods and services necessary for the functioning of universities have risen more quickly than the general costs of consumer goods and services. For example, in 2009 the budget document projects that consumer goods in B.C. will rise by 0.6 percent. The higher education price index, which is published out of the United States, is projected to rise by 2.3 percent over the same period. So if the current dollar value of operating grants to institutions remains flat, this actually means institutions have to cut operating expenses." (Robert Clift, Confederation of University Faculty Associations of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

We also heard a specific request from Thompson Rivers University (TRU) to make a greater investment in distance and on-line learning offered through TRU Open Learning. Since being amalgamated with BC Open University, Thompson Rivers University has seen annual enrolment increases of 20 percent per year. As a result, TRU Open Learning will meet or exceed its ministry-funded full-time enrollment (FTEs) targets, and will be exceeding capacity. TRU requested additional funding to support its delivery of on-line and distance education:

"Given Open Learning's on-going success, we request that the government revisit its 2007 suggestion that additional funding may be made available to Open Learning in return for increased FTE capacity. Funding an additional 600 FTEs above the ministry target would increase Open Learning's capacity to meet the growing needs of our constituents and position the province to be a national and international leader in open, distance and on-line learning." (Karl de Bruijn, Thompson Rivers University, Kamloops public hearing)

#### College funding

The Finance Committee also heard from colleges in B.C.'s smaller communities who relayed concerns about a perceived growing inequity in the funding model, as it was particularly unfavorable to colleges located outside of the greater Vancouver area. Some witnesses suggested that the smaller classes offered in colleges in smaller communities – while fully-subscribed – required the same capital equipment and teaching resources of similar courses attracting hundreds of students in the lower mainland. Other presentations emphasized that strong program demand was resulting in waitlists in the critical areas of health sciences and trades, including welding, carpentry, electrical and heavy duty mechanics. The College of New Caledonia in Prince George also requested that government review its cap on tuition fees, suggesting that some remote colleges are at a comparative disadvantage as their tuition fees were locked in at a below market rate. Here is a sample of what the Finance Committee heard on this topic:

"Provincial funding has not kept pace with the demands that we know are there for our programs, and it has not addressed the gap that exists in the funding of rural versus urban post-secondary institutions. I might as well get bold here and suggest that the committee might want to recommend bringing all the stakeholders together to revise and renew the allocation formulas." (Bob Wakulich, College of the Rockies Faculty Association, Cranbrook video conference session)

"We would like to recommend that a review of the provincial government's tuition limit policy be completed by March 1, 2010, in order that it may allow for greater equity across the province among and within types of institutions and by program types. Some of our sister colleges can charge as much as 25 or 30 percent more for a given course or program than we are able to charge. We're not proposing increases to that level, but we think a more rational policy is required." (John Bowman, College of New Caledonia, Prince George public hearing)

#### Post-secondary capital funding

Post-secondary institutions appearing before the Committee made two requests with respect to access to capital funding. B.C.'s colleges sought a restoration of the annual capital allowance, while Thompson Rivers University appealed for the government to re-examine the capital financing rules as provided under the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

#### Annual capital allowance

Requests made by B.C.'s colleges called on the government to reinstate the annual capital allowance. Several institutions noted the need to upgrade equipment to ensure student training, and re-training, for tomorrow's jobs. Others, such as Northwest Community College, explained that capital funding can save administrative costs and promote innovation in teaching through the delivery of an on-line curriculum. Here is a sample of what we heard:

"Students in some of our programs are learning with aging equipment and technology, which makes providing a skilled, job-ready workforce challenging. Not being able to upgrade capital equipment and purchase new technology threatens the ongoing viability of some of our programs. These are the programs where we are experiencing high demand: trades, health and science." (Martin Petter, North Island College, Courtenay video conference session)

"The tendency in tough economic times is to cut capital and equipment funding. While this may be considered discretionary, it is critical that we properly equip our learners with the technology or equipment used by industry. Many of our students are learning with outdated equipment and technology, which makes providing a skilled, job-ready workforce challenging." (Jim Reed, B.C. College Presidents, Surrey public hearing)

"In the past year, we have collaborated on various innovative cost savings to reduce costs and improve efficiency within our college. For example, we've implemented video conferencing to a higher degree. This has resulted in a significant savings in travel, and it's utilized for interviews, administrative meetings and, most importantly, instructional programs." (Cathay Sousa, Northwest Community College, Prince Rupert video conference session)

#### Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

One presentation on capital funding that caught our attention was that of Thompson Rivers University. The university, which has a track record of success for financing major capital projects, explained how its efforts to finance new residences, construct a facility for its law school and expand its TRU World operations are being thwarted by the government's rules on debt financing. The university asked the government to reexamine these rules to allow growing institutions, such as TRU, to access necessary capital funds. The university expressed its concern in the following manner:

"GAAP does not provide us with the institutional flexibility that we had previously had to go out and get our own institutional debt rating and to enter into financing agreements. Essentially, we are in a position right now where we cannot go out and build buildings. We've built over \$100 million worth of buildings in the last 15 years without any government support, and that tool has been taken away from us. We think we can help the province out by undertaking the initiatives in our business plan on our own." (Roger Barnsley, Thompson Rivers University, Kamloops public hearing)

#### Post-secondary access

Led by the Canadian Federation of Students, students' unions from across the province echoed the institutions' calls for increased operating funding for B.C's colleges and universities. However, the primary theme of the students' presentations addressed post-secondary accessibility issues: namely, student loan reform, grant programs and lower tuition fees.

#### Student loans

The Committee received submissions calling on the government to lower the interest rates charged on B.C. student loans. It was suggested by some of the witnesses that the interest rates charged on B.C. student loans was resulting in graduating students taking longer to work their way out of debt. Here's what they had to say:

"Following graduation, student loan borrowers pay interest on their public student loans at a rate of prime plus 2.5 percent, a rate substantially above the government's cost of borrowing, of prime minus one percent. The Federation recommends the government immediately eliminate the interest charged on provincial student loans. The annual impact of such a move would be negligible on the provincial treasury." (Shamus Reid, Canadian Federation of Students – B.C. Branch, Victoria public hearing)

"Students with high debt levels upon graduation pay more for their education through higher interest rates than those who borrow less or nothing at all in order to get the same education. A system in which low- and middle-income students are expected to pay more for the same education as those who can afford to pay for it up front is fundamentally inequitable." (Steve Beasley, Vancouver Island University Students Union, Courtenay video conference session)

The B.C. Branch of the Canadian Bar Association again called for special consideration to be provided for articling students with respect to the repayment of student loans. It proposed that the period while a student articles be considered full-time study. This would result in student loans staying in the no-payment, interest-free status for the entire 12 months of articles and then converting to no-payment, interest-accruing status for the following six-months, as opposed to commencing the moment classroom studies cease.

#### Student grants

Student unions, as well as the Federation of Post-Secondary Educators, reiterated their requests from previous years for the government to put in place an up-front student grants program. A sample of these remarks is provided below:

"Given the situation we face today, we recommend re-instating the upfront grant system to mirror the federal government's new grant program." (James Bowen and Jaden Keitlah, North Island Students' Union, Courtenay video conference session)

"We ask government to restore a system of student grants to ensure that post-secondary education is both affordable and accessible to all families, regardless of their income." (Cindy Oliver, Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of B.C., Vancouver public hearing)

## Tuition fees

8

The third component of the student unions' proposal for enhancing access to post-secondary education was for the government to reduce tuition fees. It was suggested that reducing tuition fees would go a long way to reduce the debt loads faced by many graduating students. Here is a sample of comments we received:

"The combined impact of high tuition fees and high student debt and declining per-student funding should be of major concern to this government, especially given the economic and social benefits for providing broad access to post-secondary education. The contributions of a well-educated and skilled workforce far outweigh any obstacles of providing universal access to post-secondary institutions across the province." (Veronica Harrison, University of Victoria Students' Society, Victoria public hearing)

"The substantial increase tuition fees (since 2004) means the difference between a student completing their studies or dropping out; it means the difference between a laid-off forestry worker getting the necessary retraining or not; and it means the difference between the success or failure of our province's economic future." (Natalie Reisle, Thompson Rivers University Students' Union, Written submission 164)

# Labour market development

The Committee received submissions calling for enhanced investments in what we consider labour market development. First, we heard of a need for government to work with stakeholders in northern British Columbia to develop an engineering program, based out of the University of Northern British Columbia, which meets the needs of the region. Second, labour, industry and colleges all appeared before the Committee calling for increased support for apprenticeship training opportunities.

#### **UNBC** Engineering program

While in Prince George, the Committee learned of efforts to develop an engineering program for northern British Columbia. With a preliminary focus on civil and mechanical engineering, the school would involve collaboration between the University of Northern British Columbia and the various northern colleges. Such a program is seen as a necessity to ensure that northern B.C. trains and retains skilled professionals necessary for economic diversification. The suggestion, made by Initiatives Prince George is as follows:

"Northern British Columbians know full well that if we train in the north, we retain in the north. Our community has done its homework and demonstrated that there is demand for civil and mechanical engineering disciplines. We encourage you to make engineering 'in and for' Northern British Columbia a top priority." (Tim McEwan, Initiatives Prince George, Prince George public hearing)

#### Trades training

A clear message from B.C. colleges, unions and industry was for the government to continue investment in trades training. Colleges approached the Committee requesting additional resources to cover administrative and support costs associated with delivering trades-training programs. Unions, while generally supportive of the colleges' curriculum-based education, expressed concerns about a lack of apprenticeship positions available in industry, particularly when employers are looking to reduce expenses and staff. Likewise, some sectors, such as the British Columbia Construction Association, looked to the Committee to recommend strengthening industry-lead training programs

with additional resources to meet and enhance the management of training programs. Here is a sample of the requests we heard:

"More and more post-secondary institutions are forced to cover the administrative cost of trades programs, costs such as those related to counseling and curriculum development that had previously been covered by Industry Training Authority's predecessor, the Industry Training and Apprenticeship Commission. In other words, although the ITA has returned to the Ministry of Advanced Education, trades training still faces funding challenges." (Joel Murray, Kwantlen Faculty Association, Surrey public hearing)

"Financing trades programs in our college system is important, but if students are not indentured into an apprenticeship program by an employer, then the investments won't bring the required results. We recommend that a strategy be developed between the Industry Training Authority, union, industry and government to enhance apprentice opportunities that will benefit both present workers and those completing their pre-apprenticeship through the college system." (Frank Everitt, Steelworkers, Local 1-424, Written submission 158)

"The British Columbia Construction Association also recommends that the Construction Industry Training Organization receive strong funding support to enable its success in managing apprenticeship training for the construction trades." (Manley McLachlan, British Columbia Construction Association, Surrey public hearing)

At our public hearing in Smithers, we also heard of a proposal to provide trades training in the region using a trailer to transport portable facilities that would enhance the learning opportunities available in remote communities in the northwest:

"We have a proposal for transformable trades training facilities for four communities in our district. This proposal had the support of 13 First Nations bands, five municipal councils, our regional district, the College of New Caledonia and our school district. We now ask you to reconsider our proposal for educational infrastructure that will provide the people of our communities with training and skills so that they can contribute to the future economic success of our region." (John Stafford, Board of Education, School District No. 91 (Nechako Lakes), Smithers public hearing)

#### **Universal Transit Pass**

Noting the environmental benefits of increased transit usage, student unions from the province's metropolitan centres encouraged the government to work with TransLink and BC Transit to introduce affordable, universal transit passes for all universities and colleges requesting such a program. In addition, students called on the government to make additional investments in transit services, particularly in late-night transit services and in express bus routes servicing university campuses. Provided below are a few of the comments we heard:

"The One Pass Now campaign is calling for a \$25-per-month U-pass for all Metro Vancouver students. The facts are simple. For the past five years students at SFU and UBC have been paying about \$25 a month for their transit because they're included in the U-pass program. Meanwhile, over 20,000 students have been excluded from the U-pass program and have been paying \$73 a month, which we're aware is also now going up to \$81 per month." (Lori MacDonald, Emily Carr Students' Union / One Pass Now, Surrey public hearing)

"Lifelong transit ridership is a learned behavior which is only possible with an adequately funded system, citizen engagement in transit governance, and an equitable U-Pass program for all B.C. students." (Timothy Chu, Alma Mater Society of UBC Vancouver, Surrey public hearing)

## Post-secondary education recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 1. Assist colleges and universities in their efforts to expand their distance/on-line curriculum offerings.
- 2. Investigate the merits of, and issues related to, using the Higher Education Price Index (HEPI) model, versus the Consumer Price Index, in regard to post-secondary funding allocation adjustments.
- 3. Examine the unintended consequences of the application of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to universities and colleges, as it currently appears to hinder their ability to access outside capital, in particular for programs and infrastructure not typically funded by government.
- 4. Examine reducing the interest rate charged by StudentAid BC on student loans.
- 5. Consider extending the no-payment, interest-free period on B.C. student loans.
- 6. Examine the feasibility of establishing an engineering program at UNBC appropriate for the North.
- 7. Work with industry, unions, colleges and universities to expand and enhance apprenticeship opportunities.
- 8. Work with TransLink, B.C. Transit and post-secondary institutions to develop a U-pass program where feasible.

#### K-12 Education

British Columbians made many requests to protect and strengthen the K-12 education system. We heard from numerous boards of education, teachers, support staff, and parents urging the government to continue to make education a top priority for government action. Among the suggestions we heard were requests for changing the provincial funding formula; calls to review the administrative and reporting requirements at both district and ministry levels; appeals to reinstate the annual facilities grant; as well as requests for assurances from government that the announced move to full-day kindergarten will be fully funded by the province.

## **Funding formula**

Many of the oral and written submissions made to the Committee stressed that the government needs to reexamine the funding formula. School districts expressed concerns about a growing number of additional expenses not fully covered within the existing funding envelope. Such costs ranged from wage settlements and increases to MSP premiums, to carbon tax and carbon offset commitments. The concerns are epitomized in the comments made by the Prince George Board of Education:

"The government needs to provide a funding formula over a three-year cycle that is predictable, sustainable and meets the growing educational needs of our students, our schools and our communities. Investment in education today is an investment in the future. It must be the government's top priority." (Sharel Warrington, Board of Education, School District No. 57 (Prince George), Prince George public hearing)

Elected school trustees and superintendents, particularly from rural or semi-rural school districts, noted that the current funding formula does not reflect the realities of increased busing costs, higher utility bills, and greater maintenance challenges faced in these districts. Parents living in rural areas also expressed concerns about longer bus rides resulting from the closure of under-utilized schools. We highlight the following submissions:

"Transportation funding has not increased since 2001, in spite of rising fuel and labour costs. This has put increasing pressures on our system. Given that we bus approximately 50 percent of the students in School District No. 8, this is forcing us to supplement our transportation budget with funds from other sources, which has been exacerbated by the impact of the loss of the annual facilities grant." (Patricia Dooley, Board of Education, School District No. 8 (Kootenay Lake), Cranbrook video conference session)

"Due to the geographical factors of our District, we incur additional costs for utilities, in-district travel, air travel for professional development days, bus transportation and snow clearing during extreme snowfalls in Stewart, Terrace and Kitimat. We ask that if the Ministry is seeking to change funding formulas, you consider our unique circumstances. These operational expenses are eroding classroom dollars." (R.P. Pankhurst, Board of Education, School District No. 82 (Coast Mountains), Written submission 198)

"Rather than increase funding for this necessary service in rural areas you choose to shut down bus routes pulling kids away from schools that need those numbers to survive. Working parents in these rural areas don't have the time to run their kids back and forth to school: they rely on the busing service and pay tax dollars for this service. Don't take it away!" (Cathy McIntosh, Fairmont, On-line survey 059)

"My top priority is school bus transportation in rural areas, which, at the moment, is insufficient." (Richard Zimmermann, Errington, On-line survey 781)

#### Administrative reviews

In the Throne Speech, the government announced its intention to conduct reviews of boards of education, Crown corporations and health authorities – with a view to maximizing public effectiveness and lower administrative and overhead costs. During the consultation process, some districts noted that the workload for principals, vice-principals and senior staff has increased immensely, due to report preparation, data collection, implementation of government priorities, and reduced staffing. Some others expressed a desire to work cooperatively with the government on developing a new governance model. A sample of what we heard is provided below:

"There continues to be pressures that hinder a reduction in administrative areas – provincial data collection systems, monthly financial and capital reporting, GRE reporting, criminal record check requirements, health and safety changes, carbon usage reporting and class size reporting." (MaryLynne Rimer, Board of Education, School District No. 83 (Saanich), Written submission 212)

"Of paramount importance to our Board of Education, is a model of co-governance with the Ministry of Education to determine and deliver education. Boards are better armed to meet challenges when there is clear, consistent and complete communication between applicable Ministries and Boards of Education. Furthermore, this communication should reflect a positive ongoing relationship that fundamentally exists because of the right of a child to be educated." (Mary-Ann Booth, Board of Education, School District No. 45 (West Vancouver), Written submission 497)

#### Annual facilities grant

Numerous concerns were voiced about the loss of both the annual facilities grant, as well as funds held in reserve from previous years for planned maintenance. The grants, which provided districts with resources to undertake roof replacements, electrical system upgrades, mechanical system upgrades and asbestos abatement with a given fiscal year, were deferred by the government for this fiscal year.

Some districts, such as Vancouver and New Westminster, declared that the loss of these grants would result in additional costs down the road, as planned preventative maintenance will be deferred to future years. Here are some of the examples:

"We're counting on a restoration of our facilities funding of \$10.6 million as we have work that must be done, such as asbestos abatement, building component upgrades, fire alarm testing and building envelope protection. If the annual facilities grant isn't restored, the funds to do that work will have to come straight out of classrooms." (Patti Bacchus, Board of Education, School District No. 39 (Vancouver), Vancouver public hearing)

"The loss of \$1.1 million in Annual Facilities Grant severely impacts the District's ability to maintain our facilities to an acceptable standard. The loss of the grant has resulted in a number of health and safety-related maintenance projects to be deferred." (John B. Woudzia, Board of Education, School District No. 40 (New Westminster), Written submission 571)

"Many boards have aging facilities in need of remediation or replacement. The recent loss of the annual facilities grant has significantly worsened the situation. Boards lost funds for roofing project or a significant heating-ventilation project. If there is an incident — an emergency roof repair or a boiler blows in some cases — boards really don't know what they're going to do at this point without those reserves in place." (Connie Denesiuk, British Columbia School Trustees Association, Kelowna public hearing)

#### Full-day kindergarten

The Finance Committee received several submissions applauding the government's decision to introduce full-day kindergarten, noting that the move will aid improving learning outcomes for B.C. children. However, boards of education from around the province, as well as the British Columbia Teachers' Federation and the Canadian Union of Public Employees, expressed uncertainty about whether the Ministry of Education will provide support for the preliminary work in districts required to implement all-day kindergarten. Below, are some of the concerns we heard on this issue:

"In its 2008 Throne Speech, the Government of British Columbia committed to assessing the feasibility of full-day kindergarten for children aged from three to five. This is an enormously important development in B.C. for which the government deserves much credit." (Paul Kershaw, UBC Human Early Learning Partnership, Written submission 171)

"Our staff has estimated that the cost to our district alone to be \$2.5 million, minimum, to introduce full-day kindergarten. I truly wish we had the money that we could do that. But at the cost of \$2.5 million, minimum, to our district alone, again I go back to: "What is this costing provincewide?" (Annette Glover, Board of Education, School District No. 73 (Kamloops / Thompson), Kamloops public hearing)

"All-day kindergarten is another example of a commendable policy that will have a negative impact on all the rest of the education system. The Early Childhood Learning Agency has said that the total operating costs of all-day kindergarten would be about \$130 million a year: however, the actual funding dollars provided by the budget are considerably less than the government promised and even further below the real cost that the Agency said would be required. Where will the funds come from? Unless there is more funding, they can only come from reducing resources for other parts of the system." (Irene Lanzinger, British Columbia Teachers' Federation, Written submission 686)

"The B.C. government has budgeted \$44 million in 2010/11 when half of BC 5-year-olds are expected to be covered by the program, and \$107 million in 2011/12 when the program is planned to cover all 5-year-olds. These amounts come to 34 percent and 82 percent of the annual operating costs estimated by the Early Childhood Learning Agency. And that's during the two years that the program will be set up, when facilities need to be found, new teachers/early childhood educators recruited and curriculum and program standards developed. This just doesn't add up." (Barry O'Neill, Canadian Union of Public Employees – B.C. Division, Written submission 587)

#### Adult literacy services

The Finance Committee received several calls for increased resources to fund adult literacy programs. Recognizing that the responsibility for coordinating adult literacy services now rests with the Ministry of Education, representatives from various boards of education, as well as organizations representing post-secondary educators, urgedthe government to provide additional resources to assist in community-level coordination of literacy services. Here is what they had to say:

"The increased mandate for boards of education to include community literacy, adult learning and early learning have put additional pressure on the system." (Teresa Rezansoff, Board of Education, School District No. 51 (Boundary), Written submission 079)

"In addition, a reinstatement of literacy and Aboriginal programming funds would enable us to continue to support these specific learners and assist them to participate in B.C.'s labour force." (Marilyn Luscombe, Selkirk College, Written submission 614)

"Our organization had lobbied several years ago to have literacy coordinators repatriated back to the public post-secondary system. The ministry agreed and provided \$1.7 million to support this initiative, starting in 2007. In June of this year, we were told that the funding arrangements for literacy coordinators were cancelled. We think this a shortsighted approach." (Cindy Oliver, Federation of Post-Secondary Educators, Vancouver public hearing)

#### K-12 education recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 9. Work with boards of education to conduct a comprehensive review of the education funding formula.
- 10. Work cooperatively with the boards of education on a review of the administrative and reporting requirements for each school district and within the Ministry of Education.
- 11. Treat the annual facilities grant as a high priority for funding in the 2010/11 Budget.
- 12. Ensure that the implementation of all-day kindergarten is fully funded.
- 13. Enhance capacity within ministries and at the community level so that the planning and funding of adult literacy services are effective and well coordinated.

#### **Health Services**

It is clear from the many submissions we received that access to health care is the public's top priority. In this section, we outline what we heard from the public with respect to increasing resources for health services, then turn our attention to some of the innovative suggestions we heard to rein in costs while providing better, more efficient services.

Apart from suggestions for user fees, we heard a call for the government to consider moving towards activity-based funding models for the health regions. We also received submissions on the general topic of smarter service delivery, including: utilizing the skills health care professionals have acquired to the fullest extent; greater adoption of technology within the health care system; and enhanced labour mobility. The Committee also heard suggestions for the government to continue to pursue lowering the price paid for generic drugs; increasing funding for mental health and addiction services; and placing a greater emphasis on end-of-life services.

#### Activity-based funding

In Vancouver, the Finance Committee learned that the British Columbia Medical Association (BCMA) is currently preparing a report articulating its ideas on how to introduce incentives and innovation in acute care delivery and to reduce wait lists. Building on the BCMA's presentation to the Conversation on Health, its report will examine how British Columbia could implement a blended block- and service-based delivery model. The BCMA's president explained the shift in direction this way:

"Physicians think it's time to push the envelope in B.C. For example, we think it's time for us to reconsider how we fund health authorities. Global budgets are imprecise. They do not reward innovation particularly well, and they don't give us good information on the actual costs of providing care." (Dr. Brian Brodie, British Columbia Medical Association, Vancouver public hearing)

#### Smarter service delivery

A common refrain we also heard with respect to controlling health care costs was the need for government to explore new ways of delivering health services. Concerns were expressed that the current service-delivery model focuses too much on the specific credentials of the health care provider, and not enough on whether that service can be delivered more efficiently by another member of the health care team. For example, we heard several calls for the expanded training and use of Nurse Practitioners. Similarly, we received a submission from the Association of Chain Drug Stores advocating for an expanded role for pharmacists in the delivery of front-end health care services. Here's a sample of what we heard on these topics:

"The government should be encouraging doctors to have Nurse Practitioners screen and treat patients with lesser problems. Only pay doctors for services demanding a physician's level of training." (Arlene LaFleur, Prince George, On-line survey 070)

"In this province and others, governments are moving cautiously in the direction of expanding pharmacists' scope of practice for the purpose of taking full advantage of their knowledge and skill, and to help ease pressures in other areas of the healthcare system. Interventions by pharmacists in medication management and chronic disease screening are just two of many services available in a community pharmacy that can help avoid costs of a visit to a doctor's office or a hospital emergency department." (Nadine Saby, Canadian Association of Chain Drug Stores, Written submission 494)

Some on-line responses also indicated that the expanded use of multi-disciplinary teams would provide greater efficiencies than a physician-centred model. Presented below are a few of the comments we received on the topic:

"We can expand teams so that health care is provided by the best trained professional, taking advantage of the entire team. This should cost less than always having the physician be the only clinician whose skills are covered. It ends up costing more by not providing coverage for the other qualified professionals because people go to the physician for treatments that could be done (often better) by the Nurse Practitioner, physical therapist, occupational therapists to name a few. Primary access to these professionals with some clear accountability, could cost less." (Darlene Redenbach, North Vancouver, On-line survey 611)

"Primary care must include all members of the health care team: the client, Nurse Practioners, RNs and LPNs, social workers, dietitian, physio- and occupational therapists and physicians. The current physician-driven primary model in B.C. does not lend itself to a care delivery approach that respects and values all members of the team." (Valerie Waymark, Prince George, On-line survey 1639)

The Finance Committee also reviewed submissions calling on the government to be more proactive with respect to the use of technology to support both the provision and administration of health care. Members heard that government should be doing more to expand and promote telemedicine services such as the BC Nurseline and e-health iniatives such as HealthLink BC. It was also suggested that technology be used to reduce the amount of paperwork required and to facilitate the transfer of information within and between health regions. Here is what we heard on this topic:

"Create strategies to maximize access to health services, such as utilizing technology, and seek ways to contain the rising cost of delivering services." (Donna Miller, North Saanich, On-line survey 1464)

"There are also growing numbers of traditional hands-on tasks that can be and are being done remotely such as health care (tele-health), equipment monitoring and control, and education and training. We recommend that the government require health authorities which receive provincial funding to implement GreenWorking programs to include e-learning and telemedicine as a condition of financing." (Brendan B. Read, The Telework Coalition, Written submission 457)

"GS1 Canada recommends that the B.C. government continue to support the healthcare sector in the adoption and implementation of global supply chain standards that enable electronic procurement, interoperability and traceability across the B.C. healthcare supply chain. The government must fund initiatives that allow for the implementation of standardized e-supply chain practices across the B.C. healthcare system to ensure sustained progress." (Eileen MacDonald, GS1 Canada, Written submission 094)

#### Labour mobility

Another concern presented to the Finance Committee was the need to attract and retain health care professionals. Some of the submissions made to the Committee called on the government to continue to remove barriers to allow more foreign and Canadian-trained doctors, nurses and allied health professionals to work in the province. Here is a sample of what we heard on this topic:

"Hire more nurses and doctors, even if they are out of this country." (Dennis Nixon, Victoria, On-line survey 1743)

"Allow foreign doctors and nurses to practice." (Raj Dhaliwal, Abbotsford, On-line survey 1078)

"Establish a health care only university and attract talent worldwide." (Andrew Chobaniuk, North Vancouver, On-line survey 924)

# Generic drugs

Canada's Research-based Pharmaceutical Companies (R<sub>x</sub>&D) again requested that the government consider lowering the price paid for generic prescription drugs. In addition, the organization noted that several "blockbuster" medications would be coming off patent over the next few years. Consequently, the make-up of the provincial formulary will shift from the current 33 percent generic drugs to approximately 52 percent over the next five years – saving the province hundreds of millions of dollars. The industry association suggested that some of this money be re-invested in acquiring new and innovative medicines to create additional cost savings and improve the quality of life of many British Columbians:

"Our industry is built on the promise of innovation and new discoveries, but as those discoveries reach the end of their patent protection, there are additional savings through the form of generic formulizations that drug programs benefit from. The budget savings found through pursuing better prices for generic drugs can be used to reinvest into new, innovative medicines. Prescription drugs have one of the best returns on investment in B.C.'s health care system." (Leslie Foord, Canada's Research-based Pharmaceutical Companies (R<sub>\*</sub>&D), Victoria public hearing)

#### Mental health and addiction services

The Committee received several submissions from individuals and organizations requesting additional financial support for mental health and addiction services. Others suggested that there needs to be increased cooperation across government ministries and agencies to ensure those with

mental health and/or addiction issues receive the services they require. Below is a sample of some of the submissions we received on this topic:

"Our organization has made a presentation at the annual budget consultation since 2004, and each year, we have identified the issue of housing and homelessness as one of our top funding priorities for people living with a mental illness and/or drug addiction." (Bill Wright, Canadian Mental Health Association, BC Division, Surrey public hearing)

"Cutting mental health and addictions services is not an option, particularly during an economic downturn. Already, as a mental health worker and a person in recovery, I can see the effects of cuts to the mental health system. Please ensure that this issue is your priority too." (Elizabeth Bogod, Victoria, Written submission 068)

#### Hospice houses

The Finance Committee received numerous submissions from non-profit societies operating hospice houses in different parts of the province. In Prince George, for example, the Committee heard a plea from the Prince George Hospice Society for sustainable funding for hospice care. The Society suggested that a comprehensive and supported hospice network could effectively shorten wait-lists for acute care beds. It noted that disparities exist across the province, as some hospices receive funding from a health authority, while others are reliant on fundraising and government grants. The Prince George Hospice Society and its supporters called on the Committee to recommend that hospice care should be considered primary health care and funded accordingly.

"The Society is appealing to the Finance Committee to treat end-of-life services as primary care within the medical structure and provide adequate, sustainable funding to hospice/palliative care facilities equitably across the province." (Karen Beeson, Prince George Hospice Society, Prince George public hearing)

"I am writing to ask government to provide adequate funding for hospice facilities in B.C. Recently my wife spent time in the Prince George Hospice House after being diagnosed with terminal cancer. Louise spent time in the Prince George Regional Hospital before going to the Hospice House. My request that you provide the necessary funding to keep the hospice houses in B.C. open and available so they can continue to provide their superior experience for the dying and their families." (Brian Logan, Prince George, Written submission 031)

Also in Prince George, we heard an endorsement of the Ministry of Health Services' Choice in Support for Independent Living (CSIL) program. CSIL allows clients to independently manage their own home support programs independent of the health care system. The witness explained to the Committee that the program requires better communication, as providing in-home services could save the health care system money. Below is the presenter's request:

"I would request that the government look into the CSIL program, as we're all aging. This is a huge tax savings to taxpayers, if you can keep people at home for \$4,000 a month rather than put them into a facility. We don't need more facilities. We need more access to programs like this for families that want to take care of their disabled children or their aged parents." (Betty Bryce, Prince George public hearing)

#### **Healthy Living**

The Committee received several submissions advocating for the government to continue to invest in proactive measures to enable British Columbians to take the necessary actions to live healthier lives. We heard requests for continued support for the ActNow BC program – including placing a greater emphasis on health education and physical activity within the K-12 system. We also heard from the Canadian Cancer Society and concerned individuals that the government should significantly increase taxes on all tobacco products, while offering incentives for those quitting smoking. Other issues raised include curbing excessive alcohol consumption and stopping the use of illicit drugs. In addition, committee members heard that more can be done to promote road safety as a means of reducing health care costs, and to encourage the development of cycling infrastructure.

#### ActNow BC

The B.C. Healthy Living Alliance's submission to the Committee emphasized that, despite difficult economic challenges, the government should continue to make prudent investments in integrated and collaborative approaches to health promotion and healthy living. To this end, the Alliance strongly endorses the ActNow BC model and programs supported under its banner, such as the School Fruit and Vegetables Nutritional Program and ActionSchools! BC. Similarly, we also heard support from the agriculture industry favouring an extension of the fruit and vegetables program in B.C. schools beyond 2010. Here is what these organizations had to say on these topics:

"The creation of the Ministry of Healthy Living and Sport, following on the success of ActNow BC, has also been an important step forward. By introducing a "whole of government" approach to healthy living, barriers can be reduced between departments and new understandings developed among all ministries of the role they play in improving the health of British Columbians. The World Health Organization has recognized the model of ActNow BC as an exemplary approach, one that should be considered by other jurisdictions." (Mary Collins, B.C. Healthy Living Alliance, Written submission 357)

"There are some good programs that have been rolled out: the B.C. Agriculture in the Classroom as well as the School Fruit and Vegetable program. We think this is a very positive program to encourage our children to consume healthy food, and the school boards are buying our fruit, so we're very pleased with that program." (Peter Cummings, BC Greenhouse Growers' Association, Surrey public hearing)

# Tobacco use and alcohol consumption

In Surrey, the Canadian Cancer Society appeared before the Committee requesting that government increase tobacco taxes by \$3.00 per carton to match the tax rates in Alberta. The Cancer Society estimated that closing this gap would result in an additional \$64 million in tax revenue for the province. Even with the proposed increase, taxes on cigarettes would remain in the bottom quartile vis-à-vis other Canadian jurisdictions. The Society also recommended increasing the taxes charged on roll-your-own tobacco to match the rate charged on manufactured cigarettes. Their justification for this increase is provided below:

"Higher tobacco taxes are an extremely effective way to reduce smoking, especially among youth who are particularly price-sensitive. Most studies conclude that a 10 percent increase in the price of a package of cigarettes reduces overall cigarette consumption by 3 to 5 percent." (Kathryn Seely, Canadian Cancer Society – BC and Yukon Division, Surrey public hearing)

To aid smokers in their efforts to quit, both the Cancer Society and the BC Healthy Living Alliance also recommended that the province should investigate following Quebec's lead and subsidize nicotine replacement therapies, especially for lower income individuals.

Several British Columbians also wrote to the Finance Committee advocating for increases in "sin taxes" to provide the government additional revenues to pay for health care and education:

"Revenue could be raised in a number of ways, including increasing 'sin' taxes." (Lyndsey Nelson, New Westminster, On-line survey 027)

"Sin taxes on liquor, cigarettes, and gambling should carry a higher tax." (Eddie Graf, Terrace, On-line survey 1113)

"Increase liquor taxes, cigarette and cigar taxes." (Jerry Horton, Campbell River, On-line survey 478)

#### Illicit drug use

The Committee also received submissions arguing for the government to strengthen strategies for stopping the use of illicit drugs. Some presentations requested that the government examine increased support for detoxification and rehabilitation centres, while others appealed for a greater emphasis on charging those responsible for distributing drugs in our neighbourhoods. Here is a sample of the submissions we received on this topic:

"Addictions problems are growing in leaps and bounds, destroying whole families and costing business in lost days, less productive employees and insurance plans." (Jeanne Boyle, Salt Spring Island, On-line survey 1690)

"Fight crime, specifically the illegal drug trade. It is an embarrassment to the province and the country to let this continue, particularly when innocent lives are at risk and taken." (Donald Cunliffe, Burnaby, On-line survey 1145)

"Crack down on crime and cut out harm reduction but place more money in rehab and training to make the Downtown Eastside a place of hope." (Rob Keith, Coquitlam, On-line survey 957)

#### Road safety

Road safety is another concern of the public. While not explicitly referenced in the submissions made to the Committee this year, there are specific actions government could take to strengthen road safety programs and help reduce health care costs. Here is a sample of the public's input:

"We most emphatically want the Bamfield road chip sealed for safety and longevity of vehicles. It is presently extremely rough again and it is not even winter yet." (Paul Dagg, Port Alberni, Survey 1792)

"How about more dividers on our regional highways so that fewer people are hospitalized from head-on collisions? B.C. calls itself the 'Best Place on Earth'. Well, one sobering statistic indicates that one in thirteen people in our society will die from a car crash." (Ashley Kroecher, Kelowna, Survey 1648)

"Lastly, let me say: to help our health care system out, turn off your cell phone when you get in your car to drive home today." (Dr. Brian Brodie, British Columbia Medical Association, Vancouver public hearing)

#### Cycling infrastructure

Citing successful investments in cycling and pedestrian infrastructure projects over the last number of years, the B.C. Cycling Coalition wrote to the Finance Committee requesting the government place a greater emphasis on active transportation options. Other submissions emphasized a need for continued support of the construction of cycling facilities, walking trails, sidewalks, pedestrian signals and traffic-calming measures through the LocalMotion program, for example. Here is a sample of the public's suggestions:

"This summer marked the opening of significant cycling improvements including the Central Valley Greenway, the Bicycle Path on the Canada Line Bridge and the improvements to the Queensborough Bridge. The British Columbia Cycling Coalition (BCCC) recommends that the government accelerate investment in cycling infrastructure. In addition to increased economic activity, accelerated investments in cycling infrastructure will hasten the achievement of many of the goals of the provincial government including increased physical fitness, reduced greenhouse gas emissions and increased tourism providing a great legacy for future generations." (Richard Campbell, British Columbia Cycling Coalition, Written submission 611)

"Infrastructure and measures for safe cycling are important to me. It is the transportation of today and the future and needs its share of the budget. I don't own a car but I pay taxes so I want to see a forward-thinking budget that supports and encourages cycling." (Diana Batts, Vancouver, Online survey 1738)

"I would like to see more spending on infrastructure to encourage active transportation: cycling and walking." (Jacqueline Chow, Maple Ridge, On-line survey 1305)

#### Health care and healthy living recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 14. Encourage the expansion of activity-based funding in health regions.
- 15. Utilize the expertise of all health professionals to the fullest extent to enhance the quality of health care services.
- 16. Expand the use of Nurse Practitioners and multi-disciplinary teams, telemedicine and e-health initiatives.
- 17. Continue to improve electronic information transfer between and within health regions.
- 18. Continue the efforts to reduce inter-provincial labour mobility barriers without compromising B.C. standards; and undertake measures to expand licensing opportunities for both international and interprovincial incoming health care professionals.
- 19. Work together with all Canadian provinces if possible, to develop a national strategy to secure better pricing for generic drugs.
- 20. Increase funding for mental health and addictions, particularly for outreach services that have proven to be successful.
- 21. Acknowledge the importance of end-of-life services within the medical care structure and provide adequate and equitable support to in-home hospice care, hospice houses and palliative care facilities across the province, recognizing the valuable contributions made by volunteers in this area.
- 22. Continue to help people stay healthy by expanding the nationally acclaimed ActNow program; increasing health education from K-12 and beyond; offering incentives and assistance to quit smoking, to stop the use of illicit drugs, and to curb excessive drinking, including revising the liquor tax structure to tax according to alcohol content.
- 23. Consider raising taxes on all tobacco products to at least the Canadian average, and close the loophole on roll-your-own tobacco.
- 24. Conduct a review, in conjunction with ICBC, on the benefits of road safety initiatives in reducing health care costs.
- 25. Increase the funding allocated to the construction and maintenance of bicycle commuter lanes, and recreational trails in B.C.

# British Columbians' Other Priority Programs

While health and education were identified as being the most important core services requiring protection, the Committee received numerous submissions identifying other program spending priorities – in particular, from arts organizations, sports clubs and community-based services for children with special needs. Calls for a poverty reduction plan were also made.

# **Arts Funding**

Representatives of B.C.'s arts and culture community came out in full force this year to make a common plea for the restoration of arts funding. They were well represented at our public hearings, in the written submissions received, as well as in a torrent of form letters submitted electronically. Most submissions on this topic requested the government to reexamine its decision to reprioritize the distribution of Direct Access gaming grants and to restore funding to the B.C Arts Council to 2008/09 levels. We encourage the government to examine ways to restore funding to the arts and culture sector. Here is a sample of the comments we received:

"Public investment in the arts allows community-based arts organizations to leverage money from other sectors and also leverages the social capital of thousands of volunteer hours of activity – resulting in healthier, happier, economically-competitive and livable communities." (Amir Ali Alibhai, Alliance for Arts and Culture, Surrey public hearing)

"We urge the provincial government to demonstrate strength and leadership to forward and maintain the progress that has assiduously been achieved. Allow British Columbia to celebrate its cultural accomplishments and identity and shine." (Joanna Maratta, British Columbia Touring Council, Nelson video conference session)

"Our communities definitely need the infrastructure that our governments create and support, such as health care, education, roads, industry, business, but we also need the cultural events and experiences in our lives that stir our emotions, nourish our soul, broaden our minds and define us as a society, especially in this difficult economic time." (Ken Eng, Bulkley Valley Concert Association, Smithers public hearing)

"Ballet Kelowna strongly urges the government to recognize the value of the arts in our province, to seriously reconsider its arts funding policies, to reinstate Direct Access Gaming Grants and to maintain its commitment to the British Columbia Arts Council." (David LaHay, Ballet Kelowna, Kelowna public hearing)

For the record, we reproduce the recommendations made to the Committee by the B.C. Arts Council:

 "Providing an appropriated budget as per our Act (plus the BC150 Cultural Fund earnings) to the Arts Council. The use of the appropriated budget carries significant meaning to the arts and cultural community as it signals that arts and culture are part of the "main budgeting process".

- In the event the Council funds are to again come from Gaming, we strongly recommend that government make a single grant to the Council who could then do what they are mandated to do allocate grants in a fair and transparent manner focusing on excellence. Having the funds come directly from Council would eliminate much of the unintended consequences that are currently a source of concern and confusion.
- Restore the budgets of both the BC Arts Council and the arts and cultural community component of the Community Gaming Grants Program to at least the level of 2008/09 to allow the arts community to begin to build upon the legacy of the 2010 Olympics. The 2010 Olympics provide our province with such a wonderful "once-in-a-lifetime opportunity" to showcase not only the athletes, but the breadth and depth of arts and cultural activities that make British Columbia such a great place to live, work and visit. Without at least the level of funding provided in 2008/09 it will be next to impossible for the arts and cultural community to seize the opportunities presented by the 2010 Olympics.
- Develop and announce a long term strategy to strengthen the support for the arts and cultural community of British Columbia as the province works it way out of the current fiscal difficulties. The BC150 Cultural Fund has provided a valuable foundation, and we are very grateful for this long term support, even as present rates of return have diminished the current impact of this source. At the same time many private donors have reduced their support for all not-for-profit organizations, only compounding the financial issues facing most arts organizations. The arts community is looking for a more positive attitude and increased visible support from government." (Jane Danzo, B.C. Arts Council, Written submission 670)

# **Sports Programs**

The Committee received several submissions requesting that the government restore program funding to sports organizations. Noting that sports organizations were among the lowest priority areas for the distribution of gaming funds, presenters in Nanaimo and Prince Rupert expressed concerns that the reduced funding will likely result in the demise of successful local programs:

"We have led the world in demonstrating how to prepare for the hosting of an Olympic Games event. Help us now lead the world in showing how to leverage the Games benefit long after the Olympic flame has gone out and the Games have passed." (Paul Varian, Sport BC, Nanaimo video session)

"The Kamloops Sports Council is extremely concerned for our sport group service providers as they strive to cope with the ramifications of the funding cuts that they are facing. Kamloops sports groups have made it very clear to the Sports Council that the burden of these cut backs will impact the delivery of sport services and events in Kamloops." (Susan Willet, Kamloops Sports Council, Written submission 196)

"It has recently come to our attention that the gaming funds, such as the ones that minor basketball relies on, are to be scheduled to be cut or eliminated. Because approximately half of our budget comes from bingo funding, it would likely mean that we would have to double our registration fees. There are not many options for kids in the north to have easy access to sports. We're asking you not to take away the few options our kids have." (Melanie Basso, Prince Rupert Minor Basketball, Prince Rupert video conference session)

"As the provincial government has recently decided to make cuts on gaming funds going toward athletes in B.C., thousands upon thousands of aspiring athletes have been hit hard. We have great athletes and coaches that work hard and that should be rewarded with grants and funds to continue to perform nationally and internationally." (Brian Malfesi, Maple Ridge, Written submission 177)

# **Early Intervention Services**

The Finance Committee received several submissions encouraging the government to maintain and enhance early intervention services for children with special needs. Early intervention therapies cover a broad spectrum of services including screening, referral, assessment, family education and support, service planning, direct therapeutic intervention, consultation, monitoring, transition planning to school, and training of community members. Children with special needs may receive care from physiotherapists, dieticians, speech-language pathologists, behaviour consultants and other child development professionals.

Witnesses appearing before the Committee suggested that additional investments for early intervention and school-based therapies should remain a top priority for government. Some agencies recommended that government prioritize direct access gaming grants to aid in the provision of early intervention programs.

"The Ministry of Housing and Social Development and the Gaming Commission should designate agencies providing services to children and youth with special needs as a top priority and ensure that all funding for these agencies be maintained and enhanced." (Bruce Sandy, British Columbia Association of Child Development & Intervention, Surrey public hearing)

"We recommend that the government enhance funding for Early Intervention Assessment and Therapy to mitigate against growing waitlists. We further recommend prioritizing gaming funds distribution to this sector. Many non-profits providing services to this population also provide specialized programs, not covered by contracts, which result in children making developmental gains." (Michael Robinson, Nanaimo Child Development Centre, Written submission 689)

"A lack of prevention and early intervention services for individuals with special needs, FASD, autism will result in far greater social economic costs over the life time of the individual." (Rio Bates, Salt Spring Island, On-line survey 227)

The Committee also received submissions requesting the restoration of a specific program for children with autism. Several parents of children enrolled in the Early Intensive Behavioural Intervention Program (EIBI) wrote in to convey their support for this program. Their comments are below:

"My daughter is six years old, and benefited from the EIBI program for two and a half years, until she no longer qualified due to her age. She is the child she is today because of the program, and I nearly came to tears when I heard they discontinued the program, because I know what an amazing program it was for our family." (Robin Smith, Logan Lake, Written submission 132)

"The most recent changes to autism funding are closing doors to vital services (e.g., discontinuation of the EIBI program), and creating havoc (i.e., changing from direct funding to invoice payment) in the lives of special needs families." (Wendy and Ward Trotter, Victoria, Written submission 124)

"The need to take on the role of political advocate is an extra burden that the exhausted parents of children with special needs should not have to take on in order to ensure that their children are given the kind of care that they need and deserve." (Tom Scholte, Vancouver, Written submission 081)

Two organizations appearing before the Finance Committee requested that the government consider prioritizing additional resources to address mental health issues faced by children and youth – particularly to address shortages of qualified professionals. They expressed their requests in the following way:

"Many of the children and youth with special needs also have extensive mental health needs as well. There has been some allocation of additional funds back in 2006 to address this, but it was not specifically for children and youth with special needs. So we are making the recommendation that at least an additional \$10 million should be allocated for the hiring of psychologists and other mental health professionals to address the diagnostic and behavioural needs of children and youth with special needs." (Bruce Sandy, B.C. Association of Child Development and Intervention, Surrey public hearing)

"The Pacific Centre Family Services Association recommends that the Committee consider increased co-ordination across Ministries to address social issues, for example, family violence, youth mental health issues." (Mitzi Dean, Pacific Centre Family Services Association, Written submission 105)

#### Other priority programs' recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 26. Make funding of the arts a high priority in the 2010/11 budget by returning to overall actual funding levels of 2008/09.
- 27. Allocate funding for sports programs, with priority given to youth and disabled sports.
- 28. Eliminate inefficiency across ministries and improve resourcing to address delays for services and programs for children with special needs.

# The Public's Ideas on Revenue Generation

Question 2: Should government continue to protect core services such as health and education, and if so, how should government increase revenues to pay for these services?

This section focuses on the second part of Question 2 - how should government increase revenues to pay for core services such as health and education? The Finance Committee believes that strategic investment to encourage economic growth is a major component of supporting current and future program expenditures. In support of this theme, we now review some of the suggestions we heard to enhance British Columbia's primary industries – agriculture, mining and forestry.

## Agriculture

This year, we received submissions from organizations representing the different components of agriculture in the province. As outlined by the BC Agriculture Council, the industry comprises production, processing, distribution and sale of food and other goods such as flowers and nursery products, generates over \$35 billion in revenues and employs 290,000 British Columbians.

In addition, we received submissions from the BC Food Processors Association, the B.C. Fruit Growers' Association, Okanagan Kootenay Cherry Growers' Association, and the horticultural industry. Their suggestions included: provincial support of the AgriStability Program, including seeking administrative control over the federal-provincial program; ongoing investment in the marketing of B.C. agricultural products; and additional support to aid the meat processing sector. We also received several submissions from the Kelowna area seeking provincial support for upgrades to the water system currently managed by the Kelowna Joint Water Committee.

### AgriStability Program

AgriStability serves as an insurance program for farmers who may be subject to steep fluctuations in farm incomes. The program is currently administered by the federal government; however, certain provinces such as Alberta, Ontario and Quebec, administer the program on behalf of the federal government.

British Columbia had previously announced that it too would take over administrative control of the AgriStability program, in order to be more responsive to the needs of local farmers. The B.C. Agriculture Council expressed concerns about whether the transfer of this program to Kelowna was still being contemplated by the provincial government:

"The BCAC is strongly supportive of the Ministry of Agriculture and Lands decision to move the administration of the AgriStability program to Kelowna, rather than having the program administered by the federal government. However, the industry is concerned that the current fiscal environment could further delay this important transfer." (Andy Dolberg, British Columbia Agriculture Council, Vancouver public hearing)

## Marketing B.C.'s agricultural products

In February 2008, the government released its B.C. Agriculture Plan. Included in this plan was a recommendation for the government to contribute resources annually to promote local agricultural products and develop a B.C. brand. This branding exercise would profile high-quality products reflecting B.C.'s reputation for environmental sustainability and healthy living. Some of the suggestions we received are as follows:

"The BC Agriculture Council is clearly disappointed that the B.C. branding initiative for agricultural products – a key commitment in the BC Agriculture Plan – has not been funded. B.C. is falling behind at a time when there is a growing public interest in being able to identify and purchase local healthy products." (Rhonda Driediger, BC Agriculture Council, Vancouver public hearing)

"Buy BC is a great program that deserves government support through matching dollars where they focus on locally-grown, B.C. products." (Penny Gambell, Lake Country, On-line survey 1181)

#### Meat industry enhancement

The BC Food Processors Association noted that through government support, there are now 36 licensed meat processing plants, with 30 more proponents working towards obtaining a Class C licence. As these provincially-licensed abattoirs can serve hundreds of producers and customers, they are crucial to local food economies – particularly in remote communities. The Association recommended that the government continue to provide support to the Meat Industry Enhancement Strategy Team for the next three fiscal years in order to support both public health and food security. In addition, it was requested that the provincial authorities remain responsible for inspection services and that the provincial government work with the Canadian Food Inspection Agency to support development of slaughter waste management solutions in B.C.

"We need to continue the rather costly inspection service after 2010, either a service provided through provincial agencies — preferable to CFIA — and we need to improve the interagency work necessary at the provincial level. It's not just one ministry. There are many ministries involved in what has to happen in the meat industry. We've got Agriculture. We've got Healthy Living. We've got municipal affairs — and all the problems of NIMBYism; and we've got Environment. It's a multi-ministry task to make something happen...

The concerns over the waste management programs are very severe. You cannot have an abattoir if you can't get rid of the waste." (Robin Smith, BC Food Processors Association, Surrey public hearing)

#### Water infrastructure

While in Kelowna, the Committee heard from the Kelowna Joint Water Committee concerning requirements to upgrade water infrastructure in that area. The suburban Kelowna region is currently served by four large water improvement districts: Black Mountain, Glenmore-Ellison, South-east Kelowna, and Rutland. The Joint Water Committee expressed concerns that recent protocols requiring water districts to upgrade domestic water supplies comes at a notable cost to the residents, businesses and farms serviced by these water districts. Compounding the problem is the fact that the region is largely agricultural land, and thus lacks the population density to afford these significant upgrades. Furthermore, improvement districts, regardless of their size, are currently not eligible to receive provincial grants for utility upgrades.

The Committee received several letters of support too, for increased provincial funding to offset the costs associated with the water infrastructure upgrade. Here is some of what we heard:

"The Ministry of Community and Rural Development does not provide any kind of grant funding for improvement districts. The reason for that is that there are probably almost 300 improvement districts in the province, and the majority of them are very small. What we have in Kelowna is four very large — probably the four largest remaining — improvement districts in the province here. They're very effective bodies. They have the economies of scale to operate very efficiently, and right now the policy is that we have 55,000 people in the province that haven't received any substantial grant money from the province for 40 years. We're looking for funding support at equivalent levels with other utilities in the province." (Bob Hrasko, Kelowna Joint Water Committee, Kelowna public hearing)

"I think that water quality should be high on funding priority lists. In addition to funding, I understand there is a policy issue where water improvement districts are not eligible for provincial grants, If you have any influence on changing the policy to allow funding for water improvement districts that would be a positive step." (Bill Casswell, Kelowna, Written submission 100)

"The executive of the Glenmore Valley Community Association is writing to let you know that we are in support of the Kelowna Water Quality Improvement Projects. The great majority of the residents are eagerly looking forward to the Glenmore-Ellison Improvement District's projects that are aimed at reducing the turbidity of the drinking water." (Bruce Gillon, Glenmore Valley Community Association, Written submission 218)

## Agriculture recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 29. Maximize the benefits of federal-provincial programs such as AgriStability and the Risk Management Program by providing adequate provincial contributions. The Committee welcomes the recent move of the federal office to Kelowna in order to provide a greater connection to the needs of B.C.'s agriculture community.
- 30. Provide support for a branding program for B.C. agricultural products, as recommended in the B.C. Agriculture Plan.
- 31. Provide additional resources to assist and encourage processors in the meat industry, with a particular emphasis on waste disposal.
- 32. Allow water improvement districts of a certain minimum size to be eligible for, and able to apply directly for, infrastructure funding programs such as Build Canada, in the same way as municipal governments.

## Mining

Representatives from Geoscience BC, the Mining Association of British Columbia and the Association for Mineral Exploration made presentations to the Finance Committee in Vancouver and Victoria to advocate for strong provincial support for the mining sector. We heard that mining and mineral exploration contributes approximately \$500 million in tax and royalty revenues to the provincial economy and employs 85,000 people. The province is home to nearly half of new mine projects proposed in Canada, representing \$10 to \$15 billion in investment opportunities.

The Committee received several submissions endorsing the commitment that the construction of the northwest transmission line would proceed, as these proponents believe strongly that its construction will spur on mining development in the area. More specific requests were also made to bolster investment: continued funding in Geoscience BC, and for the province to provide greater certainty with respect to the B.C. mining flow-through share tax credit. The sector representatives also recommended streamlining the federal / provincial environmental assessment process.

#### Geoscience BC

Representatives from Geoscience BC appeared before the Committee to give what has become an annual update on the status of their work. The organization – which has a mandate to attract new mineral and oil and gas investment to B.C. through the provision of geoscience data, knowledge and expertise – has received \$36.7 million in funding from the provincial government since 2005. However, the program is scheduled to wrap up by March 2012 unless new funding is secured.

The organization stressed that there remains a great deal of work to be done, particularly with respect to oil and gas exploration in the north-east and mineral exploration in the interior and north-west. Geoscience BC, with the support of the Mining Association of British Columbia, recommended that

one way of providing sustainable funding was to allocate a portion of the \$10 million mineral title fees collected from the mining industry back into geosciences. Here is what we heard on this topic.

"We see investing in geosciences as an important role for government to take in positioning B.C. for the economic recovery. Essentially, minerals and oil and gas are key economic drivers for the province. We are one of the fundamentals to stimulating economic activity, which helps us keep B.C. competitive and helps us pay for health care, education and the social services on which we all depend and feel very strongly about maintaining." ('Lyn Anglin, Geoscience BC, Vancouver public hearing)

"Geoscience is an essential building block of a mining economy and it is estimated that every dollar invested in geosciences stimulates \$5 in new exploration by the private sector. The Mining Association of British Columbia recommends that the government commit to long-term funding for Geoscience BC and re-invest in the B.C. Geological Survey." (Pierre Gratton, Mining Association of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

## B.C. Mining Flow-Through Share (MFTS) Tax Credit

On September 1, 2009, the government introduced legislation to extend the expiry date for the BC MFTS tax credit to December 31, 2010. From the industry's perspective, there is a desire to make the tax credit permanent, or at least in place for a longer period.

"The flow-through share tax credit has been in place now for many years both provincially and federally, and it's re-extended annually. We're asking that it be made permanent. This would likely have to be in conjunction with the federal government as well, but it's something that's fairly redundant. For each dollar of lost tax revenue with respect to this credit, approximately \$2.50 of new investment is created, so there's an argument for return on investment." (Gavin Dirom, Association for Mineral Exploration in British Columbia, Victoria public hearing)

"We're recommending that you provide the exploration industry with some security about the future and in the next budget provide an indication that it won't just be renewed for one year. Renew it for three years. Send a signal that this is an important tax measure that's here to stay." (Pierre Gratton, Mining Association of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

#### **Environmental Assessment Process**

Representatives of the mining and mineral exploration sectors also expressed frustration with the lack of coordination between the federal and provincial environmental assessment processes. Specifically, presenters appearing before the Committee recommended that the provincial Environmental Assessment Office become the lead and sole agency for reviewing major projects in the province. It was argued that this move would significantly reduce the lead-time for mine development, while maintaining a rigorous environmental review process. Here is a sample of what we heard:

"We are supportive of having this province work with the federal government to have legislative reform that essentially enables the respective governments to accept project reviews as equivalent. We welcome the support of this province in making that happen." (Gavin Dirom, Association for Mineral Exploration, Victoria public hearing)

#### Mineral exploration and mining recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 33. Consider providing ongoing funding for Geoscience BC.
- 34. Provide greater certainty to the mining industry by committing to the B.C. mining flow-through-share tax credit for a minimum three-year extension.
- 35. Work with the federal government to adopt a single, comprehensive and effective environmental assessment program to avoid duplication and unnecessary delay.

## **Forestry**

The Committee heard how the B.C. forest industry is struggling. Mill closures, capacity reductions, and layoffs dominate the short-term prospects for the industry was a message we heard from both industry and labour. While industry representatives were guardedly optimistic about the long-term future of the industry, the short-term challenges facing the forestry sector are considerable.

Considerable disagreement exists on the best strategy to reposition the industry to take advantage of future opportunities. All sides, however, agree that the sector is currently in survival mode and needs to develop strategies to promote productivity and competitiveness, while enhancing worker safety.

"There are more than 10 million cubic metres of timber available for local mills to harvest, yet they cannot afford to pay for them. Why when our province is in need of revenue do we continue to cut off our nose to spite our face? The minister has the ability to remove some of the barriers to export. That would increase the value of this timber, increase the amount that's harvested, increase the employment, increase all the taxes that are paid, and reduce social costs." (Dave Lewis, Truck Loggers Association, Vancouver public hearing)

"Allowing market forces to simply dictate what happens in this province is an acute failure. We need government intervention to encourage investment in manufacturing, particularly to resurrect the value-added sector, which has been virtually destroyed in this province. For instance, the government should not allow access to public timber rights without commitment to investment and job creation. We should stop raw log exports and use the wood to stimulate manufacturing domestically." (Kim Pollock, United Steelworkers, District 3, Vancouver public hearing)

"We recommend the creation of a Premier's Productivity Council to inform future provincial budgets on measures required to improve productivity required to ensure sustainable economic performance for British Columbia's economy." (Rick Jeffreys, Coast Forest Products Association, Vancouver public hearing)

# Forestry recommendation

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

36. Consider creating a task force to examine how worker safety, productivity and competitiveness can be improved within the forest industry.

# British Columbians' Views on Tax Priorities

#### Question 3: Should the government continue to reduce taxes?

Most of the input we received on this question came via the written submissions or the on-line survey forms. The clearest message we heard from the public was that government should not reduce taxes – particularly, corporate and personal taxes – at this time.

We received submissions both for and against personal income tax cuts. Many British Columbians suggested that if tax decreases are contemplated by the government, they should be focused on low-and medium-income families. Other participants suggested raising B.C.'s personal income tax exemption level to match that of Alberta.

We also received submissions requesting the government lower taxes for small businesses. However, many submissions received indicated that additional corporate tax cuts beyond what has been announced are not warranted at this time. Here is a sample of the public's responses to Question 3:

"British Columbia is already well positioned in comparison to other provinces with respect to tax rates. Further reductions at this time, in our view, would have a serious impact on the province's ability to deliver core services. Consideration of tax incentives could be one of the alternative methods to meet budgetary needs." (Susan Murphy, Canadian Federation of University Women, BC Council, Written submission 153)

"The tax burden on low and middle income earners is significant but not unbearable and it is a fair trade to help maintain core services. The exception would be low-income families who should never be left in the lurch by any group that would call themselves a government." (Kevin Lambert, Langley, On-line survey 1179)

"Yes, increase B.C.'s personal income tax exemption to match Alberta's \$16,775. This will show that the government is helping low income workers." (Barb MacDonald, North Vancouver, Online survey 132)

"The tax burden for businesses could be reduced to stimulate job growth. This means more revenue from the government through personal income taxes and consumption taxes." (Daniel Irish, Threewave Sofware, Inc., Vancouver, On-line submission 1071)

"Raise the corporate tax rate to reflect more balance between corporate and individual tax rate." (Ken Zydyk, Port Alberni, On-line survey 1066)

# Harmonized Sales Tax (HST)

This year, the Finance Committee conducted its consultation against the backdrop of a significant shift in the government's taxation policy.

On July 23, 2009, the Government of British Columbia announced its intentions to harmonize the provincial sales tax (PST) with the federal goods and services tax (GST) effective July 1, 2010. Designed to boost business investment, improve productivity, enhance economic growth and create jobs, B.C. will have the lowest HST in Canada at 12 percent.

The proposed HST implementation strategy includes point-of-sale rebates of the provincial sales tax on fuel purchases and a partial rebate of the provincial portion of the single sales tax for new housing. In addition, the government has announced a refundable B.C. HST credit paid quarterly with the GST credit and carbon tax credit to offset the impact of the new tax on those with low incomes.

In signing an agreement to implement the HST, the federal government will provide British Columbia with \$1.6 billion in transitional funding. The government has indicated that these funds will be used to fund vital core services like health and education.

The government's post-election announcement that it had signed a Memorandum of Agreement with the federal government to implement a harmonized sales tax (HST) dominated the public's comments on tax policy.

The majority of submissions from local chambers of commerce, provincial business organizations, and the manufacturing and resource sectors all spoke strongly in favour of tax harmonization. On the other hand, many British Columbians disputed the claim that government, in fact, was reducing taxes – citing the HST as an example of a tax increase on individual consumers.

As the HST and its potential impacts was a dominate theme in this year's public consultation, this section begins by examining the general comments we received on this topic. We then consider proposals for general mitigation strategies; including relaxing the rules for PST audit and expediting the removal of all phased-in input tax credit restrictions. We also consider strategies to address adverse impacts on certain sectors, such as tourism, health services, public sector organizations and residential housing construction.

The Committee also heard several calls for the government to consider raising the threshold of the First Time Homebuyers' exemption of the property transfer tax, as well as suggestions to remove this tax from on all housing transactions. While some presenters argued that increasing the threshold on the property tax should be considered as an HST mitigation strategy, the Committee agreed that the threshold should be considered separate of the HST implementation.

We also heard some specific concerns concerning property tax levels. The Committee was particularly interested in the submissions concerning taxation levels on industrial and agricultural properties.

#### **HST** input

During the budget consultation process, the Finance Committee received extensive public input on the proposed HST, ranging from submissions voicing unequivocal support for the new sales tax through to others expressing strong opposition to its implementation.

Many businesses were in favour of the implementation of the HST. Presentations made by the B.C. Chamber of Commerce, associations representing primary industries, the manufacturing and export sector, as well as the insurance and telecommunications industries, all strongly endorsed the adoption of the HST. Some of the benefits identified by these supporters include: significant reductions in production input costs; reduced red tape and administrative costs in terms of tax compliance; increased competitiveness with other jurisdictions; and enhanced prospects for increased capital investment over the longer term. Below is sample of the support for the HST the Committee received:

"The opposition to HST must answer the question: if we do not harmonize, how do we expect our resource industries, our technology sectors and our manufacturing industries to compete in the global marketplace — or in the Canadian marketplace, for that matter — let alone attract investment?" (John Winter, British Columbia Chamber of Commerce, Surrey public hearing)

"We estimate the HST is going to reduce operating costs for most mines anywhere between half a million dollars to a million and a half a year. It should reduce the cost of a new mine by some \$10 million." (Pierre Gratton, Mining Association of BC, Vancouver public hearing)

"The HST will prove to be perhaps the most critical tax policy change the government could introduce to assist the forest industry in recovery in the short-term and to ensure that it remain competitive for the long-term." (Rick Jeffreys, Coast Forest Products Association, Vancouver public hearing)

"The recently announced HST in B.C. is a welcome announcement to the manufacturing sector. This is probably the most significant tax move the government could make to improve industry competitiveness and attract capital investment to the province. Further, it simplifies compliance, and would allow BC business to focus on productivity and markets, not tax compliance." (Craig Williams, Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters – BC Division, Written submission 029)

"The HST is a competitive "game changer" for the northern export-oriented resource and manufacturing economy. To our organization, taking any steps which improves the competitive underpinnings of our export-oriented resource economy is sound public policy and it will make an on-the-ground difference in our resource-based economy." (Tim McEwan, Initiatives Prince George, Prince George public hearing)

"The recent government announcement of its plan to harmonize the BC sales tax with the federal GST will considerably improve B.C.'s standing in terms of tax competitiveness. The property-and-casualty insurance industry welcomes this decision as good for the economy." (Serge Corbeil, Insurance Bureau of Canada, Vancouver public hearing)

"Telus is supportive of B.C.'s decision to adopt the HST. We think it makes sense, given Ontario's decision. And it will enable B.C. to remain competitive with other jurisdictions." (Kim Logan, Telus, Vancouver public hearing)

Although most business organizations appearing before the Committee supported the adoption of the HST, three sectors of the B.C. economy were opposed to the HST implementation: the foodservice industry, tourism, and the organizations involved with the construction and sales of new homes.

"We understand that the HST may be good for some capital-intensive industries, but it will be devastating for British Columbia's labour-intensive food service industry." (Mark von Schellwitz, Canadian Restaurant and Foodservices Association, Vancouver public hearing)

"The provincial government's goal of increasing tourism revenues to \$18 billion by 2015 will be jeopardized by introduction of the tax without significant mitigation measures for tourism put in place." (Stephen Regan, Council of Tourism Associations, Written submission 590)

"Clearly the government's proposal increases the tax burden for B.C. homebuyers, and does not account for the specific variations in home prices. A single rebate threshold does not adequately address the diverse reality of the B.C. housing market. Homebuyers are being pushed to the brink to accommodate increasing demands from government, and the HST represents yet another demand on B.C.'s already overtaxed homebuyers." (Robert Laing, British Columbia Real Estate Association, Surrey public hearing)

The Committee also received numerous written and on-line submissions from individuals and small-businesses claiming that the HST, as designed, increases the tax burden faced by low- and middle-income families. Here is a sample of their views:

"Reducing taxes will help spur the economy as taxes do truly have a big impact on lower income families. Adding more taxes onto items is definitely not the answer. NO matter what the government says, adding the HST will not help the regular citizens but it will help out the bigger business industries, not the workers in the long run." (Janelle Andrews, Kelowna, On-line survey 468)

"It always seems that the middle class worker is the one who pays for everything. I'm not getting anything from this HST. Business is getting tax breaks, the poor are getting rebates from the government. What about the middle class wage earner? All I get are increase taxes when I take my family out for dinner." (Michael Vilio, Surrey, On-line survey 920)

"Introducing this HST is counter-productive - now we will have to pay PST on services that we didn't have to before - this is a big negative and restrains people from making big purchases." (Bonnie Hrabchuk, Kelowna, On-line survey 847)

"The HST tax is going to have a huge negative impact on tourism numbers in the province. The government should be looking into ways of attracting tourists to the province, not discouraging them with a new tax. There are many small, isolated BC communities that have made a big effort in recent year to transition from a resource based economy to a more diversified economy that includes tourism. The introduction of this new tax is completely undermining these efforts and will

greatly speed up the dying out of these small communities." (Beat Steiner, Bella Coola Heli Sports, Whistler, On-line survey 124)

"The HST will devastate many small businesses that provide necessary jobs to our economy. It will also put additional strain on families that already struggle just to put food on the table." (Richele Chan, Envoy Transportation Ltd., Coquitlam, On-line survey 385)

# **HST Mitigation**

Under the Memorandum of Agreement signed with the federal government, British Columbia is only able to designate a limited number of point-of-sale rebates for the provincial sales tax portion of the HST. The value of the rebates is not to exceed 5 percent of the estimated GST base for B.C.

The government has already announced a significant number of products that will be exempt from the 7 percent provincial portion of the HST, including gasoline and diesel fuels; books; children's clothing and footwear; car seats and booster seats; diapers; and feminine hygiene products. In addition, the government has indicated that it will also provide a provincially-administered point-of-sale rebate for residential energy consumers.

The maximum 5 percent exemption limit affords the government little room to implement mitigation measures to offset potential challenges faced by certain sectors within the sales tax model. Indeed, one of the primary benefits of the HST is the elimination of the duplication of administrative rules associated with the current two-tax structure. A key message the Committee heard from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia was the need to avoid complicating the HST model by adding one-off exemptions for various sectors. Below is its:

"Some sectors — there's no doubt — will be challenged by the taxation change. However, it is imperative to keep the new system simple. If the government decides to provide tax relief to affected sectors, it should do so using mechanisms other than tax exemptions." (Richard Rees, Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

Nonetheless, we heard from a wide array of business organizations asking the government to consider providing specific relief to reduce the short-term impacts associated with moving to the HST. We will first examine some of the proposals to reduce the PST audit provisions and requests to accelerate the phase-in of input tax credits. We will then look at some of the requests made by various industries with regard to HST implementation, particularly in the areas of tourism, private health care delivery, potential impacts on public sector entities, and residential housing construction. Below are some of the suggestions we heard.

#### **PST** audits

The Kamloops and Nanaimo Chambers of Commerce both expressed concerns that small businesses may be unable to comply with the PST existing audit process, as the knowledge base will quickly erode once the HST comes into effect. The chambers recommended that the PST audit timeframe be reduced to two years. Here is a sample of their input:

"With respect to the PST, the knowledge base of the people within the industry, like our employees, will decline very rapidly. Therefore, I would suggest that any PST audits have to be completed within two years after implementation of the HST." (Peter Aylen, Kamloops Chamber of Commerce, Kamloops public hearing)

"Our recommendation is that any PST audits be completed within two years so that business owners and advisors can deal with the issues while the expertise is still available." (Wally Wells, Nanaimo Chamber of Commerce, Nanaimo video conference session)

#### Input tax credits

Under a harmonized sales tax, businesses are able to claim input tax credits (ITCs) for the HST they pay, effectively recovering the tax paid on their business inputs. However, several presenters appearing before the Committee noted that the government has proposed that large businesses with sales in excess of \$10 million would be subject to temporary restrictions on certain ITCs, including on energy, telecommunication services, and road vehicle purchases.

Materials provided to the Committee stated that phased-in restrictions will impose onerous red tape, for minimal financial benefit. The Institute of Chartered Accounts of British Columbia noted that the revenues collected from the phase-in are "relatively small" (\$155 million in 2010 and diminishing in subsequent years), yet will cause a significant administrative burden.

It was suggested that the government consider eliminating the phased-in restrictions, or significantly increase the \$10 million threshold, to minimize the potential impact on small- and medium- sized businesses. Some of the presentations made to the Committee are as follows:

"Make it simple – remove all phased-in input tax credit restrictions, or significantly increase the \$10 million threshold to minimize the administrative impact on small- and medium- sized businesses." (Richard Rees, Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

"We're suggesting that consideration should be around speeding up the phase-in of restricted input tax credits for large businesses. We think this is critical on the competitive side." (Manley McLachlan, British Columbia Construction Association, Surrey public hearing)

Support for eliminating the phased-in input tax credits was also strongly recommended by the tourism sector. Here is what we heard:

"The Council of Tourism Associations recommends that the government maintain full eligibility for input tax credits for all tourism-related businesses by eliminating the \$10 million revenue cap for ITC eligibility." (Stephen Regan, Council of Tourism Associations, Written submission 590)

"Large attractions easily exceed \$10 million in annual revenue and are therefore further handicapped with onerous input tax credit exemptions for hydro and other large inputs." (Dave Cowen, Butchart Gardens Ltd., Written submission 521)

#### **Tourism**

As noted above, the tourism sector expressed serious reservations about the HST and highlighted the following mitigation measures.

## Additional Hotel Room Tax

In certain communities, the Additional Hotel Room Tax (AHRT) of up to 2 percent – which provides funding for community Destination Marketing Organizations – was also subject to termination following the implementation of the HST. However, the government has since announced that this tax will continue to support local tourism organizations until June 30, 2011.

Local tourism marketing organizations in Kamloops and Kelowna, as well as local chambers of commerce, appeared before the Committee to express their support for the continuation of the Additional Hotel Room Tax. The industry representatives indicated that the AHRT was one source required to provide the industry with predictable, performance-based revenues to further the tri-level provincial marketing system. The Committee received the following submissions on this topic.

"With the implementation of the HST, the additional hotel room tax of 2 percent to fund destination marketing systems around the province was in jeopardy. In Kamloops, this program fuels about \$800,000 worth of an overall \$1.3 million tourism marketing budget. A legislative change is required to allow this program to continue. The change should be performance-based, industry-driven and effective." (Lee Morris, Tourism Kamloops, Kamloops public hearing)

"The AHRT revenue allows for market development – growing the consumer base as opposed to competing with other destinations for the same consumers. We believe this incremental, user pay tax is the appropriate mechanism to generate tourism marketing revenues and that it should be maintained with appropriate accountability measures in place, rather than taken out of HST revenues." (Bill Eager, Tourism Kelowna, Kelowna public hearing)

"The AHRT, which currently funds destination marketing organizations, has been extended to 2011. But tourism is an industry that relies on long-term strategic planning and needs funding security, controlled regionally, in order to adequately market our destinations. Establishing this surety early in the term is vital for the health of the industry." (Shannon Renault, Greater Victoria Chamber of Commerce, Victoria public hearing)

## Fixed-priced contracts

The Council of Tourism Associations also expressed concerns about the HST transitional rules announced on October 14, 2009. Under the announced rules, contracts for tourism services signed prior to the announcement of the transitional rules, yet delivered after July 1, 2010 are subject to PST. Given the uncertainty facing the industry during this interim period, the tourism industry requested that the government offer rebates or exemptions for contracts signed during this period.

"Provide rebates or exemptions for tourism services provided after July 1, 2010 and for which PST was not charged, if the contract was signed before October 14, 2009 (the HST Transitional Rules announcement date)." (Stephen Regan, Council of Tourism Associations, Written submission 590)

#### Health care contractors

The Committee heard a submission which highlights a serious concern about the ramifications of the HST will have on independent contractors operating within the health care system. With an ever-increasing number of senior citizens, the demand for a wide variety of auxiliary health care services is increasing. Whereas these services were previously GST-exempt, contractors will now be required to include the harmonized sales tax for residential care for seniors.

"Once B.C. implements an HST, independent contractors within health care services will be at a 12 percent disadvantage when competing against public sector providers. Many of these contractors are working in the sector such as seniors' care. Due to our aging population and the fact that government funds much of these costs of these sectors, these inequities should be addressed by the federal government." (Murray Presley, Presley & Partners, Courtenay video conference session)

#### SUCH sector

In the *September Budget Update*, the Ministry of Finance announced that the government will provide a rebate of 75 per cent of the provincial portion of the HST for local government entities that qualify for the federal municipal GST rebate. However, a similar commitment to SUCH-sector entities has yet to be made.

The Committee received numerous oral and written submissions from boards of education around the province. Many of their presentations expressed concerns that the school districts will be forced to divert funds required to provide education to offset the additional costs associated with the HST. Some districts provided the Committee with preliminary information on the annual added expense the HST will create. Below are some of the comments we received on this topic from boards of education, university faculty associations and the B.C. Business Council:

"With the introduction of the new HST, school districts again need assurance from the provincial government that these new costs to our education system will be provided for within next year's block funding. It is estimated that the financial impact will be in the 1 percent cost range for our non-personnel costs, or approximately 10 percent of our overall budget." (Kathie Ward, Board of Education, School District No. 42 (Maple Ridge – Pitt Meadows), Written submission 147)

"Ensure that Boards of Education are "kept whole" through the implementation of the HST. The estimated annual cost of the HST for the Langley School District is \$150,000. In other word, tax dollars that had been allocated to the education of our students will be diverted to other purposes." (Joan Bech, Board of Education, School District No. 35 – (Langley), Written Submission 084)

"It's not clear from documentation provided by the provincial government at the September Budget Update if public postsecondary institutions will receive the same HST rebates as are currently available for GST. If the same rebate structure were to apply, the effective HST rate would be about 4%, rather than 12%. Although substantially lower, this will, nonetheless, represent an increase in the cost of taxable goods and services purchased by colleges and universities for educational purposes." (Rob Clift, Confederation of University Faculty Associations of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

"The Business Council recommends that the province take steps to minimize any extra costs or additional costs for public sector bodies under the HST. In particular, we are concerned that the HST not lead to substantially higher costs for universities and colleges, because this is a time when enrolment is growing, and there is a growing need for a well-educated workforce." (Ken Peacock, Business Council of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

#### HST new home rebate threshold

While in the lower mainland, the Finance Committee heard from real estate boards and the construction industry that the government should raise the threshold at which the HST applies to the sale of new homes above its current level of \$400,000. The British Columbia Real Estate Association recommended that one way to reduce the increased tax burden faced by new home buyers in the lower mainland would be for the government to implement a regional rebate threshold for new housing and index those thresholds annually using the New Housing Price Index:

"Consider a new home in the Vancouver area: with an average price for a single detached home being \$896,792, the current taxes (GST and Property Transfer Tax) total \$60,775. Beginning on July 1, 2010, the same homebuyer will pay an additional \$22, 329 in taxes due to the HST. Clearly the government's proposal increases the tax burden on B.C. homebuyers and does not account for the significant variations in home prices around the province. A single rebate threshold does not adequately reflect the diverse reality of the B.C. housing market." (Robert Laing, British Columbia Real Estate Association, Surrey public hearing)

"We also recommend that the province take further measures to mitigate the impact on the housing sector perhaps by a higher threshold and bigger rebate." (Manley McLachlan, British Columbia Construction Association, Surrey public hearing)

An additional concern raised by the residential housing construction sector was the transition rules for the sale of new housing. While the government has issued general transition rules for the HST, the rules for new housing construction were explicitly left to a later date. Those involved with the construction and sale of new homes requested that the government define these rules as quickly as possible. They framed their request in the following manner:

"The general rules for HST transition were announced on October 14. We haven't seen anything specifically on real estate yet. I know the industry is hoping to see some specific rules attached to our industry, the homebuilding industry, for new homes in particular. We're hoping the government will listen to some of the mitigation measures that are possible." (Harriet Permut, Real Estate Board of Greater Vancouver, Surrey public hearing)

## **HST** mitigation recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 37. Reduce the current PST audit assessment limitation periods to two years following implementation of the HST.
- 38. Accelerate the phase-in of Input Tax Credits ahead of the planned schedule should economic improvement allow.
- 39. Maintain the maximum 2 percent Additional Hotel Room Tax (AHRT) beyond June 30, 2011.
- 40. Introduce mitigation that reduces the impact of the HST on those in the tourism sector who, prior to the HST being announced, signed fixed-price contracts which extend beyond July 1, 2010.
- 41. Work with the federal government to address HST inequities between private and public providers of residential care services for seniors.
- 42. Develop HST mitigation strategies which result in no substantial negative impact for boards of education, post-secondary institutions and health regions.
- 43. Raise the proposed \$400,000 HST rebate threshold for new homes.
- 44. Announce HST transition rules for all sectors as soon as possible to foster certainty.

# **Property Transfer Tax**

Another mechanism to alleviate some of the concerns the residential housing industry raised during our budget consultation was to increase the threshold for the First Time Homebuyers' exemption from the property transfer tax and rationalize the rules around eligibility. The province's real estate boards also insisted that the government should consider eliminating the property transfer tax altogether. Below is a sample of the comments received:

"The Fraser Valley Real Estate Board recommends that the provincial government implement a three-year phase-out of the Property Transfer Tax by 1) increasing the tax threshold to \$500,000 in 2010, 2) eliminating the tax on homes under \$500,000 in 2011, and eliminating the tax altogether by 2012." (Christine Caldwell, Fraser Valley Real Estate Board, Surrey public hearing)

#### Property transfer tax recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 45. Raise the threshold for the First Time Homebuyers' exemption of the Property Transfer Tax from its current level of \$425,000.
- 46. To promote housing affordability, reduce the Property Transfer Tax on all housing transactions, once the economy improves and provincial revenues allow.

# **Property Tax Assessment**

The Committee received several requests urging the government to continue to review property tax levels. In particular, property taxes charged on both industrial and agricultural properties appeared to be the most prominent issue. Concerns over the property classification of car dealerships and rural residential property were also brought to the Committee's attention.

#### Industrial property tax

The Finance Committee received submissions from the business community and other groups on the issue of industrial property tax rates. The B.C. Business Council, for example, after noting that B.C. has "the most anti-competitive business property tax regime in Canada," recommended that the provincial government intervene to reduce the number of business property classes, limit municipalities' ability to set their own tax rates and ratios with respect to industrial property, and develop an appeal mechanism to review the fairness of local decisions. Here is a sample of the input we received on this topic.

"We recommend that the Province put some limits on the municipalities to levy property tax rates on industry. This can be done by establishing a single province-wide rate for class four properties, or by legislating 'fairness ranges' to control the tax rates that municipalities can charge to different types of properties." (Ken Peacock, Business Council of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

"Since the mid-1980s, property taxes levied against energy pipeline investments in British Columbia have increased relative to other property tax payers.... Unless this property tax situation is remedied, government faces a number of risks including reduced oil and gas exploration and production investment and foregone investment in existing and new energy pipeline infrastructure. In addition, British Columbia will not realize the employment and economic benefits association with these foregone investments." (Brenda Kenny, Canadian Energy Pipeline Association, Written submission 548)

"Immediately introduce legislation to specify maximum ratios between municipal property taxes on residential property compared to various classes of business properties and commit to a full-scale review and overhaul of the property tax regime to be completed in 2010. Our companies are having to go to court to sue municipalities for overtaxation. That shouldn't happen. Let's get this thing figured out and put to bed once and for all." (Rick Jeffreys, Coast Forest Products Association, Vancouver public hearing)

"It appears that just because businesses don't have a vote — and you can say this is taxation without representation — local government can tax them as they see fit. To drive businesses to look outside their area, possibly outside of their country for reasonable taxation, is to drive them away. What may be politically expedient in the short run may be very dangerous in the long run." (Murray Presley, Presley & Partners, Courtenay video conference session)

## Farm improvements tax exemption

In July 2009, the Farm Assessment Review Panel reviewed the issue of tax exemptions for farm improvements. Current legislation in this area provides an exemption of up to \$50,000 in farm improvements. However, the Committee learned from the B.C. Agriculture Council that this level may be acting as a barrier to redevelopment of existing buildings and more intensive farm production such as greenhouses.

"The British Columbia Agriculture Council is still developing its full response to the Farm Assessment Review Panel; however, we recommend that government exempt farm improvements at 87.5 percent of assessed value for the 2011 Assessment Roll." (Rhonda Driediger, British Columbia Agriculture Council, Vancouver public hearing)

## Property tax assessment recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

- 47. Ask the Ministry of Community and Rural Development, in conjunction with the Union of British Columbia Municipalities, to review taxation levels, as they apply to Property Class 4 Heavy Industry and Property Class 5 Light Industry, with a particular view to competitiveness.
- 48. Exempt farm improvements at 87.5 percent of assessed value, or \$50,000, whichever is greater; and consider providing impacted local governments with mitigation funding, per Recommendation 9 of the Farm Assessment Review Panel's 2009 report.

# British Columbians' Feedback on Deficits

#### Question 4: How should government control deficits during difficult economic times?

Recently, the provincial government has extended the period during which deficit budgets can be presented to the Legislative Assembly from two to four years. For the most part, the feedback received by the Finance Committee was supportive of the temporary deficits to protect vital services during challenging economic times. Some of their comments are provided below:

"We believe the deficits need to be reasonable. Other provinces have boldly stepped out and gone beyond that, and we believe it is possible for British Columbia to do that as well. If B.C. were to follow the lead of Alberta and/or Ontario, we could have a look at a deficit of perhaps \$7 billion or \$8 billion. We think that would help the province, not through the rebuilding of the infrastructure — that is, the [physical] infrastructure. We also want to talk about the social infrastructure — the needs of human beings in this province." (Darryl Walker, British Columbia Government and Service Employees' Union, Vancouver public hearing)

"The B.C. government should allow for cyclical deficits to run as high as necessary to accommodate the revenue shortfalls. Most economists agree that running a deficit is the best response to a serious recession. B.C. is well positioned to run temporary deficits as we have the lowest debt-to-GDP ratio of all provinces except Alberta." (Iglika Ivanova, Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives, BC Branch, Vancouver public hearing)

Recognizing the dramatic swings in provincial revenues, business organizations and many individuals supported the government's decision to temporarily run deficits. Here is what they had to say:

"It is somewhat regrettable that the province was pushed back into a deficit due to the onset of what was a largely unanticipated global recession. According to the recent document produced by the government, we'll see a \$2.8 billion deficit in 2009-2010. The council, however, believes that returning to operating deficits is the right decision given the extent and swiftness of the global economic downturn." (Ken Peacock, Business Council of British Columbia, Vancouver public hearing)

"In a recession, governments need to act to provide stimulus. If they cut back, they simply ensure that any recession is more severe and prolonged, and may end in a depression. This is one of the times deficit financing is justifiable, especially when so many taxes have been reduced." (David Hill, Bowen Island, On-line survey 074)

"I don't think that deficit during difficult economic times should be such a worry provided that deficit is incurred on projects that have a long-term pay-off." (Myron Jepersen, Port Alberni, On-line survey 629)

"I am not in favour of deficits, but sometimes the pump has to be primed. I would like the government to make sure that we work our way out of the deficit financing as soon as possible and start back on debt reduction." (Bill Carruthers, Williams Lake, Written Submission 027)

In response to Question 4, some British Columbians, though, took the opportunity to express their frustration with this temporary return to deficit financing. They proposed instead that government should consider reducing the size of the bureaucracy, as well as the wages and benefits received by public service employees. Still others felt that there exists too much wasteful spending, particularly at the senior levels of bureaucracy. A sample of the comments we received is provided below:

"A comprehensive review of provincial government leaders, the legislature, ministries, staff compensation packages and related programs must be undertaken with reduction in mind. The size of government is too large, obviously inefficient, and costs too much." (Tyler Mitchel, Williams Lake, On-line survey 360)

"Cut the deficit by reducing government expenditure; if that means staff reductions, so be it." (Elizabeth Lawson, Delta, On-line Survey 1616)

"Reduce the bureaucracy in all areas of 'red tape' that are not related to the direct provision of services." (Simon Truelove, Delta, On-line Survey, 415)

"All of us have had to reduce our waste and inefficiencies, we have had to lay off very fine employees and reduce our expenditures to economically survive. Government must do the same." (Allen Grover, Naniamo, On-line survey 983)

"Deficit elimination through spending reductions; mandatory debt retirement; a lower, flatter and simpler tax system; spending reform; and greater consumer choice. The deficit and debt must be eliminated by a commitment to a smaller, accountable government and lower overall spending, not by tax hikes of any kind." (Jennifer Moffat, Qualicum, Written submission 049)

Other submissions called on the government to adopt a rigorous debt repayment strategy. The Canadian Taxpayers Federation, for example, suggested applying a fixed annual amount of provincial revenue generated, rather than applying a percentage of future fluctuating surpluses, to eliminate the debt.

"The Canadian Taxpayers Federation's number one priority for Budget 2010-11 is a legislated debt elimination plan which applies 2.5 percent of own source revenue to the provincial debt annually. The lesson for British Columbia is clear – creating a comprehensive tax system is important for the health of the economy, but lowering taxes while running up debt is unsustainable." (Maureen Bader, Canadian Taxpayers Federation, Vancouver public hearing)

"The government should present a plan for debt repayment as soon as the economic situation allows for it." (Insurance Bureau of Canada, Serge Corbeil, Vancouver public hearing).

"I would like to see smaller accountable government with lower overall spending and debt reduction and elimination being the big goal!" (Elizabeth Smith, Williams Lake, Written submission 051)

"In addition to contingency cushions, we should have debt repayment as a line item in the budget. Treat debt like a government ministry." (James Hepburn, Victoria, On-line survey 955)

Additional input was received by the Committee emphasising the importance of British Columbia balancing its budget as soon as possible. Here is a sample on what we heard with respect to returning to balanced budgets as soon as possible.

"The Prince George Chamber of Commerce is a strong supporter of a balanced budget. While we recognized that this balanced budget will not be possible for the coming year, we strongly encourage the government to examine its deficit funding policy and adjust as needed so that B.C. can return to a balanced budget as soon as possible." (Adele Yakemchuk, Prince George Chamber of Commerce, Prince George public hearing)

"Move to a balanced budget AS SOON AS POSSIBLE." (Boris Sawicky, Port Coquitlam, Online survey)

"During good times, we should have a surplus budget and work on reducing our debt. During difficult times, we should try and maintain a balanced budget as much as possible, to minimize any debt increases." (Edward Tokarczyk, Richmond, On-line survey 1760)

"As much as society demands more and more from government, the decision to run deficits must be made with an ability to pay: either now or in the future. The goal is always to have a balanced budget and to be debt free. This will provide for both for a healthier province and for our children's future." (Jim O'Donnell, Abbotsford, On-line survey 1410)

#### Deficit control recommendations

The Finance Committee recommends that the provincial government:

49. Return to a balanced budget by the 2012/13 fiscal year, as currently required, or sooner if possible.

# **Summary of Recommendations**

The Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services recommends that the provincial government:

#### Post-secondary education

- 1. Assist colleges and universities in their efforts to expand their distance/on-line curriculum offerings.
- 2. Investigate the merits of, and issues related to, using the Higher Education Price Index (HEPI) model, versus the Consumer Price Index, in regard to post-secondary funding allocation adjustments.
- 3. Examine the unintended consequences of the application of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to universities and colleges, as it currently appears to hinder their ability to access outside capital, in particular for programs and infrastructure not typically funded by government.
- 4. Examine reducing the interest rate charged by StudentAid BC on student loans.
- 5. Consider extending the no-payment, interest-free period on B.C. student loans.
- 6. Examine the feasibility of establishing an engineering program at UNBC appropriate for the North.
- 7. Work with industry, unions, colleges and universities to expand and enhance apprenticeship opportunities.
- 8. Work with TransLink, B.C. Transit and post-secondary institutions to develop a U-pass program where feasible.

#### K-12 education

- 9. Work with boards of education to conduct a comprehensive review of the education funding formula.
- 10. Work cooperatively with the boards of education on a review of the administrative and reporting requirements for each school district and within the Ministry of Education.
- 11. Treat the annual facilities grant as a high priority for funding in the 2010-11 Budget.
- 12. Ensure that the implementation of all-day kindergarten is fully funded.
- 13. Enhance capacity within ministries and at the community level so that the planning and funding of adult literacy services are effective and well coordinated.

#### Health care and healthy living

- 14. Encourage the expansion of activity-based funding in health regions.
- 15. Utilize the expertise of all health professionals to the fullest extent to enhance the quality of health care services.
- 16. Expand the use of Nurse Practitioners and multi-disciplinary teams, telemedicine and e-health initiatives.
- 17. Continue to improve electronic information transfer between and within health regions.
- 18. Continue the efforts to reduce inter-provincial labour mobility barriers without compromising B.C. standards; and undertake measures to expand licensing opportunities for both international and interprovincial incoming health care professionals.
- 19. Work together with all Canadian provinces if possible, to develop a national strategy to secure better pricing for generic drugs.
- 20. Increase funding for mental health and addictions, particularly for outreach services that have proven to be successful.
- 21. Acknowledge the importance of end-of-life services within the medical care structure and provide adequate and equitable support to in-home hospice care, hospice houses and palliative care facilities across the province, recognizing the valuable contributions made by volunteers in this area.
- 22. Continue to help people stay healthy by expanding the nationally acclaimed ActNow program; increasing health education from K-12 and beyond; offering incentives and assistance to quit smoking, to stop the use of illicit drugs, and to curb excessive drinking, including revising the liquor tax structure to tax according to alcohol content.
- 23. Consider raising taxes on all tobacco products to at least the Canadian average, and close the loophole on roll-your-own tobacco.
- 24. Conduct a review, in conjunction with ICBC, on the benefits of road safety initiatives in reducing health care costs.
- 25. Increase the funding allocated to the construction and maintenance of bicycle commuter lanes, and recreational trails in B.C.

## Other priority programs

- 26. Make funding of the arts a high priority in the 2010/11 budget by returning to overall actual funding levels of 2008/09.
- 27. Allocate funding for sports programs, with priority given to youth and disabled sports.
- 28. Eliminate inefficiency across ministries and improve resourcing to address delays for services and programs for children with special needs.

#### Agriculture

- 29. Maximize the benefits of federal-provincial programs such as AgriStability and the Risk Management Program by providing adequate provincial contributions. The Committee welcomes the recent move of the federal office to Kelowna in order to provide a greater connection to the needs of B.C.'s agriculture community.
- 30. Provide support for a branding program for B.C. agricultural products, as recommended in the B.C. Agriculture Plan.
- 31. Provide additional resources to assist and encourage processors in the meat industry, with a particular emphasis on waste disposal.
- 32. Allow water improvement districts of a certain minimum size to be eligible for, and able to apply directly for, infrastructure funding programs such as Build Canada, in the same way as municipal governments.

## Mineral exploration and mining

- 33. Consider providing ongoing funding for Geoscience BC.
- 34. Provide greater certainty to the mining industry by committing to the B.C. mining flow-through-share tax credit for a minimum three-year extension.
- 35. Work with the federal government to adopt a single, comprehensive and effective environmental assessment program to avoid duplication and unnecessary delay.

#### Forestry

36. Consider creating a task force to examine how worker safety, productivity and competitiveness can be improved within the forest industry.

#### **HST** mitigation

- 37. Reduce the current PST audit assessment limitation periods to two years following implementation of the HST.
- 38. Accelerate the phase-in of Input Tax Credits ahead of the planned schedule should economic improvement allow.
- 39. Maintain the maximum 2 percent Additional Hotel Room Tax (AHRT) beyond June 30, 2011.
- 40. Introduce mitigation that reduces the impact of the HST on those in the tourism sector who, prior to the HST being announced, signed fixed-price contracts which extend beyond July 1, 2010.
- 41. Work with the federal government to address HST inequities between private and public providers of residential care services for seniors.
- 42. Develop HST mitigation strategies which result in no substantial negative impact for boards of education, post-secondary institutions and health regions.
- 43. Raise the proposed \$400,000 HST rebate threshold for new homes.
- 44. Announce HST transition rules for all sectors as soon as possible to foster certainty.

## Property transfer tax

- 45. Raise the threshold for the First Time Homebuyers' exemption of the Property Transfer Tax from its current level of \$425,000.
- 46. To promote housing affordability, reduce the Property Transfer Tax on all housing transactions, once the economy improves and provincial revenues allow.

#### Property tax assessment

- 47. Ask the Ministry of Community and Rural Development, in conjunction with the Union of British Columbia Municipalities, to review taxation levels, as they apply to Property Class 4 Heavy Industry and Property Class 5 Light Industry, with a particular view to competitiveness.
- 48. Exempt farm improvements at 87.5 percent of assessed value, or \$50,000, whichever is greater; and consider providing impacted local governments with mitigation funding, per recommendation 9 of the Farm Assessment Review Panel's report.

#### **Deficit control**

49. Return to a balanced budget by the 2012/13 fiscal year, as currently required, or sooner if possible.

# Appendix A: Public Hearings Witness List

- Dr. Lorne Albrecht, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Alliance for Arts and Culture, Amir Ali Alibhai, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Alma Mater Society of UBC Vancouver, Timothy Chu, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Amgen Canada, Jim Favaro, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Association for Mineral Exploration of British Columbia, Gavin Dirom, Byng Giraud, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- BC Agriculture Council, Andy Dolberg, Rhonda Driediger, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- BC Association For Community Living, Faith Bodnar, Leila Nahemtulla, Tim Stainton, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- BC Food Processors Association, Nico Human, Robin Smith, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- BC Greenhouse Growers' Association, Peter Cummings, Mary Margaret Gaye, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- BC Touring Council, Joanna Maratta, Bessie Wapp, 21-Oct-09 (Nelson)
- B.C. Citizens for Green Energy, Bruce Sanderson, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- B.C. Government and Service Employees' Union, Chris Kinkaid, Darryl Walker, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- B.C. Interactive Group, Wendy Boylan, Sean Murch, Kelly Zmak, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- B.C. School Sports, Sue Keenan, Raj Puri, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- B.C. School Trustees Association, Connie Denesiuk, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- B.C. Wildlife Federation, Patti MacAhonic, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Rhonda Barter, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- Board of Education, School District No. 8 (Kootenay Lake), Pat Dooley, Lenora Trenaman, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- Board of Education, School District No. 28 (Quesnel), Caroline Nielsen, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Board of Education, School District No. 57 (Prince George), Valentine Crawford, Lyn Hall, Sharel Warrington, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)

- Board of Education, School District No. 60 (Peace River North), Doug Boyd, Linda Sewell, 09-Oct-09 (Dawson Creek)
- Board of Education, School District No. 73 (Kamloops/Thompson), Annette Glover, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Board of Education, School District No. 79 (Cowichan Valley), Ann Andersen, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- Board of Education, School District No. 91 (Nechako Lakes), Sterling Olson, John Stafford, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- British Columbia Association of Child Development and Intervention, Bruce Sandy, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- British Columbia Chamber of Commerce, Jon Garson, John Winter, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- British Columbia College Presidents, Jim Reed, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- British Columbia Construction Association, Manley McLachlan, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- British Columbia Medical Association, Dr. Brian Brodie, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- British Columbia Paraplegic Association, Melanie Crombie, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- British Columbia Real Estate Association, Robert Laing, Moss Moloney, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Betty Bryce, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Building Owners and Managers Association B.C., Paul LaBranche, Peter LaForest, Paul Sullivan, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Bulkley Valley Concert Association, Ken Eng, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- Business Council of British Columbia, Ken Peacock, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Byland Nurseries Ltd., John Byland, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Neil Cadger, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Camosun College Students Society, Matteus Clement, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Canada's Research-Based Pharmaceutical Companies (Rx&D), Sharon Dean, Leslie Foord, Shiera Stuart, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)

- Canadian Bar Association British Columbia Branch, James Bond, Caroline Nevin, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Canadian Cancer Society, BC and Yukon Division, Ashley Duyker, Kathryn Seely, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives, BC Office, Iglika Ivanova, Marc Lee, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Canadian Federation of Students, BC Office, Shamus Reid, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Canadian Federation of the Blind, Oriano Belusic, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Canadian Mental Health Association, British Columbia Division, Dr. Suzanne Gessner, Beverley Gutray, Bill Wright, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Canadian Restaurant and Foodservices Association, Mark von Schellwitz, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Canadian Sport Centre Pacific, Dr. Gordon Sleivert, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Canadian Taxpayers Federation, Maureen Bader, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- City of Prince George, Murry Krause, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Coalition of Child Care Advocates of BC, Sharon Gregson, Crystal Janes, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Coast Forest Products Association, Rick Jeffrey, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- College of New Caledonia, John Bowman, Bruce Sutherland, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- College of the Rockies, Marko Maryniak, Dr. Nick Rubidge, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- College of the Rockies Faculty Association, Bob Wakulich, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- Community Arts Council of Greater Victoria, Colin MacLock, Paul Scrivener, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Concerned Citizens for Addictions Care, Peggy
  Davenport, 21-Oct-09 (Prince Rupert)
- Confederation of University Faculty Associations of British Columbia, Rob Clift, Dr. Hilmar Pabel, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Union, Local 2545, Denise Bardua, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Council of Canadians, Kamloops Chapter, Anita Strong, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)

- Cowichan Valley Teachers' Association, Richard Nelson, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- Creston Valley Teachers' Association, Rebecca Blair, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- Crimson Coast Dance Society, Michael Wright, 21-Oct-09 (Nanaimo)
- District of New Hazelton, Mike Weeber, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- District of Wells/Island Mountain Arts, Judy Campbell, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Edminson Mehr Chartered Accountants, Michael Mehr, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- Emily Carr Students' Union, Miles Thorogood, Lori MacDonald, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Faculty Association of the College of New Caledonia, Jan Mastromatteo, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Lorae Farrell, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Federation of Community Social Services of British Columbia, Jennifer Charlesworth, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of BC, Phillip Legg, Cindy Oliver, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- First Call: BC Child and Youth Advocacy Coalition, Catherine Evans, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Fraser Valley Real Estate Board, Christine Caldwell, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Hugh Fraser, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- David George, 21-Oct-09 (Nelson)
- Geoscience BC, 'Lyn Anglin, Jim Gray, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Dr. Mychael Gleeson, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Greater Vancouver Home Builders' Association, Peter Simpson, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Greater Victoria Chamber of Commerce, John Juricic, Shannon Renault, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- High Road Services Society, Dana Gorbahn, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- Andrew Homzy, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Initiatives Prince George, Tim McEwan, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, Richard Rees, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, Stan Mitchell, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Insurance Bureau of Canada, Serge Corbeil, Lindsay Olson, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)

- Debbie Joujan, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Kamloops Art Gallery, Beverley Clayton, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Kamloops Chamber of Commerce; Mining Association of B.C., Peter Aylen, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Kamloops Symphony Orchestra, Kathy Humphreys, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Kay Meek Centre, Paul Gravett, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Kelowna City Band, Heather Davis, Dennis Leclair, Tim Watson, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Kelowna Community Music School, Lorna Paterson, Wendy Robertson, Gwenyth Zilm 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Kelowna Joint Water Committee, Bob Hrasko, Toby Pike, David Stirling, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Wes Kmet, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Kwantlen Faculty Association, Phillip Legg, Joel Murray, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Dave Lang, 21-Oct-09 (Nelson)
- Avtar Mann, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Marilyn Martin, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Jeff McCarthy, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Rob McGowan, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- MediaNet, Peter Sandmark, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Mining Association of British Columbia, Ben Chalmers, Pierre Gratton, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Jeannette Montgomery, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Music BC, Bob D'Eith, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Myriad Dance Society, Miriam Colvin, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- Nanaimo Chamber of Commerce, Mike Delves, Wally Wells, 21-Oct-09 (Nanaimo)
- Nanaimo Men's Resource Centre/Men's Affordable Resources Society of BC, Theo J. Boere, Kim Howland, 21-Oct-09 (Nanaimo)
- Nelson and District Teachers' Association, Tom Newell, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- New Car Dealers Association of B.C., Blair Qualey, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- North Island College, Dr. Martin Petter, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- North Island Students' Union, James Bowen, Jaden Keitlah, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- Northern Development Initiative Trust, Janine North, Bruce Sutherland, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)

- Northern Society for Domestic Peace, Sheila Peters, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- Northwest Community College, Cathay Sousa, 21-Oct-09 (Prince Rupert)
- Okanagan Artists Alternative Association, Jennifer Pickering, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Okanagan Innovation Fund; Southern Interior Innovation Fund, John Drope, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Okanagan Kootenay Cherry Growers Association, Christine Dendy, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Okanagan Symphony, Dr. Duncan Innes, Caroline Miller, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Open Space Arts Society, Helen Marzolf, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Oxygen Art Centre, Nicola Harwood, 21-Oct-09 (Nelson)
- Sheila Park, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Pembina Institute, Karen Campbell, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Planned Lifetime Advocacy Network, Jack Collins, Jack Styan, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Presley and Partners, Murray Presley, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- Prince George Chamber of Commerce, Sherry Sethen, Adele Yakemchuk, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Prince George Hospice Society, Karen Beeson, Donalda Carson, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Prince Rupert Amateur Swim Club, Robynne Devine, 21-Oct-09 (Prince Rupert)
- Prince Rupert Minor Basketball Association, Melanie Basso, 21-Oct-09 (Prince Rupert)
- Professional Arts Alliance of Greater Victoria, Mitchell Krieger, Michael Shamata, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Quails Gate Winery, Tony Stewart, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Quesnel Teachers Association, Teri Mooring, 14-Oct-09 (Prince George)
- Real Estate Board of Greater Vancouver, Harriet Permut, Sylvia Sam, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Debby Reis, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Rocky Mountain Trench Natural Resources Society, Dan Murphy, 09-Oct-09 (Cranbrook)
- Secret Lantern Society, Naomi Singer, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)

- Selkirk College Students' Union, David Lubbers, Zachary Crispin, 21-Oct-09 (Nelson)
- Smithers Gallery Association, Mairead Sikkes, Linda Stringfellow, 14-Oct-09 (Smithers)
- SPARC BC Society, Nancy Henderson, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Sport BC, Rick Christiaanse, Paul Varian, 21-Oct-09 (Nanaimo)
- Sports Break BC, David Bassett, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey) St. Andrew's-Wesley United Church's Homelessness and Mental Health Action Group, Wendy Stephenson, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Nicole Strong, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Surrey Board of Trade, Anita Huberman, Ray Hudson, Eric Wilson, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- TELUS Communications Inc., Kim Logan, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Terasen Inc., David Bodner, Douglas Stout, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Thompson Rivers University, Roger Barnsley, Karl de Bruijn, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Thompson Rivers University Faculty Association, Eric Villeneuve, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)

- Tourism Kamloops, Lee Morris, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Tourism Kelowna, Nancy Cameron, Bill Eager, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Truck Loggers Association, Dave Lewis, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- United Steelworkers, District 3, Kim Pollock, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- University of Victoria Students' Society, Veronica Harrison, 07-Oct-09 (Victoria)
- Vancouver Community College, Peter Legg, 16-Oct-09 (Surrey)
- Vancouver Island University, Dr. Ralph Nilson, 21-Oct-09 (Nanaimo)
- Vancouver Island University Students Union, Steve Beasley, 09-Oct-09 (Courtenay)
- Vancouver Parents for Successful Inclusion, Dawn Steele, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Vancouver School Board, Patti Bacchus, 28-Sep-09 (Vancouver)
- Christopher Walmsley, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)
- Peter Wannop, 15-Oct-09 (Kelowna)
- Western Canada Theatre; Lori Marchand, 15-Oct-09 (Kamloops)

# **Appendix B: Written Submissions**

Sage Aaron
Tamara Aaron
Stephen Aberle
Tom Ackerman
Ann Adams
Heather Adamson
Jean and Richard Addison
Adesegun Ade-Martins

Philip Adingtond Robert Ahad Suzanne Ahearne Frances Aknai Richard Alexander Rosalyn Alexander Sheri Alexander

Penny Allport Erika Allwood Jennifer Alton Lindsey Alton Marianne Amodio Noa Anatot

Catherine Andersen David Andersin Douglas Anderson

Duncan and Sandie Anderson

Greg Anderson Melanie Anderson Sarah Anderson Fred Andrew

Susan Andrews Grace Wayne and Pauline Angman

Alan Ansell
Ronda Arab
Joi Arcand
Sean Arden
Azadeh Arjmandi
Linda Arkelian
Eldon Arkinstall
Norman Armour
Kate Armstrong
Lianna Armstrong
Steve Arnett

Andrea Arnold

Monica Arthurs

Arts Council of the Central Okanagan, Elke Lange

Michael Ashton Jaime Ashurst

Association of Book Publishers of

BC, Margaret Reynolds

Melissa Aston Sochand Atef Dallas Atkins Jo Atkins Marc Atkinson Lance Austin Olson Deborah Austin Anton Baer Steve Baines Steve Baker

Berg and Maria Balantzyan Catherine Ballachey Deedrie Ballard Cory Balzer Lori Bamber Ranbir Banwait Randall Barkman Claire Barnard

Claire Barnard
Dr. Mary Barnes
Robert H. Barrigar
Rhonda Barter
John and Sandra Barth
Roberta Bartle-Clar
Adam Basanta
Anat Basanta

Carlos Basanta Kai Basanta

Rhonda Batchelor Lillard

Gavle Bates

BC and Yukon Territory Building and Construction Trades Council, Wayne Peppard BC Arts Council, Jane Danzo BC Association for Charitable Gaming, Susan Marsden,

Cheryl Ziola

BC Association of Social Workers,

Linda Korbin

BC Athlete Voice, Joseph

Hitchcock

BC Coalition of People with Disabilities, Jane Dyson BC Forum, Alice West BC Healthy Leaving Alliance,

Mary Collins

BC Lodging and Campgrounds
Association, Joss Penny
BC Nature (Federation of BC
Naturalists), Bev Ramey
BC Ready-Mixed Concrete
Association, Bruce Willmer
BC Sustainable Energy
Association, Guy Dauncey,

Tom Hackney Joanne Bealy Paul Beauchesne Joan Beaudoin Peter Becker Stephanie Belding Janice Beley

Belfry Theatre, Michelle Buck

Melodie Belke Jennifer Bell Sharon Bell Shane Bellman Brent Belsher Kerrie Bennett Paul Bennety

Annika Benoit-Jansson Joe Beraducci Cornelius Bergen

Virginia Berger-Hawthorne

Carla Bergman
Brandy Bernard
Dominique Bernath
Dr. Helene Bertrand
Susanne Bertschinger

Jesse Birch Robert Birch Mona Birkbeck Shane Birley Dániel Péter Biró

Bill Bissett

Ioan Blackman Board of Education, School Delia Brett Patrick Blaeser Petrice Brett District No. 51 (Boundary), Mike Blagojevic Teresa Rezansoff Linda Bricker Svetlana Blagojevic Board of Education, School Sylvia Brinckman Joseph Blake District No. 63 (Saanich), William (Jim) Brinkman Leslie Bland Marylynne Rimer Janis Brinley Lance Blomgren Board of Education, School British Columbia Cycling District No. 67 (Okanagan Coalition, Richard Campbell Christine Blomquist David Bloom Skaha), Larry R. Little British Columbia Fruit Growers' Board of Education, Coast Board of Education, School Association, Glen Lucas Mountains School District No. District No. 69 (Qualicum), British Columbia Museums 82, R.P. Pankhurst Eve Flynn Association, Jim Harding Board of Education, School Board of Education, School British Columbia Real Estate District No. 5 (Southeast District No. 73 Association, John Tillie Kootenay), Frank Lento (Kamloops/Thomson), Annette British Columbia Teachers' Board of Education, School Glover Federation, Irene Lanzinger Board of Education, School District No. 23 (Central Clyde Brittain Okanagan), Rolli Cacchioni District No. 81 (Fort Nelson), Carole Brooke Board of Education, School Linda Dolen Patricia Brosseau-Liard District No. 34 (Abbotsford), Shelly Bobyn Jean S. Brouard Cindy Schafer Elise Boeur Andrea Brown Board of Education, School Elizabeth Bogod Lindsay Brown District No. 35 (Langley), Joan Deborah Boileau Mary Brown Bech Raymond Boisjoly Vanessa Brown Board of Education, School Cliff Boldt Anthea Browne District No. 36 (Surrey), Laura Cindy Bollhorn Belinda Bruce Diane Bond Lembi Buchanan Mcnally Board of Education, School Penny Bond Darren Buhr District No. 37 (Delta), Dale Martin C. Bonham Johanna Buhr Saip Franco Boni Susan Buie Board of Education, School Anita Bonkowski **Bulkley Valley Concert** District No. 38 (Richmond), Doris Bouchard Association, Ken Eng Linda Mcphail Shawn Bouchard Geraldine Bulosan Board of Education, School Paul Boughen Chris Burdge District No. 40 (New Boundary District Arts Council, Hildegard Burkart Westminster), John B. Woudzia Ray Lafleur Aubrey Burke Board of Education, School Nita Bowerman Spring Burke District No. 42 (Maple Ridge-Fiona Bowie Judy Burns Pitt Meadows), Kathie Ward Kevin Bowles Helen Burton Schuckel Board of Education, School Coralee Boyce Butchart Gardens Ltd., Dave District No. 43 (Coquitlam), Louise Bradley Cowen Christopher Butterfield Melissa Hyndes Sharon Bradley Board of Education, School Gail Bradshaw Maureen Byrne District No. 45 (West Megan Brand Roland Cabana Vancouver), Mary-Anne Booth Allen Brandt Honey Mae Caffin Board of Education, School Diane Brennan Alison Cairns District No. 47 (Powell River), Kathryn Brennan James K. Caldwell Debby Lewis Edith and Manfred Brenner Kyle Cameron

Celtic Fest Vancouver Society, Marielle Camozzi Laraine Coates Grant and Marlyn Campbell Rita Albano Maria Coffey Sara Coffin Cement Association of Canada, Jeanne Campbell Rena Cohen Mike Mcsweeney Jozel Campbell Naomi Campbell Certified Assayers Foundation of Sasha Colby Isobel Cole Peter Campbell BC, Advisory Council for the Richard Campbell **BC** Assayer Certification Richard Coleman Veronica Campbell Jeremy Collie-Holmes Program, Scott Daniels Canadian Association of Chain Allison Chambers Stephen Collins Drug Stores, Nadine Saby **Justine Chambers** Community Connections Society Canadian Bankers Association, Karen Chan of Southeast BC, Gwen Noble Comox Valley Community Arts Nancy Hughes Anthony Craig Chapman Canadian Energy Pipeline Shawn Chappelle Council, Ute Stein Association, Brenda Kenny Jennifer Chaput Comox Valley Youth Music Canadian Federation of Jenny Charchun Centre, Kate Ramsey Allyn Chard Conseil Culturel et Artistique Independent Business, Brian Ruth Charles Bonney Francophone de la Colombie-Canadian Federation of University Kelly Charlton Britannique, Jean-Francois Women, British Columbia Charter for Public Education Packwood Council, Susan Murphy Network Society, Michael Robert Converse Canadian Life and Health Zlotnik Jason Cook Insurance Association Inc., Sau Ying Chee Amanda Coolidge Frank Swedlove Susan Chen Alexander Cooper Canadian Manufactures and Kitsum Cheng Genevieve Cooper Exports - BC Division, Craig Chilliwack Academy of Music, Colleen Coplick Williams Graham Yates Patricia Corbet Chilliwack and District Real Valerie Cormier Canadian Newspaper Association Estate Board, Jim Adam / Canadian Community Rodney Corraini Council of Tourism Associations, Newspapers Association, John Linda Chinfen Dr. Walter K. Chow Hinds Stephen Regan Canadian Wind Energy Kurtis Chow Douglas Coupland **Jeff Chute** Rejean Cournoyer Association, David Huggill Dan Carberry Liz Ciocea Gina Coutts Dan Cardona Joelle Ciona Candace Cowan Ingrid Carlgren Stephen Cipes Joaanne Cowan Elaine Carol Adele Clark Margaret Crane Katharine Carol Laura Cranmer Betty Clark Laurie Carr-Hall Gerry and Barb Clark Jessica Crawford Bill Carruthers Jewell Margaret Clark Creekstone Press Ltd., R. Lynn Al and Sheila Carter Ranza Clark Shervill Ashley Carter Jennifer Clarke Hayley Crichton Liz Carter Mary H. Clarke Alison Crone Susan Carter Melissa Clarkson Marnie Crowe Bill Casswell Davor Cubranic J. Clemens Cori Caulfield Valerie Clouston Dara Culhane Lindsay Cavelle Coastal Alliance for Aquaculture Adam Cullen Christine Cellier Darcy Cullen Reform; Georgia Strait Alliance,

Ruby Berry

Dr. John Celona

L. Cullen

Mary Anne Cumming Shauna Diepold Event Magazine - Douglas Frederick Cummings Debra Dimitroff College, Ian Cockfield

Brad Cunningham District of Barriere, Mayor Mike John Ewens
Jim Cunningham Fennell Harriet Fancott

CUPE BC Division, Barry Victor and Margaret Doerksen Donald G. and Dawn Faris

O'Neill Jamie Dolinko Margo Farr

Beverley Currie Stephanie Kim Domingo Amanda Farrell-Low Jane K. Currie Michelle Donnelly Ian Farthing

Jen CurrinChristine D'onofrioAdrienne FastAmanda CurtisMarg Dorazio-MiglioreAigin FatehkiaAinslie CyopikLori DoucetteDani FeckoCharmaine CyrKen and Lesley DouchAnna FeeyLisa DahlingMike DowlerTracy Fehr

Christina Daisley Doxa Documentary Film Festival, Alexander Ferguson

Erin Dale Joni Cooper Scott Fidyk
Peter Dale Caitlin Drake Lorne Fiedler
Jennifer Dales Sandra Drummond Martin Fietkiewicz
Dr. D.S. Daly Karen Dubois Kimberley Fink-Jensen
Dana Dang Katherine Duffin Rhys Finnick

Luciana D'anunciacao Miranda Duffy First Call: BC Child and Youth Elizabeth Darche Daniel Dunford Advocacy Coalition, Adrienne

Bernice Davidson Meghan Dunn Montani Margaret Davidson Natasha Duprey Stephanie Fischer

Bruce Davies Elizabeth T. Durnford Fitzpatrick Group, Hon. D. Ross

Amanda Davis Ted Durnin Fitzpatrick
Donald E. Davis Mark Dusseault Michael Fitzpatrick
Russell Dawkins Ursula Dyck Harold and Sherry Fleming

Catherine DawsonMarchel EangJeffrey FlielerLois DawsonEco Wise Water Systems Ltd.,Ryan FlowersKathy DayCarsten Friedrich, Mike ItoHarriet FoltinekSarah De FrancescoEco Wise Water Systems Ltd.,Dorritta Fong

Paul De Guzman Beverley Edwards Forest Circle Child Care, Judi

Marianne De Kleer David Edwards Malcolm
Denise De Montreiul Sherri Edwards Anne Forester
Xavier De Salaberry Chelsea Edwardson Karen A. Fort

Electoral Area B, Loni Parker Christopher R. Fortune Geoff Dean Michelle Deines Cathryn Elian Connie Foss More Al Delwo Daria Ellerman Lori Fowler Susan Den Arlene Elliott Bernadine Fox Debora Ellis Peter Dent Taylor Fox Bernard Dery Barbara Ellison Jane Francis Andrea Desjarlais Jane Ellison Roslyn Frantz Mary Desprez Shirley Embra Kaitlin Fraser Marc Destrubé Lara Fraser Charles Encell

Bill DevineNatasha EnquistRobert FraserPatricia DewhurstReynold EppDouglas FreebornDr. Peter DickinsonMarilyn EricksonHoward FreelandBrigitte DiemandEsmee EstlinClaire French

Stanley and Nancy Gooch Tara Friedenberg Linda J. Hamilton Friends of Cypress Provincial Park Good Will Shakespeare Festival, Bettyanne Hampton Society, Katharine Steig Linda Beaven Marcus Handman Friends of the Penticton Museum, Lauren Goodwin Harbour Theatre Society, Cindy Harold R. Whyte Tzaddi Gordon Warren Kristi Fuoco Gabrielle Goudy Amanda Harby Tim Furness Linda Gould Jason Harder Jessica Gabriel Alan Gove Carol Harding Harold Grabowski Galiano Ensemble of Victoria, Dahne Harding Valerie Kohut Eric Grace Ursula Hardwick Sarah Gallagher Lindsay Graham Carl Hare Rhonda Ganz T Graham Lesley Harris Ian and Toni Grant Cary Aileen Garcia Yero Louis Harrison Sarah Gardner Lyle Grant Rosemary Hart John Gareau Christie Gray Melissa Hartfiel Robert Garfat James M. Grayson Therese Hartwig Ethan Garland Sandy Grayson Anna Harvey Joanna Gaskell Mark Green Chris Harvey Paula and Alan Greene James L. Gaskill David Haskins Frances Gatley Meagan Greentree Peter Havers Caroline Gauthier Lavinia Greenwood Kim Hawkins Ann Geddes David Greer Claire Hawrys Genome British Columbia, Alan Lorraine Grescpe Elizabeth Haws Winter Alexander Grewal Jane Hayes Karen Gibbons Brie Grey-Noble Jill Hayhurst Angela Jill Gibson Cameron Grierson Sharon Heath Neville Gibson Dylan Griffith Joan Heatherington Gibsons Public Art Gallery, Colin Griffiths Fern Helfand Patricia Trainor Drope **Jamie Griffiths** Clark Henderson Michael Hendrix Stan Giesbrecht Vern Griffiths Gill Elementary School Parent Lesley Grindlay Hilary Henegar Advisory Council, Tracey Mike Griner Doug Hensley Neuwirth June C. Griswold Ann Hepper Rob Gill Iodi Grono Fred Herfst Corinna Gilliland Heritage BC, Rick Goodacre Sheila Gruenwald Shannon-Lee Gillis Amos Hertzman Lindsay Gruve John Gilmore GS1 Canada, Eileen MacDonald Caitlin Hertzman Martin Guhn Elsa Gladwin Bill Heslop Shawna Gleason Daelik Hackenbrook Stephany Heslop

James GnamRobin HallKeith HigginsPatrick GodfreyAlexandra HallidayLisa HigginsElizabeth GodleyJack HalversonHighlands Golf Short-GameKim GoldbergBruce HamExcellence, Barbara Mitchell

Penny Goldsmith Monica Hamburg Steven Hill Chumi Goldsrein Elizabeth Hamel Ellen Himmer

Tyler Hagan

Helen Halbert

Alannah Halington-Verrille

Bruce and Margaret Gleig

Glenmore Valley Community

Association, Bruce Gillon

Betty Hesser

Caitlin Hicks

Laura Hicks

Alexis Hinde Institute of Chartered Sharon Kahanoff Antonia Hirsch Accountants of British Poonam Kaler Pippa Hirst Columbia, Richard Rees Patricia Kallio Jessica Ho International Society for Darcy Kaltio Nicola Hodges Augmentative and Alternative Kamloops Art Gallery, Jann Bailey Tricia Leigh Hodgson Communication, Jeff Riley Kamloops Sports Council, Susan Jennifer Hogg Rita Irvine Willet Alberta Kamstra Alex Holliday Stephen Irving Connie Holmes Sach Kanayama Robin Irwin Annemarie Holmwood Tammy Isaacson Peter Kascak Cairy Holtby J.B. Clark & Co. Ltd., Bob Clark Lydia Kasianchuk Sarah Holvik Peter Jackiewicz Amy Kazymerchyk Gavin Hooper Dale Jackson Sandy Keane Celina Horn Deborah Jackson Nicole Kedge Frank Horn Lyn Jackson Sharon Kell Dr. Jarmila Horna Randy Jacobs Holly Keller Katrin Horowitz Rina Jacobson Aubrey Kelly Gail Hourigan Martin & Jackie Jacques Barry Kelsey Laura How Jill Kennedy Mccabe Karen Jamieson Carolyn Howe Petra Janusas Deborah Kennedy Jan Howe Heather Kennedy Kirsti Jarrett Allison Hrabluik Doug Jarvis Linda Kennedy Cyrena Huang Liesl Jauk David Kent Kelly Hudson Gisele Jean Bernie Keppler Laura Huhn Trilby Jeeves Frankie Kerr Human Early Learning Xanon Jensen Patricia Ann Kerridge Partnership, UBC, Dr. Paul Fiona Job Nancy Kershaw Kershaw Al C. Johnson **Emily Keurvorst** Brian Humble Angela Johnson Kayvon Khoshkam Joan Humphries Joanne Johnson Wendy Kibble Karen Hundleby Leanne Johnson Elizabeth Kidd Robin Hunt Ruby Johnson Kathy Kiernan Tim Hunt Shallom Johnson Jo-Ann Kiers Mike Hunter Heather Johnston Kerry Kilmartin Kate Hurst Ian Johnston Eileen M. King Simon Hussey John Johnston Joan King Stuart Kircher Christine Hwang Teresa Johnston Elizabeth Kirkland Leona S. Hwang Mynalee Johnstone Christopher M. Hyde Lea Kirstein **Julie Jones** Sue Hyslop Michael and Anne Jones Travis Kirton Richard Ibghy Richard Jones C. Thomas Klaray Avi Ickovich Jim Jong Karl Klassen Tone Indbryn Ellis Jordan Lois Klassen **Independent Power Producers** Joan Jordan Dagmar Kless Association of BC, Steve Davis John Jorsvik Aidan Knight Sue Innes Louise Jullion Carolyn Knight

Wren Kaatzalay

Betty Kahakauwila

Una Knox

Richard Knight

Natalie Kober Linda Lee Lisa Luky Jean Kodar Su-Feh Lee Ken Luoma Val Kolesar Judi Leger

Nadine Kong Dr. Jacqueline Leggatt Agustin Luviano-Cordero

Kootenay Boundary Community Sandra Leigh Mary Lynch

Christopher Leinonen Services Co-Operative, Helen

Kootenay Kids Society, Stephanie

Fischer Sebnem Koyuncu Martin Kratky Reimar Kroecher Karen Krout Meriko Kubota Kostadin Kushlev Melanie Kuxdorf Ziyian Kwan Janis La Couvée

Tristan Laing Suzanne Laird Lake Country Museum, Sonja MacCrimmon

Fong Lam Gary Lam Emma Lancaster Kate Lancaster

Anne Laforest

Lilac Lang Sylvie Lange Grant Langill Jennifer Langley Carolyn Langrish

Helen Lansdowne Latin Organics Inc., Martha

Bowen

Colleen Lanki

Moris Maurice Lauber Andrew Laurenson

Rosalie Lazar Iim Leard Vanessa Lebourdais

Christine Leclerc Lori Lecount

Heather Leduc Andrew Lee Brenda Lee David Lee

Katherine Lee

Carl Leippi

Holliby Leith Marilou Lemmens Leonie Lemphers Rosalie Leroux Tia Leschke Marie L'esperance Marilyn Leung Dvora Levin Iulia Lew Shirley Lew

Jai-Mei Li Shan Zhen Liao Rina Liddle Caroline Liffmann Joanna Lilley Limnology Research Corporation,

Blair Lewis

Lori Lewis

Nelson Jatel Niels C. Lind Helen Lindholm

Adrienne Lindsay

Karen Lines Robert and Colleen Linttell Kenneth M. Lister William Liu Barbara Livingston

Patti Locke-Lewkowich Bill Lockie Brian Logan

Jo-Anna Logan Philip Longstaff Lillian Loponen Mark Loria

Flora Lorteau Roger Love Danielle Lovell Mary Joy Lovering June Lowe

Catherine Lubinsky Paul Luchkow

Dr. Mark Lupin

Cheyenne Mabberley Jenette Macarthur Sylvi MacCormac Colin MacDonald Donna MacDonald **Jov Macdonald** 

Rob MacDonald Shawn Macdonald Leah Macfadyen Michele MacHattie **Judith MacInnes** Rhona MacInnes Genevieve MacKay Mike Mackenzie Beth Mackey Erin Macklem Christine MacLeod Keith Macleod

Lisa MacLeod

Cecile Macnaughton Candace Macpherson Gordon and Billie Macpherson Caitlin MacRae

Susan MacRae Susan MacVittie David MacWilliam Adam Maglio Dr. Colin Mailer Mary Malerby Brian Malfesi Leah Mallen

William David Mandeley Louise Manga

Jessie Mantle Victor Mao Jesse Marchand

Dianne and Danny Mardinger Dr. Indrani Margolin

Jason Margolis Magdalene Marini Richard Mark Kari Marken

Sally and Lyall Markham

Dorothy Marsh Tami McNeil Fran Moore Donalda Marshall Orin McRey James Moore Iim Martens Arthur Meads Magdalena Moore Emira Mears Chris Martin Shaunna Moore Diane Martin Adrineh Medadian Jeremy Moray Ian A. Martin Vanessa Melle Jocelyn Morlock Heidi Martins Paul Mendler Brian Morris Mascall Dance Society, Jennifer Pat Morris Tammy Meyer Mascall Meyers Norris Penny LLP, Karen Sheila Mortensen Roswitha Masson Christiansen Chris Morton

Earl Matheson Joan Mezzatesta Yeshua and Anitra Moser-

Patrick Matheson David Michaux Puangsuwan
Charlotte Matthews Julie A. Michaux Daniel Moses
Ramona Mattix Robert Michaux Richard Moses
John Maxwell Jacqui Michon Erika Mothersill
Brigette Mayer Jim Millar Dave Mott

Dr. C.D. Mazoff Pamela Millar Mould Engineering, Jody Good
Rhona McAdam Colin Millard Mould Engineering, Stuart Mould

Celia McBride Dr. Fiona Millard Carmen Mowatt
Colin McCann Roxanne Millard Fiona Mowatt
Kristen McCarthy Jonny Miller Pat Moyer

Pam McCartneyMargaret MillerMS Society of Canada (BC &Kayla McCollMonica MillerYukon Division), Dave DoigConnie McConnellRob MillerMts Maintenance TrainingJames McConnellFrances MillerdSystems Inc., Shawn Sanders

Wendy McCracken Eve Millington Heather Muckart
Heather McDermid Lisa Milloy Alex Muir

John McDonaldLinda MillsAudrey MuirheadPatrick McDonaldIsa MilmanJacqueline M. Mulders

Mayo McDonough Onni Milne Murray Munn Guy Milner Alicia Munro Barbara McDougall **Janet Munsil** Ann McDougallo Leif Miltenberger Ian McElroy Rabetta Minhas Karen Murphy Ruth McElroy Pat Mirenda Ken Murray Dr. Carolyn McGhee Neal Miskin Leith S. Murray Meghan Murtha Terry McGinty Mission Self Advocacy Group, Bryce Schaufelberger Mark Mushet Allyson McGrane

Leanne McIntosh Jonathan Mitchell Music Bc Industry Association,

Shelagh McIvor Marlene and Russ Mitten Bob D'eith Claudine McKay Mandy Mitton Julia Myers Janis McKenzie Valerie Miyakawa Daryll Myhr Pamela McKeown Jennifer Moffat Kyleen Myrah Deborah McKinley Peter Molander Noelle Nadeau Linda Naiman Deanna McLeod Helen Money Ianice McLeod John Money Val Nair

Joanne McLeodAllie MonukNanaimo Child DevelopmentMorna McLeodMarian MoodyCentre Society, MichaelNicole McLuckieChristine MooreRobinson, Carol Webber

Nanaimo, Duncan and District Jeannette Ordas Persons with AIDS Society of Labour Council, Robert Smits Organizing For Change, Tom British Columbia, Glyn Ulrike Narwani Hackney, BC Sustainable Townson Nicolle Nattrass Ryan Peter Energy Association; Will Connie Neaga Horter, Dogwood Initiative; Brenda Peters Dr. Morton Nelson Christianne Wilhelmson, David Petersen Kris Nelson George Strait Alliance, Patricia Phillips Linda Nessel-Treen Jane Osborne Trena Phillips Ben Neufeld Gary Ousey Trevor Phillips Gail I. Neufeld Rosana Pacheco Ann Philp Herman Neustaedter Pacific Centre Family Services Phoenix Theatre, University of Fred and Dauna Neveaux Association, Mitzi Dean Victoria, Conrad Alexandrowicz Linda and Charles Picciotto Neworld Theatre Society, Pacific Rim Magazine, Elizabeth Adrienne Wong Robert Piche Jim Newton Pacificsport Interior BC, Ron Nigel Pieloth Corrie Neyrinck Mccoll Pleasant Valley Secondary School, Victor Ngo Mauve Page Fine Arts Department, Jim Kim Nguyen P.K. Page Ed Nicholles Davide Pan Plutonic Power Corporation, Yvonne Nielsen Arleen Pare Donald Mcinnes Ben Nilson Stephanie Parent Alexandra Pohran Dawkins Brianne Nord-Stewart Liz Park Annie Pope Michelle Normoyle **Iason Parkhill** Ryan Popoff Eric Porcher Marilyn Norry Parkinson Society of British **Judith Norton** Columbia, Diane Robinson Susan Porter Dennis Powell Sheila Nyman Georgia Parry Holly Oaken Philippe Pasquier Ross Powell Melanie O'Brian Lorna Paterson Jeffrey Poynter Myranda O'Byrne Christina Patterson Dr. Monica Prendergast Lisa Prentice Joan O'Connor Ian Patton Johanna Ogden Dave Paulson Gary Preston Simon Ogden Rola Priatel George Payerle Nichola Ogiwara Cara Payne Michael Price Okanagan Festival Singers, Claire Matthew Payne Prince George Hospice Society, Tim Pearkes Burns Karen Beeson Timothy Pearkes Okanagan Festival Singers, Prince Rupert Minor Hockey Kathryn E. Lockhart Richard and Averil Pearson Association, Tanya Ostrom Juliet O'Keefe John Peck Heather Pue Oliver and District Heritage Jean and Geoffrey Peckett Catherine Pungente Society, Gordon Hahn Jim Peers Dana Putnam K. J. (Jim) Oliver Wendy Joy Pel Quail Ridge Residents' Yolanda Olivotto Barbara Pelman Association, W. M. Campbell Alex Olson Pender Harbour Chamber Music Queen Charlotte Secondary

Festival, Louise Argyll

Barbara Penty

Kaija Pepper

Frances M. and Barry W. Pengelly

Doreen Olson

Lori Ontonio

Lisa Oppenheim

John Peterson

Omineca Enterprises Limited,

School Parent Advisory

Christine Quintana

Judy Radul

Lester Ramsay

Council, Sandra Morgan

Kathy Ramsey Martha Roth Shyla Seller
Lucy Ramsey Zachary Rothman Nathan T. Senner
Lou and Kathryn Ranger Jeff Rotin Renuka Sethi

Harry Ray Sylvie Rousseau Tom and Ann Shaffer
Drina Read Rosemary Rowe Catherine and Dave Shapiro

Colin Reade Daniele Rudischer Rebecca Sharma
Cherryl Reed Tara Rudnickas Chelsea Sharman
Shawna Reibling Amy Ruocco Daniel J. Sharp
A Reid Jayson Rupert Kathy Shaw

Jamie Reid Jeffrey Ryan Robert, Christopher, Peter and

Brigitte Reimer Rosa Ryser Philip Sheffield
Neil Reimer Sepideh Saii J.J. Sheridan
Debby Reis Gina Sallows Tyson Sherret
Doreen Reiter Dena Sander Katharine Shewchuck

Research Universities' Council of Kate Sansom R.A. Shiner BC, Blair Littler Thalie Santema Cheryl Sidenberg Melanie Siebert Ellen Reynolds Nick Sartore Sheila Reynolds June Savage Carlos Silva Susan Reznek Cedric Savcier Sandra Simms Sara C. Ribeiro Save Our Northern Seniors, Jean Jessica Simon Michelle Richard Paris Simons Leahy Patricia Richards Melissa Sawatsky Jay Simpson

Richmond Museum Society, Rachelle Sawatsky Elizabeth Susan M. Sims

Rececca Forrest Richard Sawchuk Matt Sims
Jim Ricks Ron Schell Nicole Sims

Craig Riggs Wilma Schellenberger Brenda and David Sinclair
C. H. Riley Moss Scheurkogel Duncan Sinclair
Jackie Rioux Elaine Schiman Allan Singleton-Wood

Karen Rivers Randy Schmidt Danielle Sipple
Marica Rizzo Michael Schmitt Janos Sitar

Stephen Robb Anakana Schofield Sk'aagaa Naay Elementary School-Dorothy Roberts Tom Scholte Parent Advisory Council, Beng

Claire Robertson Anthony Schonberger Favreau-Tan Donna Robertson Elfrida Schragen Kathy Slade Patricia Robertson Daniel Schwartz Kathryn Slater Phil Robertson Mary Scobie Emma Slipp Martie Robinson Elizabeth Scott Grey Sly Sharon Robinson Gertrude Scott Andrew Smith I. Rochlin Heather Scott Bethany Smith Charles Smith Karel Roessingh Jesse Scott David Roland Megan Scott Deanna Smith Elizabeth Smith Victoria Ronco Robbyn Scott David Ronnie Lance Secret Kendra Smith Patricia Anne Secret Michele Smith June C. Roots Jean Rorke Kaen Seguin Michelle Smith Joyce Rosario Suzann Self Robin Smith Allison Rose Selkirk College, Marilyn Ross Smith Dr. Stephen Ross Luscombe Russell G. Smith Susan Smitten
Allan and Iris Solie
Iris Solis De Ovando
Ari Solomon
Evan Solomon
G. Solomonides
Doug Sonju
Pierre Sonolet
Stephanie Soon
Shawn Sorensen
Eunice Sotelo
South Revelstoke Ratepayers
Association, James Maitre
Madeleine Southgate

Julie Sperber
Kathy Sperling
Kathy Spiro
Mel Spotswood
Anna Springate-Floch
Stacey Studios, Marcia and Ron

Stacey
Mike Stack
Cailin Stadnyk
Tim Stark
Don Startin
Sharon Stearns
Dave Steele

Steelhead Society of British Columbia - Northern Branch, Jim Culp

Steelworkers Union, Local 1-424, Frank Everitt Michele Steer

Myriam Steinberg Lesley Stenning Cindy Stephenson Deborah Sterling Dallas Stevenson Chance Stewart Lyn Stewart Marc Stewart

Stirling Orchards Ltd., David

Stirling
Jan Stirling
Micki Stirling
Linda Stobbe
Christine Stoddard
Wendy Stofer

Len Stokes
Kyler Storm
Judith Storring
Rich and Jan Strand
Brent Straughan
Gregory Strebel
Jordan Strom
Alyssa Stryker
Pauline Stuart

Students for Sustainability,
University of the Fraser Valley,
Melissa Kendzierski, Daniel

Van Der Kroon Evangeline Studney Jerome Stueart

Success By 6, Kim Adamson

Carol Sudchak John Suderman

Sunshine Coast Board of Education, Silas White

Jerry Sussenguth Cassie Sutherland Jennifer Swan John Switzer Corin Sworn

Symphony of the Kootenays, Brian De Paoli

Olek Szczokot Donna Szoke James Szuszkiewicz Lori Taetz

Jonathan Taggart
Pamela Tagle
Bruce Tait
Christine Tait
Harreson Tanner
Christian Tatonetti
Andrea Taylor
Elizabeth Taylor
Kevin Teichroeb

Telework Coalition, Brendan B.

Read

David S. Terrell
Judith and Reg Terry
Mike Terxeira
Richard Tetrault
David Thatcher

Theatre for Living Society, David

Diamond
Althea Thauberger
Mary and Barry Thomas
Thompson Okanagan Tourism
Association, Glen Mandziuk
Thompson Rivers University
Students' Union, Natalie Reisle

Gena Thompson Melanie Thompson Penny Thompson Joanne Thomson

Norene and Bill Thomson

Philip Thomson Steve Thomson Mona Thornton Robyn Thornton Garry Threlfall Andrea Thring Leslie Tilley Andrew Todd Sarah Todd

Tolko Industries Ltd., J. Allan

Thorlakson
Barbara Tomasic
Murray Tong
Hugh Topham
Barbara Towell
Frank Towler
Metin Toyata
Dr. Tim H. F. To

Dr. Tim H. E. Travers
Wendy and Ward Trotter
Elisabeth Tschopp
Teresa Turgeon
Duncan Turner
Sarah Turner

Turning Point Ensemble, Jeremy

Berkman

UBC Creative Writing Department, Graduate Students, Rachel Knudsen

Chloe Ulis

Dr. Bulent Uyaniker Kara Uzelman Danna Vajda Michele Valiquette Mary Van Alstine John Van Deursen Katherine Van Kampen Neeltje Van Strien Frank Van Thienen Tanya Van Valkenburg Jonathan Van Ziffle

Vancouver Folk Music Festival
Society, Josef Chung, Patty
Gibson, Brenda Gruneau, Bill
Hooker, Norm Kaethler, Sid
Katz, John Kidder, Lee-Anne
Ragan, Lucas Schuller, Nils
Von Hahn, Kristina Wray
Vancouver Moving Theatre, Dr.
Roger Seamon

Vancouver Symphony Orchestra, Jeff Alexander, Arthur H.

Wilms

Francine Vandenberg Aleida Vandenbosch T. Vandertuin

Catherine Vanderwereld Annabel Vaughan K.A. Veerman Eileen Velthuis Natexa Verbrugge

Stefannie and Chris Vermes

Debra Verwey Janet Vickers

Victoria Airport Authority, Christine Stoneman

Victoria Conservatory of Music,

Sandy Henderson

Victoria Music Corner Ensemble

Society, Marcus Hissen Victoria Native Friendship Centre, Shirley Lang

Victoria Symphony, Mitchell

Krieger

Victoria Symphony Volunteer Guild, J. Rory Kirby

Lee Vincent Louella Vincent Vanessa Violini Don Vipond Glenn Vockeroth Mya Volk Derek Von Essen

Mark Vonesch

Susan Vorner Kirby Cvetozar Vutev

Dr. Robert and Nancy Wagerman

Candace Wagman Melanie Walden

Dianne and Bob Waldhaus

Pamela Walford John E. Walker Alixe Wallis Emily Walter Mary Walter Chris Walts Jamie Ward

Avril and Michael Warren

Maryla Waters

David and Mary Jane Watson

Ian Watson
Karin Watson
Tim Watson
Morgan Watt
Philip Weber
Phyllis Webster
Will Weigler
Graham Welch
Joan Wells
John Wells
John Wells
Rita Wells

West Coast Chamber Music, Alan

Crane

William Wells

Westbank Irrigation District,

Darren Schlamp

Western Edge Theatre, Frank

Moher

McNaney

Westjet Airlines Ltd., Mike

Calvin Wharton
John Wheatley
Bonnie Wheeler
Sheila Whincup
Frances White
Trena White
Cindy Whitehead
Kathryn E. Whitney
Julia Whittaker
David Whitten
Liz Whitton

Susan J. Whyte Raymond Wiebe Cameron Wigmore Owen Williams Donna Williams K. D. Williams Linda Williams Sharon Williams Cathie Williamson

Paul Whitworth

Bruce G. Wilson Christy Wilson Dr. Lydia Wingate Sandra Wintner Laura Withers Jack Witty Elizabeth Wocks Elizabeth Wocks Mona Wolfert

Abraham Wong

Chandra Wong

Eileen Williamson

Jan Wood
Jennifer Woodcock
Val Woodcock
Heidi Woodley
Annette Wooff
C. J. Wooley
Karen Worrod
Frances Worster

Hugh and Debbie Wright

Naomi Wright
Valri Wright
Corinn Wyatt
Grace Yaginuma
Kazuho Yamamoto
Mathieu Youdan
Cathie Young
Cody Young
Jonathan Young
Morgan Young
Clare Yow
Jordie Yow
Bonnie Ziegler
Daniel Zilsel
Matthew Ziorjen

## Appendix C: On-line Survey Responses

0800612 B.C. Ltd, Doug Brackett 645471 B.C. Ltd DBA Counting On Us, Sandra Gibbs Christina Aaron Abbotsford Community Services, Thelma Schrock Eric Abbott Bandula Abeysundara Bill Adair Denise Adams Derry Addison Nick Adey Erik Adlersparre Advance Precast Ltd., Wayne Rains Patricia Aikens Audrey Aitken Neil Aitken Alberni Valley Hospice Society, Lynn Turner Marja Albers Broderick Albright Peggy Alca Graham Alce Iennifer Alderson David Alexander Diana Alfred Muhammad Ali Judith Alldritt McDowell Dave Allen Carl Alliott Merna Allison Gordon Almond Dione Alton Maria Alvs Kevin Amboe **Bob Amyotte** Noa Anatot Amber Anderson David Anderson

Ken Anderson Larry Anderson Shelley Anderson Tammy Anderson **Jules Andre-Brown** Barbara Andrews Janelle Andrews Sheila Andreychuk Claus Andrup Ron Anwyll Lisa Anzulovich Don Aoki Arbutus Productions Society, Jeremy Banks Joanne Archer Rob Archibald Blair Armstrong Howard Armstrong Heather Arnold Valerie Arntzen Meghan Asher Cathy Aussem Peter Avlen Ernest Baatz Katie Babb Sherry Babcock Penelope Bahr Colin Bailey Sylvia Bailey Cory Baker Dominique Baker Judi Baker Steve Baker Eric Ball Donna Balma Barbara Bambiger-George Doug Bamford Lisa Baratta Debra Barclay Bill Bard Murray Barker

Dave Barlass

Bruce Barlow

Geoff Barlow

Kenna Barradell William Bartsch Cindi Bassett Fred Bates Rio Bates Diana Batts Grant Baudais Manfred Bauer Arnold Bauman Brandy Baybutt Erik Bayfield Charmaine Bayntun BC Association of Magazine Publishers, Heidi Waechtler BC Hospice Palliative Care Association, Wendy Pratt BC Young Liberals (SFU), Darryl Stickler BCSTA, Holly Overgaard Bruce Beairsto **Emmy Beaton** Lawrence Beaton Rickie Beatty Calvin Becker Kathleen Bedard Joyce Behnsen Louise Beinhauer Sharon Bell Bella Coola Heli Sports, Beat Steiner Lynda Bennett Rick Bennett Cecilia Benoit Suzanne Benoit Kathleen Bergman Albert Berkshire John Berlinghof Gail Bernacki Bert Berry Cameron Berry Iason Bertucci

Roger Biddlecombe Richard Biel Big Green Technical Solutions, Ben West Brian Bilkes Norm Billsborough Wendy Bily Tony Biollo Edward Bird Mary Bittroff Anna Bjarnason Maureen Bjorklund Lou Black Bonnie Blackhall Alex Blackwood Marja Blase Jerry Bleecker Dorian Blinko Erika Blume Mike Blume Board of Education School District 20, Mac Gregory Peter Boddy James Bogardis Louise Boldrick Lisa Bolitho Ion Bone Joyce Bonfield Manuela Boos Greta Borick-Cunningham Allise Boruta Thérèse Bouchard Phillippe Bourbeau Mike Bowerbank Marty Bowles Chris Boxall Coralee Boyce Jane Boyd Mary Alice Boyer Wendy Boyer Jeanne Boyle Alan Boysen

Jenna-Lynn Anderson

Nikola Brabenec

Renuka Bhardwaj

| Broc Braconnier    | Zoltan Buday           | Harlean Cattell       | Jennifer Cody          |
|--------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| Sam Bradd          | Michelle Bulthuis      | Cori Caulfield        | Lisa Cogan             |
| Eileen Brader      | Bungalow Motel,        | Darlene Cave          | Stuart Colby           |
| Donald Bradley     | Andreas Sartori        | Kjell Cawsey          | Joan Cole              |
| Suzanne Bradley    | Thea Buntain           | Wendy Cellik          | Lindsay Cole           |
| Wendy Braithwaite  | Gabriel Bureau         | Ernest Chadler        | Brian Colgan           |
| Lisa Bramson       | Camilla Burgess        | Caroline Chady        | College of Core Belief |
| Gail Branton       | Gloria Burgess         | Chamber Music         | Engineering, Elly      |
| François Brassard  | Grace Burns            | Kelowna Society,      | Read                   |
| Celia Brauer       | Donald Burtch          | Brian Hobbs           | Neil Collette          |
| Heather Bray       | Jack Burton            | Adrian Chamberlain    | Darlene Collins        |
| Joanne Brennan     | Lynda Burton           | Sandra Chamberlain-   | Donald Collins         |
| Maureen Brennan    | Donna Bush             | Snider                | Janet Collins          |
| Jeff Brett         | William Bush           | James Chamberlin      | Mike Collins           |
| Janet Brettnacher  | Bruce Butler           | Rod Chamberlin        | Pam Collins            |
| Deanna Brewer      | Scott Butler           | Pato Chan             | Beth Colpitts          |
| Sharolyn Brewer    | Jacquie Bye            | Bob Chandler          | Catherine Comben       |
| Avril Briggs       | Debbie Byman           | Shreynesh Chandra     | Frank Conci            |
| Jim Briggs         | Jodi Caddick           | Rajene Chaytors       | Shannon Confortin      |
| Rose Bright        | Ian Caesar             | Charlene Chen         | Marnie Conklin         |
| Penni Brink        | Leon Caillier          | David Chester         | Mark Conlin            |
| Carolyn Broady     | Steve Caines           | Chilliwack Teachers'  | Jeremy Conn            |
| Valerie Brodie     | Menard Caissy          | Association, Katharin | Jane Constable         |
| Stuart Brooks      | Patricia Cambrey       | Midzain               | C. Cook                |
| Therese Brooks     | Cheryl Cameron         | Andrew Chobaniuk      | Greg Cook              |
| Celeste Brosseau   | Delores Cameron        | Amy Chou              | John Cook              |
| Barbara Brown      | Donna Cameron          | Jacqueline Chow       | Pat Cook               |
| Bill Brown         | Alan Campbell          | Michelle Chowns       | Robert Cook            |
| Carol Brown        | Shirley & Bob Campbell | Rory Christianson     | Larry Cooper           |
| Colin Brown        | Stacy Campbell         | Stephen Chua          | Maureen Cooper         |
| Don Brown          | Canadian Parents for   | Liz Ciocea            | George Corcoran        |
| Doug Brown         | French Ridge           | Terry Cioni           | June Corcoran          |
| Douglas Brown      | Meadows, Natasha       | Gord Clark            | Garth Cordett          |
| Lindsay Brown      | Etherington            | Janet L. Clark        | Joanne Corfield        |
| Lynne Brown        | Michael Cannon         | Alan Clarke           | Sharon Cormie          |
| Scott Brown        | Michelle Carduner      | Bruce Clarke          | Shawn Corrado          |
| Andrew Browne      | Charlotte Carey        | Edward Clarke         | Kathie Corrigall       |
| Lisa Browne        | Deb Carlson            | Jason Clarke          | Cheryl Corson          |
| Murray Browne      | Joyce Carlson          | Joan Clarke           | Sharon Costello        |
| Cynthia Brunt      | Andrew Carmichael      | Ken Clarkson          | LE Cote                |
| Bruyneel & Co      | Carol Carr             | Brian Clements        | Peter Cotsworth        |
| Chartered          | Julia Carr             | Jane Coady            | Deanna Cottell         |
| Accountants, Alan  | Bert Carswell          | Coastal Sound Music   | Debbie Cottrell        |
| Bruyneel           | Samuel Cartwright      | Academy/CDMF          | Penelope Coupland      |
| Campbell Bryson    | Ian Case               | Performing Arts Fest, | Claudette Court        |
| BSC Sport (Canada) | Ron Caskey             | Harold Peters         | Sylvie Couture         |
| Ltd., Terry Segal  | Robert Cassidy         | Henny Coates          | Rand Cowell            |
| Allan Buch         | Gwendal Castellan      | Laraine Coates        |                        |
|                    |                        |                       |                        |

| Cowichan School of       | Brian Davies            | Barbara Donaldson       | Maureen Elworthy     |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|
| Motoring, Inc.,          | Bruce Davies            | Dan R. Dorling          | Paul Elworthy        |
| Shirley Kolompar         | Bruce Davies            | David Dorrington        | Sheila Elworthy      |
| Cowichan Valley          | Robert Davies           | Joe Dorscher            | Greg Elzings         |
| Hospice Society,         | Emma Davis              | Chris Doucette          | Karl Emde            |
| Gretchen Hartley         | Hollie Davis            | Chuck Doucette          | Jodie Emery          |
| Cowichan Valley          | John Davis              | Ryan Douglas            | Maryann Emery        |
| Hospice Society,         | Tom Davis               | Mary Downey             | Donna Emond          |
| Sandra Sarsfield         | Christina de Castell    | Deborah Doyon           | Roger Emsley         |
| Inge Cox                 | Barb de Groot           | DPAC, Daryl Clarke      | Craig Emter          |
| Cal Craik                | Lisa DeAbreu            | Geoff Drew              | Neil Endacott        |
| Cranbrook District       | Geoff Dean              | Oliver Drew             | Charles Endicott     |
| Teachers' Association,   | Dan DeBeyer             | Michelle Drinnan        | Catherine English    |
| Wendy Turner             | Arianne Dee             | Greg Droder             | Peter Enns           |
| Lyle Craver              | Maria DeFehr            | Devon Drury             | Envoy Transportation |
| Grant Crawford           | Bob D'Eith              | Shirley Duchscherer     | Ltd., Richele Chan   |
| Bert Creasy              | Delta Pacific Benefit   | Bill Duckenfield        | Guy Epkens-Shaffer   |
| Creekstone Press, Sheila | Brokers Ltd., Kerry     | Margery Duda            | Kevin Epp            |
| Peters                   | Block                   | Nadja Duffield          | Harold Erbe          |
| David Creese             | Rosemarie Dennis        | Mark DuMez              | Sally Errey          |
| Timothy D.A. Crighton    | Alice DeNofiro          | Marc Dumont             | Glyn Evans           |
| Janice Cross             | Sara Dent               | Brian Duncan            | Michael Ewan         |
| Larry Cross              | Bonnie Derry            | David Dunnet            | Greg Ewanowich       |
| Stephen Cross            | Lisa Descary            | Tom Durrie              | Wayne Ezeard         |
| Tom Cullen               | Christine Desmarais     | Jonathan Dyck           | Ray Fagan            |
| Donald Cunliffe          | Kelly DeVita            | Mary R. Dyson           | Lory Fairfield       |
| Mark Cunningham          | Bob Dewhirst            | Betty-Jean Dziekan      | Jaclyn Fairhead      |
| Susan Currie             | Lisa deWit              | Janet Eastwood          | Gerry Farbridge      |
| Sallie Dabb              | Gabriel Dhahan          | Harold Ward Eby         | Sharon Farrish       |
| Jean Dagenais            | Raj Dhaliwal            | Laughlin Eddy           | Ian Farthing         |
| Norman Dagenais          | Laura Di Cicco          | Ann-Marie Edgar         | H. Peter Fassbender  |
| Paul Dagg                | David Dibb              | Touran Edsall           | Bert Fatt            |
| Gorm Dagoe               | Peter Dickinson-Satrkey | Arlene Edwards          | Heather Faulkner     |
| Rob Dahl                 | Bob Dieno               | Melissa Edwards         | Robert Fearnley      |
| Sherry Dahl              | Alison Diesvelt         | John Eerkes-Medrano     | Norm Feil            |
| Michael Dailey           | Lawrie Dignan           | Pat Egan                | Andrew Feltham       |
| Margaret Dallamore       | Barbara Dionne          | Brenda Elder            | Jayne Fenrich        |
| Erin Daly                | Les Disher              | Electro Systems Inc.,   | Penelope Fenske      |
| Chelsee Damen            | Dennis Dixon            | Mike McSorley           | Alexander Ferguson   |
| Lawrence Damer           | Jim Dobinson            | Del Elgersma            | Alexander Ferguson   |
| Aubrey Dangerfield       | Vanessa Dobson          | Watson Elizabeth        | Rick Ferguson        |
| Joyce Daniels            | Taya Docksteader        | Eric & Mariam           | Terry Ferguson       |
| Cindy Danielson          | Philippe Doebeli        | Elkington               | Thomas Ferguson      |
| Mark Danley              | Harold Doerksen         | Janice Elliott          | Heather Ferris       |
| Reid Daruda              | Mary Dolan              | Stephen Elliott-Buckley | Wendy Fetchko        |
| Tomalty David            | Linda Dolen             | Maureen Ellis           | Gordon Ficke         |
| Beverley Davidson        | Chris Doman             | Doug Ellison            | Burtt Fidler         |
| Kathy Davidson           | Joanne Donald           | Justin Elton            | Barb Field           |
| •                        |                         |                         |                      |

| Lori Fielding            | Rhonda Ganz            | Katherine Gordon        | Jeanne Hamilton     |
|--------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|
| Rick Fijal               | Qiang Gao              | Trudy Gordon            | M Hanak             |
| Margaux Finlayson        | Tracy Garcia           | Gordon Goto             | Jan Handford        |
| Grant Finnighan          | Shada Gardhouse        | David Gouthro           | Olisha Hann         |
| First Global Investments | Larry Gardner          | Jackie Gower            | Jim Hannah          |
| Inc, Don Ropchan         | Pam Garland            | Eddie Graf              | Eva Hansen          |
| Stephanie Fischer        | BettyAnn Garreck       | Anna Graham             | Gordon & Shirley    |
| Trudy Fischer            | Amarilli Garri-Kraus   | Brian Graham            | Hansen              |
| Laura Fisher             | Chelsea Garside        | Darcy Graham            | Lana Hansen         |
| Edie Fishlock            | Philip Gates           | Duncan Graham           | Tyrel Hansen        |
| Leslie Fitzsimmons       | Michael Gauld          | James Graham            | Suzanne Hare        |
| Robert Fladmark          | Angela Gault           | Sheila Graham           | Susanne Hare-Lawson |
| Alix Flavelle            | Dale Gausman           | Grand Pub & Grill Ltd., | Pam Hargreaves      |
| John Fleishman           | Judy Gaylord           | Dana Egan               | Alexandra Harkness  |
| Eric Floden              | Patricia Geddes        | Ellie Grant             | Gwen Harmen         |
| Douglas Floer            | Vicki Gee              | Laurie Grant            | Clinton Harmston    |
| Eugene Flormata          | Jonathan Gelderman     | Maria Grant             | Andrew Harmsworth   |
| David Fluevog            | Lori Giacometti        | Mary Lois Grant         | Paula Harned        |
| Don Fodor                | Richelle Giberson      | Starleigh Grass         | Scott Harned        |
| Lincoln Foerster         | Amy Gibson             | Thomas Grauman          | Scott Harrington    |
| Larry Fogg               | Ken Gibson             | Carolyn Graves          | Frank Harris        |
| Jannise Fong             | Lesley Gibson          | Bob Gray                | Peter Harris        |
| Susan Fonseca            | Montana Gibson         | Hazel Gray              | Terry Harrison      |
| Racquel Foran            | Holland Gidney         | Sheila Gray             | Ron Harrod          |
| Robert Forbes            | Joan Gilbert           | Great West Graphics     | Craig Harrold       |
| Kathleen Forget          | Mark Gilbert           | Inc., Peter Dustan      | Rosemary Hart       |
| Barbara Forster-Rickard  | Elizabeth Gillespie    | Allysa Gredling         | Connie Hartel       |
| Barry Forward            | Geoffrey Gillespie     | Larry Greenlaw          | Eric Hartmann       |
| Gary Fowle               | April Gilliland        | Jennifer Greenwood      | Gary Hartnell       |
| Karen Fox                | Grant Gilmour          | Titus Gregory           | Jane Hastings       |
| Joseph Francis           | Kay Gimbel             | Sharon Gregson          | Judy Hatoum         |
| Bill Frasewr             | Janine Giroux          | Michele Grenkow         | Leslie-Ann Hawkes   |
| Ian Freemantle           | Vera Glasser           | Steve Grice             | Diane Hayashi       |
| Therese Frei             | Kim Glover             | Vern Griffiths          | Sean Hayes          |
| Annette Friesen          | Rachel Goddyn          | Mark Groen              | Gordon Hayman       |
| Suzanne Fritz            | Kerry Godin            | Allen Grover            | Rhonda Heaslip      |
| Amy Frueh                | Doreen Godwin          | Robert Grundison        | Maria Hedderson     |
| Marvin Funk              | Dianne Goldberg        | Lawrence Grundy         | Eric Hedekar        |
| Susan Gage               | Michael Goldberg       | Sharron Gunn            | Loralie Hedges      |
| Gordon Gaglardi          | Melanie Golder         | Sheila Gutsche          | Harold Heidinger    |
| Jennifer Gait            | Good Will Shakespeare  | Paulette Habity         | Bernice Heinzelman  |
| Kirk Galbraith           | Festival, Linda Beaven | Susan Hagerman          | Jerry Hempler       |
| Peter Gallie             | Carolyn Good           | Megan Hale              | Dennis Henderson    |
| Shannon Gallie           | Marilyn Goode          | Heather Haley           | Graeme Henderson    |
| Lilaine Galway           | Bettina Gooding        | Brian Hall              | Nancy Henderson     |
| Penny Gambell            | Don Goodison           | Velda Hall              | Tina Henderson      |
| Marla Gamble             | Janie Goodwin          | Erica Halvorsen         | Wesley Henderson    |
| Ryan Gander              | Aaron Goos             | Jean Hamilton           | Hal Hennenfent      |
|                          |                        |                         |                     |

| Irene Hensel          | Jim Howie               | Karen Jawl            | Madelon Keij             |
|-----------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|
| James Hepburn         | Morna Howie             | Joy Jeffries          | Andy Keir                |
| Chris Herbert         | Bonnie Hrabchuk         | Alison Jenkins        | Angela Keith             |
| Janet Herrick         | Heather Hrach           | Carolyn Jenkinson     | Rob Keith                |
| Tracey Hertslet       | Melissa Hubert          | Sally Jennings        | Don Kellett              |
| Rob Hewitt            | Danielle Huculak        | Mikael Jensen         | Doug Kellough            |
| Jannette Heyman       | Patricia Huet           | Stewart Jensen        | Mary Theresa Kelly       |
| Sander Heynemans      | Dan Hughes              | Myron Jespersen       | Katharine Kelly-Bodie    |
| Lenore Hietkamp       | David Hughes            | Clayton Jevne         | Justa Kendall            |
| Carole Higgins        | Steven Hui              | Chris Jinot           | Angela Kennedy           |
| Aaron Hill            | Geordie Hungerford      | Aaron Johannes        | Lorna Kennedy            |
| David Hill            | Bryan Hunt              | Sophia Johannessen    | Lynne Kent               |
| Luke Hillan           | Hunter Industries       | David Johanson        | Christine Kenwood        |
| Anna Hilliar          | Limited, MAC            | John Sherman Agencies | Bev Kenyon               |
| Michael Hinman        | MacDonald               | Ltd., Tony Donnelly   | Nancy Kenyon             |
| Arlie Hintz           | Andrew Hunter           | R Johns               | Janet Ker                |
| Michelle Hiscock      | C.L. Hunter             | Catriona Johnson      | Michael Kerr             |
| Tracy Ho              | Gordon Hunter           | Debra Johnson         | Sarah Kerr               |
| Kim Hoag              | Amy Huppler             | Nikki Johnson         | Sue Khazaie              |
| Richard Hoar          | Max Hurren              | Shelley Johnson       | Kathy Kiernan            |
| John Hockenhull       | Deanna Hutchings        | Brenda Johnston       | Joe Kinch                |
| Marian Hof            | Ron Hyde                | Catharine Johnston    | Darcy King               |
| Lyle Hogaboam         | Avi Ickovich            | Charronne Johnston    | Garth King               |
| Jennifer Hogg         | Cheyne Iclef            | Christine Johnston    | Lisa Kinshella           |
| Carrie Hokanson       | Ikan Industrial Supply, | Judy Johnston         | Dennis Kirkey            |
| John Holder           | Kenneth James Stearn    | Melville Johnston     | Gordon Kirkland          |
| Terry Holland         | John Innes              | Thomas Johnston       | Bryan Kirkness           |
| Shannon Hollingworth  | Mike Insley             | Carrie-Anne Jones     | Kiwanis Enterprise       |
| Gerald Holm           | David Inwood            | Bryn Jonzon           | Centre, Doris Brocke     |
| David Holmberg        | Felice Iorio            | Hope Jordan           | Joyce Kline              |
| Robert Holmes         | Doug Irvine             | Laurie Jordan         | Freda Knott              |
| Darla Holmwood        | Karen Isaak             | Brenda Jordison       | Robert Knott             |
| Don Holzer            | Simon Isbister          | Ted Joslin            | Michelle Knudskov        |
| Allan Hooper          | Rodney Ives             | William Jupp          | Vincent Ko               |
| Grace Hoover          | Margot Izard            | Grzegorz Kacy         | Douglas Koch             |
| Richard Hoover        | Connie Jackson          | Meredith Kalaman      | Kokoro Dance Theatre     |
| Bryan Hope            | Sherry Jackson          | Shawn Kalbhenn        | Society, Jay             |
| James Hope            | Keith Jacobsonb         | Tanya Kallis          | Hirabayashi              |
| Bill Horne            | Nazreen Jakir           | Henry Kamphof         | Maciek Kon               |
| Claudette Hornsby     | Andrea James            | Susan Kangasniemi     | Ron Konst                |
| Debra Horth           | Gillian James           | Louise Kania          | Kootenay Gallery of Art, |
| Horton Berner Fashion | Mikael Jansson          | Robert Katzer         | History and Science,     |
| Group Ltd., David     | Wes Jantzen             | Brian Kaufman         | Val Field                |
| Horton                | Brian Janzen            | James Kay             | Stephanie Koropatnick    |
| Jerry Horton          | Paul Janzen             | Claudia Kazanowski    | Nicola Korvin            |
| Michael Houle         | Lois Jarvis             | Alice Kedves          | Pierre Kouba             |
| Tara Houle            | Liesl Jauk              | Bernadette Keenan     | Brian Koven              |
| Gail Hourigan         | Ziba Jawanda            | Dave Keene            | Shulamit Krakauer        |
| Gan Houngan           | Liva jawanua            | Dave IXCHIC           | OHUIAHII INIAKAUU        |

| Anna Kraulis                    | Pamela Leaman               | Zsuzsanna Lukacs         | Michelle Marinier     |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| Eric Kristensen                 | Audrey Lear                 | Lumby & District         | Darrell Mark          |
| Ashley Kroecher                 | Julie Lebel                 | Figure Skating Club,     | Gordon Mark           |
| Karen Krout                     | Vanessa LeBourdais          | Bruce Holmes             | UMA Markandan         |
| Gina Kueber                     | Pamela Leco                 | Martine Lunke            | Dianne Marks          |
|                                 | Donna Lee                   |                          | Clifford Marr         |
| Larry Kuehn                     | Linda Leese                 | Lee Lydestad             | David Marsden         |
| Echo Kulpas<br>Jo-Anne Kumitch- | Eric Lehti                  | Anne Lyle<br>Geoff Lyons | Lois Marsden          |
| Huxter                          |                             | Dave Lytton              | Barry Marsh           |
| Jack Kuyer                      | Joe Leins<br>Deanna Lenahan | Treen Mac Coll           | Kevin Marsh           |
| •                               | Alisa Lenk                  | Wilma Mac Donald         | Peter Marshall        |
| Harry Kwok                      | Hans Lennartsson            | Bertha MacBain           | Katarzyna Marszal     |
| Dan Kyle<br>Paul LaBranche      | Pelland Leonard             | Brenden MacDonald        | Debbie Martel         |
| André Lachance                  | Tasha Leone                 | Bruce MacDonald          | Garth Martens         |
|                                 |                             |                          |                       |
| Keith Lachance                  | Barry LeRoy                 | Jackie MacDonald         | Christel Martin       |
| Omar Ladak                      | D. Lesowai                  | Jason MacDonald          | Glenn Martin          |
| Christina Lafaut                | David Lester                | Lisa MacDonald           | Gloria Martin         |
| Arlene LaFleur                  | Cynthia Leung               | Mary MacDonald           | MascallDance Society, |
| Philomena Lafortune             | Peter Levelton              | MaryAnne MacDougall      | Jennifer Mascall      |
| Sean Laidley                    | Stewart Levitt              | Bonnie Macgillivray      | Shelley Mashford      |
| Margot Lakowski                 | Court Lewis                 | Bruce Macgowan           | Joanne Mason          |
| Freida Lalji                    | Lynn Lewis                  | Al MacGregor             | Susan Match           |
| Lana Lamb                       | Nicole Lewis                | Kelly MacGregor          | Isha Matous-Gibbs     |
| Kevin Lambert                   | Art L'Heureux               | Steve MacGregor          | W Matsubuchi          |
| Cathy Lambright                 | Jessica Liao                | Larry Macintosh          | Craig Matsu-Pissot    |
| Robert Lamont                   | Vivian Lieskovsky           | James MacKay             | John Matt             |
| Robert Lamont                   | Janet Linderbeck            | Patrick Mackenzie        | Caroline Mavridis     |
| Robert Lampard                  | Patrick Lindquist           | Michael Mackey           | Cathy Mawson          |
| LANDS! (Let's Agree             | Ross Lindquist              | Crystal MacLeod          | Tanis Maxfield        |
| Not to Dispose of               | Bev Link                    | Keith Macleod            | Dale Maxwell          |
| Schools!), Jessica Van          | Robert Linton               | Jennifer Madison         | Gerhard Maynard       |
| der Veen                        | Linda Liu                   | Carol Madryga            | Alberta Mayne         |
| Ian Landy                       | Ralph Lizee                 | Barry Magrill            | MB Laboratories Ltd,  |
| Ken Lane                        | Juan Lledo                  | Heather Mailer           | Wendy Riggs           |
| Colleen Lang                    | Gordon Lloyd                | Mainstream Association   | Teresa Mc donnell     |
| Tim Lang                        | Lorraine Lloyd              | for Proactive            | Bhearni McAleer       |
| Sylvia Lange                    | Kerry Lockwood              | Community Living,        | Hylton Mcalister      |
| Dennis Larcombe                 | Robert Lodder               | Fernando Coelho          | Thomas McAlley        |
| Joanna Larson                   | Andrea Loewen               | Gord Malcolm             | Kathryn McAllister    |
| Tara Latta                      | Coby Loewen                 | Eric Malet-Veale         | Debbie McBride        |
| Hanson Lau                      | William Lohner              | Caroline Malm            | Jill McCaffery        |
| Mika Laulainen                  | Louise Loik                 | Franco Mammarella        | Audrey McClellan      |
| Patrick Lauzon                  | Brian Long                  | Colette Mann             | Connie McConnell      |
| Brian Lavoie                    | Nicole L'Orsa               | Kim Manner               | Spencer McConnell     |
| Gary Law                        | Andrea Love                 | Rick Manuel              | Eileen McConville     |
| Elizabeth Lawson                | Art Love                    | Dave Marcoux             | Charles McDiarmid     |
| Jennifer Lawson                 | Sheila Love                 | Felicia Mareels          | Les McDonald          |
| Marnie Leake                    | Glen Lucas                  | St-Pierre Marie          | Maureen McDonald      |
|                                 |                             |                          |                       |

| Karen McFarland      | Patty Milne         | Murphy's Auto Repairs  | Finn Nielsen           |
|----------------------|---------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| G Mcferran           | Chahl Mindi         | Ltd., Heather Hughes   | Vicki Nieman           |
| Sheryl McGraw        | Mary Mirhady        | Marianne Murray        | Dennis Nixon           |
| Kera McHugh          | Wendy Mishkin       | Peter Murray           | Kara Nolte             |
| Darlene McIntee      | Allen Mitchell      | Joyce Mylymok          | Kerry Noon             |
| Brian McIntosh       | Betty Mitchell      | Scott Myres            | Jennifer Nordahl       |
| Cathy McIntosh       | Frank MItchell      | Christine Nadiger      | Monik Nordine          |
| Chris McIntosh       | Tyler Mitchell      | Patti Nakatsu          | Leni Normington        |
| Sheila McKee         | Sue Moffat          | Nakusp Public Library, | Gunnar Norrgard        |
| Brian McKenny        | Norman Mogensen     | Paula Rogers           | Dana Norrish           |
| Sean McKenzie        | Frank Moher         | Nanaimo Community      | Bonnie North           |
| Cliff Mckeown        | Mike Mohns          | Hospice Society,       | Debra North            |
| John McKinnon        | Julius Mohr         | Wendy Pratt            | Northern Board         |
| Clay McLeod          | Gerry Molnar        | Nanimo Youth Services  | Distribution Co. Ltd., |
| Fred McLeod          | Dr. Bruce Monkhouse | Association, Steve     | Chris Green            |
| John McMahon         | Eric Monrad         | Arnett                 | Northern Society for   |
| Jasmin McMechan      | S Ruth Montaldi     | Laila Nassim           | Domestic Peace, Carol  |
| Michael McMenamin    | Gordon Monteith     | Natural Health Path    | Seychuk                |
| Rachel McMillen      | Subrina Monteith    | Inc., Carl Kingston    | John Nosotti           |
| Jan McMurray         | Eleanor Montour     | Sonia Nazar            | NRG Holdings Ltd.,     |
| Jonathan McNair      | Mike Moonie         | Joan Nazif             | Gordon Wagner          |
| Jane McNamara        | Ken Moore           | Connie Neilson         | Janice OBriain         |
| David McPhee         | Bruce Moores        | Cory Nelmes            | Denis O'Brien          |
| Theresa McPhillamey  | Clea Moray          | Nelson and District    | Patricia O'Brien       |
| Anne McSkimming      | Roland Morgan       | Museum, Archives,      | Cate O'Connell         |
| Hubert Meeker        | Sue Morhun          | Art Gallery and        | Jim ODonnell           |
| Lloyd Meeker         | Jocelyn Morlock     | Historical Society,    | Geraldine O'Flaherty   |
| Chris Mellin         | Sidney Morrell      | Leah Best              | Michael O'Flynn        |
| Leonard Melman       | Chuck Morris        | Lorena Nelson          | Kevin Ogren            |
| John Meneghello      | Julie Morris        | Lyndsey Nelson         | Sandy Oh               |
| Kelly-Ruth Mercier   | Roy Morris          | Melanie Nelson         | Phil Ohl               |
| Ron Merk             | Debbie Morrison     | Monique Nelson         | Catherine Ohlsson      |
| Wendy Merkley        | Aimee Morry         | Richard Nelson         | Tammy Oickle           |
| Duane Meyer          | Sheila Mortensen    | Stuart Nemtin          | K Oke                  |
| May Mickelow         | Katherine Morton    | NetroMedia Financial   | Colleen O'Keefe        |
| MicroZip Data Corp., | Kim Morton          | Services Ltd., Sharon  | Kristen Okimaw         |
| Axel Krieger         | Barry Mosher        | Williams               | Martha Oleson          |
| Kathy Miki           | Karen Mostad        | Art Neufeld            | Jason Olexyn           |
| Cheryl Mikulasik     | Linda Motchman      | Blair Neufeld          | Richard Oliver         |
| Marla Milaney        | Kelly Muir          | Shannon Neufeld        | David Olsen            |
| Tania Millen         | Eric Mulholland     | Philip Neves           | Barbara Olson          |
| Beth Miller          | Margaret Mullins    | John Newcomb           | Kristin Olson          |
| Don Miller           | Diana Mumford       | Jenna Newman           | Michael Olson          |
| Donna Miller         | Patrick Muncaster   | Wendy Newman           | Kevin ONeill           |
| Lindsey Miller       | Ron Munro           | Adrienne Nicholson     | Matt O'Neill           |
| Mary Miller          | Alastair Murdoch    | Daniel Nicholson       | Susan ONeill           |
| Thomas Miller        | Christopher Murphy  | Joanne Nicolson        | Duane Ophus            |
| Tracy Mills          | Michele Murphy      | John Nicolson          | Bob Orr                |
|                      |                     |                        |                        |

| Grant Osborne          | Lis Pedersen             | Reed Pozer              | Ann Reiner         |
|------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|
| Sonia Osborne          | Terry Peel               | Wendy Pratt             | Darrell Reinhart   |
| Wayne Osterhhout       | Pelagic Technologies     | Monica Prendergast      | Ronald Reiniger    |
| Melissa O'Sullivan     | Inc., Glenn Hafey        | Fisnik Preniqi          | Natalie Reisle     |
| Dave Otten             | Melissa Peltier          | J Preston               | Andy Rendle        |
| Michael Owen           | Pemberton Insurance      | Prince George District  | Sarah Renzoni      |
| V. Owen                | Corporation, Roger       | Teachers Association,   | Janet Rettschlag   |
| Jean Paccagnan Armes   | Finnie                   | Matt Pearce             | Rosa Reyes         |
| David Pacey            | Marianne Pengelly        | Marina Princz           | Jane Reynolds      |
| Pacific Rim Hospice    | Brenda Penner            | Ronald Prochot          | Margaret Reynolds  |
| Society, Kim Hoag      | Clara Penner             | Levin Prong             | Elizabeth Rezanson |
| Marilyn Paller         | Sean Pepin               | Proximity Arts Society, | Cindy Rhodes       |
| Don Palmer             | Daphne Pereira           | Heidi Taylor            | William Rice       |
| Kirk Palmer            | Laura Pereira            | Roxoliana Prus          | Todd Richard       |
| Patricia Panteleyev    | Judy Perfect             | Susan Puder             | Arlie Richards     |
| Rajeswar Papaiya       | Barbara Perry            | Karl Puls               | Patricia Richards  |
| Emmanuel Papoutsakis   | Bob Perry                | Kevin Purton            | Doug Richardson    |
| Harry Papushka         | Sophie Peschard          | Anne Pybus              | Jim Richardson     |
| Raquel Paquette        | Sacha Peter              | Zuzana Pyk              | Etta Richmond      |
| Karen Parisini         | Ann Peters               | Dawn Quast              | Jillian Ridington  |
| Gloria Parker          | Jodi Peters              | Quesnel and Distirict   | Joyce Rigaux       |
| Julie Parker           | Morray Peterson          | Palliative Care         | Abigail Riley      |
| Simon Parker           | Sheri Peterson           | Association, Carol      | Jackie Rioux       |
| Cheryl Parkin          | Vida Petrasiunas         | Weremy                  | Alvin Ritchie      |
| Andrew Parkinson       | Erica Petty              | Julie Quin              | Scott Robar        |
| Nadyne Parkinson       | Wendy Philips            | R.G.Dunn Electrical     | Stephen Robb       |
| Roy Parkinson          | John Phillips            | Services (Kamloops)     | Margaret Roberge   |
| John Partyka           | Jody Pickard             | Ltd, Dick Dunn          | Arthur Roberts     |
| Karen Parusel          | Ada Pickford             | Diana Raffan            | Paul Roberts       |
| Pathway Community      | Anne Picton              | Barry Rahn              | Celia Robertson    |
| Services Ltd, Bruce    | Mari/John Pighini/Day    | Dave Rainer             | Jodi Robertson     |
| Moerike                | Robert Pingle            | Amyn Rajan              | Lisa Robichaud     |
| Todd Patrick           | Kate Pinsonneault        | Buffy Ramm              | Ron Robinson       |
| Christina Patterson    | James Plett              | Alf Randall             | Trena Robinson     |
| Susi Paulsen           | Glen Plueckhahn          | Ramandeep Randhawa      | Alson Robson       |
| Katherine Paxton       | PMG Engineering Inc,     | Marie Ratcliffe         | Alison Roche       |
| Carl Payne             | Jaroslav Potucek         | Audrey Rauch            | John Roche         |
| Peace River South      | Poetry Gabriola Society, | Michael Raynolds        | Dominic Rockall    |
| Teachers' Association, | Hilary Peach             | Sarah Read              | Brock Rodgers      |
| Judy Richardson        | Craeg Pohorelic          | Rhonda Rector           | Glen Rodgers       |
| Earle Peach            | Kim Poirier              | Michael Redekop         | Wayne Rodier       |
| Geoff Pearce           | Maryellen Polikoff       | Darlene Redenbach       | Janie Roelants     |
| Stephen Pearce         | Ronald Polstein          | Janine Reedeker         | Patrice Roenicke   |
| David Pearson          | Harry Popoff             | Alice Rees              | Bill Rogers        |
| Diane Pearson          | Lily Popoff              | Ken Rehill              | Leigh Rogers       |
| Kip Pearson            | George Popp              | Janice Reid             | Lynn Rogers        |
| Margaret Pearson       | Ben Potter               | Peter Reid              | Rob Rolfe          |
| Vikki Peck             | Elliot Povey             | Robert Reid             | Terrie Rolph       |

| Ml. Dll:                     | C-L1 D:: 51                            | Cl l. C ; d.                   | D.L C                            |
|------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Mark Roozbahani              | School District 51,                    | Chuck Smith                    | Bob Stout<br>James Strachan      |
| Ingrid Rose<br>Ena Rosenthal | Cathy Riddle<br>School District No. 78 | Kathryn Smith<br>Penny S Smith | Emily Striker                    |
| Rosewood Fitness &           | (Fraser-Cascade)                       | George Smyth                   | Dianne Strohm                    |
| Weightloss Ltd.,             | Board of Education,                    | Janet Smyth                    | Chris Struthers                  |
| Susan Heidema                | Alan Fraser                            | Suzanne Smythe                 | Henry Summerfield                |
| Jeanne Ross                  | Arno Schortinghuis                     | Solo Collective Theatre        | Brian Summers                    |
| Kristin Ross                 | Christina Schut                        | Society, Rachel Peake          | Deborah Sumner                   |
| Hollis Roth                  | Shelly Schwartz                        | Martina Sonderhoff             | Steven Supeene                   |
| Sue Rowan                    | Matthew Schwarz                        | Neeven Soodyall                | *                                |
| Kris Rozniak                 | James Scott                            | Sooke Teachers                 | Terry Swain<br>Kim Swallow       |
| Lianne Rozniak               | Jeff Scott                             | Association, Patrick           | Gordon Swan                      |
| Gordon Ruby                  | Lucy Scott                             | •                              | Anna Swanson                     |
| Gisela Ruckert               | Andrea Seale                           | Henry<br>Suzanne Sorensen      |                                  |
|                              | Doris Sebert                           | Pia Southam                    | John Sykes                       |
| Cory Rudsvick                |  | David Sove                     | Philip Symons                    |
| Jeffrey Rueger               | Walter Segsworth<br>Ed Seidel          |                                | Chrystal Tagmann                 |
| Martin Runge                 |  | George Speed                   | John Tait                        |
| Tim Ruscheinsky              | James Selvage                          | Vince Spilak                   | Rick Tallman<br>John Tames       |
| Brian Russell                | Susan Semonick                         | Candace Spilsbury              | •                                |
| Jean Russell                 | Patrick Sharkey                        | Mel Spratt                     | Audrey Tannant                   |
| Lynn Lewis                   | Stephanie Sharp<br>Bruce Shaw          | Larry Sproul                   | Jill Tarswell<br>Robert Tarswell |
| John Rutledge                |  | Maria Squance                  |                                  |
| Frank Ryan                   | Susanne Shaw                           | Sherry St. Onge                | Owen Taylor                      |
| Kristina Sabourin            | Heather Shay                           | Janice St.John                 | Lori Tedrick                     |
| Spencer Sacht-Lund           | Maureen Shayler                        | Ted St.Pierre                  | Susan Tees                       |
| Judie Sahadeo                | Leslie Shedden                         | Eric Staal                     | Celestine Teigen                 |
| Saigon Night Restaurant      | Ian Shepherd                           | Trevor Stack                   | Terrace Art Association,         |
| Ltd., Thuy Nguyen            | Helen Sheremeta                        | Cheryl Ann Stahel              | Ava Haw                          |
| Mark Sakai                   | Pam Sherlock                           | Si Stainton                    | Kevin Tevington                  |
| Mark Salter                  | Lyrica Sherwood                        | Linda Stanton                  | Jane Thatchuk                    |
| Betty Sanddar                | Judy Shoemaker                         | Douglas Stark                  | The Bakehouse, Michael           |
| Christine Sanders            | Frederick Shout                        | Michael Stark                  | McMaster                         |
| Maria Santos                 | Yulia Shtern                           | Shirley Stearn                 | The Mortgage                     |
| James Sanyshyn               | Barry Shultz                           | Don Stedeford                  | Centre/Dico                      |
| Chris Sasiadek               | V. William Shuttleworth                | Michele Steer                  | Holdings, Larry                  |
| Norma Saunders               | Janice Sich                            | Paul Steer                     | Brinkworth                       |
| Jacob Sawatzky               | Rupinder Sidhu                         | Sandro Stefanucci              | ThermaCoustic                    |
| Boris Sawicky                | Barbara-Joy Simpson                    | Karl Steinbronn                | Industries                       |
| Elizabeth Sawyer             | Catherine Simpson                      | Maureen Stephenson             | International Limited,           |
| Normand Schafer              | Nancy Sine                             | Frank Stevens                  | Brian Walton                     |
| Janis Schaffer               | Katherine Single-Dain                  | Judith Stewart                 | Jennifer Thiagarasan             |
| Susan Schaffer               | Rachel Skidmore                        | Kathleen Stewart               | Mary-Jane Thiessen               |
| Konrad Schmid-Meil           | Lisa Slakov                            | Sandy Stewart                  | Fran Thoburn                     |
| Donnie Schmidt               | Shelley Slawow                         | Watson Stewart                 | Cathleen Thom                    |
| School District 50           | Tannis Smed                            | Cam Stockdale                  | Jeanne Thom                      |
| (Haida Gwaii), Angus         | Adrian Smith                           | Audrey Stonehouse              | Neil Thompson                    |
| Wilson                       | Andrew Smith                           | Richard Storch                 | Joanne Thomson                   |
|                              | Barry Smith                            | Corrine Storteboom             | Leah Thomson                     |

| NI deel                | D 116 W1 .              | D 1: 1 397 11        | ) (:1 ) YYZI :       |
|------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| Neil Thomson           | Rodolfo Valerio         | Belinda Waller       | Mike White           |
| Tamara Thomson         | Van Belle Nursery Inc., | Catherine Wallis     | Pamela White         |
| Trudy Thorgeirson      | Dave Van Belle          | Jack Walsh           | Penny White          |
| Norman Thorne          | Shaun van der Hoop      | Natalie Walsh        | Randall White        |
| Nicholas Thornton      | Sanne van der Ros       | Olivia Walsh         | Trena White          |
| Threewave Software,    | Donna V Van der Vlugt   | Kim Walters          | David Whitehead      |
| Inc., Daniel Irish     | Annie Van Metre         | Gabriele Walz        | Stephanie Whitehurst |
| Mary Thurber           | Lenore Van oene         | Kathleen Warburton   | Ann Widdowson        |
| Lana Tillis            | Beverley Van Rooyen     | Samantha Warden      | Thomas Widdowson     |
| Tara Timmers           | T Vandertuin            | Anastasia Warder     | Melinda Widrick      |
| Ken Timms              | Lynn Vanderwekken       | Vanessa Warheit      | Theo Wiering         |
| Nichole Tipper         | Elizabeth Vann          | Mitchell Warner      | James Wild           |
| Douglas Tofte          | Ian Vantreight          | M.C. Warrior         | Garry Wiles          |
| Caitlin Tohill         | Paul VanZyderveld       | Anita Waska          | Phil Wilkinson       |
| Edward Tokarczyk       | Mavourneen Varcoe-      | Sharon Wass          | Caleb Wilkison       |
| Heather Toles/Csikos   | Ryan                    | Paul Waterlander     | Barry Wilks          |
| Paul Tolnai            | Mike Vasilev            | Caroline Waters      | Lindsay Willett      |
| Kaz Tomiyama           | Hamish Vaughan-         | Alice Watson         | Glenn Williams       |
| Darrell Tomkins        | Wimmer                  | Kelly Watson         | Michael Williams     |
| Daniel Tomlinson       | Naomi Venasse           | Lisa Watson          | Paul W. Williams     |
| Ernie Tomlinson        | Bill Verburgt           | N. Fern Watson       | Ted Williams         |
| Carla Tomm             | Ben Verkerk             | Allan Watt           | Barbara Williamson   |
| Stacey Tonita          | Walter Verwoerd         | Jennifer Waughtal    | Denise Williamson    |
| Lene Tonnisen          | Janet Vickers           | Valerie Waymark      | Gordon Willits       |
| Lucinda Tooker         | Janet Vickers           | We Care Home Health  | Brian Wilms          |
| Diane Toop             | Victoria Truss 2007     | Services, Barb       | Edward and Doreen    |
| Top Shelf Systems,     | Ltd., Luigi Mansueti    | MacDonald            | Wilschek             |
| Andy Manning           | Michael Vilio           | Robert Weaver        | Amanda Wilson        |
| Jean-Michel Toriel     | Marie Vincent           | Weight Loss Support, | Brenda Wilson        |
| Linda Travers          | Donj Vipond             | BrendaLea Dudley     | Bruce Wilson         |
| Shellie Trimble        | Greg Vistisen           | Marilyn Weland       | Edward Wilson        |
| Patrick Truelove       | Hank Vodarek            | Bernie Wells         | Rick Wilson          |
| Simon Truelove         | Cathy Vogel             | Carol Weremy         | Robert Wilson        |
| Andrew Truman          | Mark Vranckaert         | Chelsea Werrun       | Tallulah Winkelman   |
| Joyce Tse              | W. H. Puddifoot Ltd,    | Barbara West         | Al Winney            |
| Heidi Turner           | John Puddifoot          | Erica West           | Kris Witt            |
| Leslie Turner          | Colin Waddell           | M. Weston            | Danielle Wittmyer    |
| Pam Turner             | Bob Walker              | Robert Weston        | Al Wlson             |
| Catherine Turnquist    | Donovan Walker          | Sarah Westwick       | Diane Wolf           |
| John Tutte             | Gary Walker             | Michele Wetzel       | Chandra Wong         |
| Heather Tyre           | Gordon Walker           | Nigel Wey            | Mary Wong            |
| Tom C. Ulm             | Harvey Walker           | Judith Weymark       | Elisa Woo            |
| Paige Unger            | Kristine Walker         | Kelly Wharton        | Peter Woo            |
| Unique Ideas Inc, Lisa | Norleen Walker          | Christy Wheeldon     | Jan Wood             |
| Doucette               | William (Bill) Walkler  | Dorothy Wheeler      | Kathryn Wood         |
| May Uusberg            | David Wallace           | Ann White            | Margaret Wood        |
| Dave Vaillancourt      | Lorne Wallace           | Daniel White         | Jennifer Woodcock    |
| Ursula Vaira           | Todd Wallace            | Donald White         | Kathleen Woodley     |
| Cisuia valia           | 1 Oug wallace           | Donaid Willie        | ratificely woodley   |

## On-line Survey Responses

| Andrew Wooldridge   | John Wynia     |
|---------------------|----------------|
| Michaela Wooldridge | Honggang Xu    |
| Stuart Wooldridge   | Alex Yakunin   |
| Frances Worster     | Gary Young     |
| Norm Wright         | Allan Zackodni |
| Percy Wright        | Fred Zaitsoff  |
| Charlene Wyatt      | Marta Zeegers  |
| Jean Wyenberg       | Megan Zeni     |
|                     |                |

n Wynia Marg Zerr
nggang Xu Raymond Zervini
x Yakunin Alex Zhu
y Young Jack Zimmer
n Zackodnik Ray Zimmerman
d Zaitsoff Richard Zimmermann
tra Zeegers Chloe Ziner
gan Zeni Nilou Zolfagharian

Trina Zuyderduyn Martin Zwartbol Erik Zwiers Ken Zydyk

